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Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

DAY 01 – 24 February 2016 

 

  [10.03 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, just to quickly go through appearances.  For the 5 

Council, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, I am here with Ms Meares and also 

Ms McCallum and that is just a logistical issue, sir.  Ms Meares and I 

are appearing on Monday for coastal environment and so 10 

Ms McCallum will sit in, for the Panel’s convenience, when lay 

witnesses are giving evidence tomorrow and Friday with your leave. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, that is fine, thank you. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, for the Crown, Mr Randal and Ms Bazalo? 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir, and with me is Ms Bazalo, that is right, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Hughes-Johnson? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, sir, for the Case family. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Now, on this we have got is it 

Mr Schaffer? 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 30 

MR SCHAFFER:   Yes, sir, for CCRU. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and Mr Crase, is it? 

 

MR SCRASE:   Scrase. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Scrase, thank you. 

 

MR SCRASE:   For CCRU. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  All right, so now Ms Broughton, are you 

putting in an appearance today? 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   No, not today. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Now, the Friend of Submitter will be 

known to the submitters in the room, Mr Ball. 

 

 All right, so now, Mr Winchester, there is a couple of housekeeping 

matters I just thought I would cover off before I ask you to start. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In terms of start times my proposition is to start at 9.30 

tomorrow, I hope that does not inconvenience counsel, and possibly 10 

needing to do that on Friday.  It is just that I have got to work around a 

personal appointment which I need to fit in somewhere during those 

two days so if I start early I should be able to have time for that on 

Friday I think.   

 15 

 And we may end up doing in this process of course, and submitters 

should not be alarmed by a comment such as we might have a technical 

drafting discussion, a hearing component at some stage after an 

adjournment in this process.  It doesn’t reflect that the Panel has made 

any preliminary decisions on any of the substance, these are some 20 

important matters that we are going to be testing through the course of 

this hearing.  But at some stage what we are likely to do for this hearing 

is probably got to an adjournment at the end and then, as we have been 

doing for other matters, we have perhaps issued a minute with some 

drafting issues simply to ensure the Panel is in a position when it comes 25 

to finally hearing from all of the parties of having a clear understanding 

of the best technical drafting approach as to the options that are before 

us.  So just to signal that that may occur at some stage. 

 

 Now, Mr Winchester, just to bear in mind that I have not had a chance, 30 

and I think the other Panel members have also struggled to actually 

read your submissions in full. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In fact I have not even started to read them, I have read 

the Crown’s and I have read the other submission received for McVicar 

and Christ’s College. 

 

 So if you could just bear that in mind, I am not suggesting you read 40 

every word but just speak to the main points and highlight issues, and 

once you have done that there are a couple of matters that I am going to 

just raise with you just so that you are alerted to some matters that are 

of interest to the Panel at this stage that we will probably want to 

explore with relevant witnesses. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   As your Honour pleases, that is perfectly fine, I was 

intending to identify the main points in the submissions and hopefully 

they should come as no surprise, they are based on the evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And in terms of the start time 9.30 is absolutely fine 

from our perspective. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Shall I commence then, sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   I set out at paragraph 1.3 the structure of the 

submissions and section 2, the summary of the issues, possibly the 

somewhat imposing bulk of the submissions has been a result of 

attaching the latest marked up version of the proposal which is attached 

as appendix A or attachment A to these submissions, so that is there for 20 

the Panel’s convenience, and I will identify I suppose as we work our 

way through what material changes have occurred in that marked up 

version compared to previous versions arising out of evidence. 

 

 I deal at section 3 of the submissions with higher order policy issues 25 

and the statutory context, most of which in my submission it is 

relatively well settled and should be uncontroversial.  One of the 

matters that is worth highlighting I deal with in paragraphs 3.6 and 

following which is the relationship of strategic directions 

objective 3.3.6 with this proposal, and you may recall that in the stage 1 30 

proposal there was debate about whether there is a need to have a 

specific objective in the natural hazards chapter.  And as we have 

worked through and seen the detail of this part of the natural hazards 

proposal it has become clearer, certainly from the Council’s point of 

view, that to have a separate objective in the natural hazards chapter 35 

would essentially duplicate what is in strategic directions. 

 

 And I understand from the evidence and from my learned friend 

Mr Randal’s submissions for the Crown that the Council and the 

Crown are on all four (ph 0.20), about that issue. 40 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   I deal at some length with scope issues in section 4 and 

I will take your Honour’s guidance as to how much detail you want me 

to traverse here. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I do not think you need to go into the detail, perhaps if 5 

you could just indicate whether or not you take any opposing view on 

matters of scope that have been put by other parties.  I am thinking for 

instance about the Christ’s College/McVicar submission is front of 

mind but - - - 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, and I read that submission this morning and - - 

- 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you don’t wish to deal with the substance of that now, it 

is just at some stage. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, I think I might prefer to deal with it as part of the 

closing, sir, once I have had the chance to reflect upon it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   But there does seem to be a mixture of submission 

about matters of fact as to how we got to where we are which in my 

submission is irrelevant to the question of scope. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, the real issue is on the matter of whether we can 

grant the relief at this stage, whether or not there is a substantive legal 

difference between the parties that we need to resolve and you don’t 

need to cover it now.   

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, sir, and I suppose the only point I would 

want to make there is that, in terms of the Panel’s powers, I think the 

Council accepts that the amendments that are sought by Christ’s 

College and McVicar are probably of no more than minor effect for the 

purposes of clause 13 of the Order in Council. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so we will anticipate your submission in due 

course, no doubt covering our Order in Council power in the absence of 

scope. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If there is no scope, and we haven’t got a view on that at 

the moment. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Well, it is awkward and I certainly accept the points 

made in Ms Watson’s submission about the difficulties caused by 

splitting up notification and the impact that had on their expectations 

but again, as I say, that is not necessarily a question of scope in my 

submission. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you were covering scope and I have interrupted you so 

I think you were around about section 4. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, so I have sort of worked my way through the bulk 10 

of that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I see you deal with the matter we are talking about at 

4.17 and following. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, sir.  There was a more I suppose a less 

controversial issue, which was the point raised at 4.16 in relation to 

Southern Response Earthquake Services, and that is just a consistency 

issue and clearly within scope regarding the grandfathering clause and 

to the extent that the status quo is being changed by this proposal it is 20 

the relief they seek in my submission is clearly within scope.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now, I deal at section 5 of the submissions with 25 

submitters opposing the proposal in its entirety, and it would be useful 

to hear from those submitters as to what their issues or their remaining 

issues are, but it does seem that there is somewhat of a hangover from 

the proposal as originally notified, which of course dealt with coastal 

hazards issues, and it would be useful for those parties to clarify 30 

exactly what remains in terms of the concern as to what this proposal 

now deals with, and I guess I refer in particular to submitters such as 

the CCRU. 

 

 I set out at section 6 issues that have been agreed and one matter you 35 

will hear from Ms Evans the Council’s planning witness about relates 

to a subsequent agreement with Mr Thompson for the Case family on a 

discrete issue relating to subdivision rules in the flood - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  So the issues between the witnesses have narrowed 40 

further since rebuttal? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, sir, and Ms Evan’s will take you through 

that. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   There are still some issues of dispute in terms of the 

rule framework which is proposed by the Case family but it has been 

narrowed down. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I deal with high flood hazard management areas at 6.6 10 

through to 6.9, and note at 6.8 that, in the same way as occurred in the 

stage 1 decision process, the Council has undertaken a smoothing 

exercise.  You will recall that the ponding and hazard line areas were 

pixelated, they have been smoothed and the effect of that has been to 

reduce the burden in almost every instance on landowners and that the 15 

line has decreased or moved off properties by and large. 

 

 The central city issues you will recall that they were extracted from the 

central city chapter, they have been included within this proposal, there 

is no dispute about those. 20 

 

 If I turn to page 19 of the submissions, there was a short supplementary 

statement which the Panel granted leave to receive from Dr Wright 

regarding the mass movement hazard area in Quarry Road.  I suppose 

the only issue there from the Council’s perspective, and possibly from 25 

the Panel’s perspective, is the question of as to whether that provides 

the Panel with sufficient confidence at this stage to direct the removal 

of that hazard notation in that location. 

 

 Obviously the works are underway, suitable control has been achieved 30 

by the Council in terms of property access issues with Mr Alexander 

and there is obviously expert oversight and involvement in those 

works.  And I suppose really what I want to put before the Panel was 

the question as to whether further supplementary information might be 

required before the Panel has a level of confidence to remove the 35 

notation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see Dr Wright was one of the witnesses I think wasn’t 

subject to cross-examination and I think on an earlier request I think the 

Panel has indicated it didn’t have any questions but it is probably fair to 40 

say in light of what you are saying now, given that there is a scope 

issue we need to be satisfied of, we might need to just reserve the 

position on whether we need to hear anything supplementary as you 

have suggested.  I don’t know at this stage.   

 45 
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 I suppose in broad terms there would be a question about whether in 

fact what has occurred will effectively remove the hazard in the sense 

of the theory that was applied to the mapping changes at that stage 1 

hearing and indeed reflected in the certification concept. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well, it is possibly not a certification issue per se 

but more of a merits issue, in my respectful submission, in that you had 

evidence in stage 1 from Mr Theelen and from Dr Wright about what 

the fix was for this area and about the different type of risk for mass 

movement hazard areas, and essentially that if you carried out mass 10 

earthworks then you will take away what is essentially a landslide type 

of risk and those works are now underway.  And the evidence from 

Dr Wright I think is that they are scheduled for conclusion around June. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, so the issue is a timing one. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I see.  Okay, we will discuss that and come back to 

you I think on how best that is managed, bearing in mind the timing of 20 

June is someway off but in some ways perhaps realistically while we 

are still doing some work. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, that was what I had anticipated, your Honour, that 

there may still be time in terms of the Panel’s ability to exercise 25 

powers. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the Order in Council doesn’t bring us to an early 

demise either so there might be some scope for something there - - - 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, you may be excited about that or sad, but I am 

in your Honour’s hands there. 

 

 Now, section 7 of the submissions really tries to isolate what is left in 

terms of matters that remain in dispute and you will hear from various 35 

witnesses about those particular matters, there is very little in dispute as 

between the Crown and the Council. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   As opposed to what is in dispute? 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sure, that is a point taken, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There are certainly some issues that parties have raised 

and I see you are covering some of these in further parts of your table. 

45 
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  [10.20 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, so this is a global table; it does not just deal with 

the Council and Crown relationship, I guess the point I wanted to make 

was that as between the Crown and the Council, in regard to matters of 5 

real detail. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   You will hear evidence about these matters, sir, and it 10 

may be unhelpful for me to read them out. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you do not need to do that, it is a good ready 

reference for us, in the general matters you have summarised at 7.2 so 

if there is anything further to highlight from what remains, obviously 15 

we know your witness list and there are one or two matters I wanted to 

raise with you.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I will take that section of the submissions as read, sir, 

and just highlight briefly on the matter of definitions.  Obviously there 20 

was a request made by the Council recently in terms of deferral of the 

Stage 1 decision and the Panel has issued a Minute on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   In terms of how that impacts on this particular hearing, 

sir, in my submission the answer is not much.  The exercise – they are 

doing a reconciliation against Stage 1 and other proposals, has been 

done as part of this Proposal.  So in my submission the Panel can have 

some confidence that there is not going to be an unnecessary or undue 30 

overlap or confusion as between Stage 1 and what you are faced with 

here. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   And I set out the Council’s witnesses.  Obviously three 

of those, the final three have been granted leave to be excused.  

Dr Wright is Christchurch based if you want to hear from him. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, I mean the present position is we have no 40 

questions, I think the only residual issue is that matter of timing that 

you raise which is not going to be something we need to – I do not 

think we are going to need to hear from Dr Wright at this stage, I will 

let you know if that changes.   

 45 
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 And we will come back to the question of the implications of that issue, 

that site specific issue and how best to manage that at some stage 

before closing or as part of closing. 

 

 Mr Winchester, there is just a couple of matters I should flag, I think, 5 

and probably helpfully flag for you and for the relevant witnesses to be 

in a position to assist us on this when they are called. 

 

 If we could go back – and of course this is just one of the variety of 

issues but it does seem to be a reasonably important one amongst the 10 

mix and if I go to your page 17 and your paragraph 6.7, and at your 

subparagraph D, it is a helpful reference point because the concept 

there about a new non-complying activity, and so in the high flooding, 

hazard management areas before us, what we are needing to consider is 

the most appropriate management regime for those areas and including 15 

amongst that, is the most appropriate activity classification for 

activities. 

 

 Now, one of the things of interest to the Panel at this stage amongst that 

is the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environments, November 20 

2015 Report.  In that report the Parliamentary Commissioner discusses 

the concept of climate change and coastal matters including the issues 

of risk, and that report includes a graph which is the latest IPCC 

prediction according to the explanation in that report. 

 25 

 Now Mr Harrington refers to Mr Ivamy previous evidence and 

Ms Evans also deals with the substance of this non-complying activity 

rule and its intentions.  So we certainly want to explore that whole area, 

it might be just as a useful point of reference for questioning that I put 

to Ms Evans an extract from the PC report just so that we get the graph 30 

in by way of a point of reference. 

 

 The questioning that we have got in that area includes questions in 

regard to scale of risk, where likely risk versus what might happen and 

how that may pertain to management and activity classification in high 35 

hazard areas.  You will come to understand some of the thinking on 

that and clearly, our thinking is preliminary in the sense that we will 

certainly be relying on cross-examination from parties in this area as 

well. 

 40 

 But part of that relates to what you see on the screen there, that graph 

which I will take Ms Evans too.   
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  [10.25 am] 

 

 The second component of that raising concerns, the precise nature of 

the directions given by Higher Order documents, what do they actually 

direct us to do and what we must do in order to give effect to them, and 5 

primarily that relates to the Regional Policy Statement as it has been 

most recently amended so there will be questions in that area in regard 

to the nature of that obligation and what it might translate into. 

 

 And obviously the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement has some 10 

bearing on that as well, bearing in mind it is focused on the coastal 

environment as a qualifier to that comment. 

 

 The final aspect of it and this is something which has been a broader 

interest to the Panel in terms of the theory of the Plan as a whole when 15 

it comes to the design of activity classes, making sure that we as a 

Panel are applying a consistent and sound approach to the choice of 

activity classes. 

 

 And so at some stage I would appreciate some assistance from you and 20 

from others, perhaps the Crown might think of this as well, around the 

principles that govern the choice of the use of non-complying activity 

under the RMA.  It is not something that has really been thoroughly 

explored I do not think to date in submissions as far as I know. 

 25 

 I mean, obviously there are those sections, 104D and 87A which you 

would be well familiar with but below that there is a question of at 

what scale do you impose an activity class of non-complying, what 

scale of risk it is, is it something to do with the strategic intentions of 

the Plan as expressed in the objectives and policies is one aspect of 30 

that. 

 

 But if I could just flag for you that all of those questions at this stage 

are focusing our minds and that the high focus of that is in this high 

flooding hazard management area where we are dealing with a new 35 

issue which is the imposition of a relatively stringent control and we 

are bearing in mind all the evidence we have read on this including M  

Butcher’s evidence and what he says by way of consideration of 

alternatives for instance, and what might be another alternative to 

consider, but we will explore that as we go through.  I just want to put 40 

you on notice. 

 

 I will just check if there is any questioning from other Panel members?  

Ms Huria? 

 45 

MS HURIA:   No, it is good thank you, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No, thank you. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Ms Dawson.  All right, well at this stage I 

think it was the timetable to have the Crown open as well was it. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir.    

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Randal, I have had the time to read your, well at least 

skim read your submissions, other Panel members as I say have 

struggled, so to achieve this but I think you can probably be quite 15 

selective in just highlighting the matters that the Crown wants to have 

us understand at this stage. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir, I will, I will touch briefly on the live issues 

for determination from the Crown’s point of view and I would note in 20 

the beginning that I endorse my learned friend, Mr Winchester’s 

comment, that really they are as between the Crown and the Council as 

opposed to the other submitters issues, these ones really are matters of 

fine tuning I think, and indeed, some of the five issues that I touch on 

very briefly may not even be issues at all but we will see that. 25 

 

 So if I could ask the Panel please, I will begin at paragraph 11, this one 

really can be summarised very briefly.  This is the interplay between 

the objectives, the natural hazard objectives, effectively the Crown and 

the Council are on the same – on all fours I think is how my learned 30 

friend put it, yes I believe that is right but I just do want to flag that.  In 

my learned friend’s opening at paragraph 3.8 I believe, some changes 

to Strategic Directions objective 3.3.6 were marked up there which are 

agreed.   

 35 

 But perhaps given the other ground that my learned friend had to cover, 

in those submissions a point was not addressed which is that in 

objective 5.1.1 there are a couple of other matters that are not currently 

reflected in the Strategic Directions objective. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR RANDAL:   And those relate to promoting awareness of natural hazards 

and facilitating repair of earthquake damaged land.  These are C and D 

in objective 5.1.1, I just want to be clear that the Crown’s position is 45 
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that those two matters should likewise be reflected in the Strategic 

Directions Objective. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so they belong there as opposed to being a 

supplementary objective in the Natural Hazards Chapter? 5 

 

MR RANDAL:   That is the Crown’s position, sir, which would enable 5.1.1 to 

be deleted as Ms Evan’s evidence shows. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR RANDAL:   And replaced with a cross reference. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 15 

  [10.30 pm] 

 

MR RANDAL:   The second point, sir, I touch on from paragraph 19 and that 

is that Dr Saunders has identified a potential issue about enforceability 

of some of the permitted activity standards for earthworks in areas 20 

subject to flood hazard risk.   

 

 One example of a rule like that where she has a concern is 

rule 5.8.7.1 P11 if the Panel wants to look at that, it is on page 25 of the 

attachment to my learned friend’s submissions.   25 

 

 But essentially, I can summarise it quickly.  That rule permits a 

maximum of 10 metres cubed of filling on a site.  With that 

10 metres cubed calculated on an incremental basis over 10 years and I 

suppose the concern is that it may be difficult to tell what earthworks 30 

have been done if the Council were seeking to enforce that rule, come 

on site and try and ascertain whether more than 10 metres cubed of 

earthworks have been done over the previous eight to 10 years, that 

could be quite difficult but to cut through that I think, Ms Evans’ 

position for the Council is that there are new enforcement tools such as 35 

LIDAR that will assist in that part. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So you need to be exploring whether or not those tools are 

going to actually be a reliable means of doing so, or do you accept that 

evidence? 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, I think the Crown was tossing up about 

that but I think on balance the Crown’s content to accept that 

enforcement is, it is kind of the realm of Council and is content not to 

push the point. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR RANDAL:   So, the third matter, sir, is immediately below that in 

submissions from paragraph 23 and this one was not flagged in my 

learned friend’s opening for the Council.   5 

 

 The point is that Crown seeks that earthworks associated with the 

repair, rebuild and maintenance of critical infrastructure and associated 

ancillary structures be permitted in high flood hazard management 

areas. 10 

 

 A matter that is agreed as between the Council and the Crown is that 

the repair, rebuild and maintenance itself is a permitted activity but the 

concern from Dr Saunders for the Crown is that might not pick up any 

associated earthworks so just to flag that that is a live issue that will be 15 

explored. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, in other words, were earthworks are ancillary to that 

activity you want them that explicitly covered in the rule? 

 20 

MR RANDAL:   Exactly, sir, and interestingly, in my learned friend’s opening 

where he addressed this, I think this is at paragraph 6.7C he noted it is 

agreed that the repair, rebuild et cetera of those structures is permitted 

and that is agreed and I think there is a bit of slightly Freudian error in 

there because it refers to ancillary activities but actually the rule it 25 

refers to ancillary structures. 

 

 If the rule did refer to ancillary activities that might pick up the 

earthworks that the Crown would like permitted as well. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  On those matters, as I have indicated to you, 

Mr Randal, where there are remaining points of substantive difference 

between parties, not doubt the parties will address those in closing if 

they remain by the course at the end of the hearing, that closing being 

probably prior to an adjournment after which technical drafting issues 35 

can still be potentially the subject of a further technical drafting 

hearing. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir.  Very briefly, sir, the fourth point is addressed 

at paragraph 26 and following the submissions and it relates to a matter 40 

for discretion RD 4D; that has been deleted from a rule, rule 5.8.9 for 

consistency’s sake. 

 

 The issue which I seek to explain at paragraph 27 is that per the 

notified version of proposal 8, the Subdivision and Earthworks 45 

proposal, the earthwork rules relating to outstanding natural features 
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and landscapes areas are expressed as not applying within FMAs, 

within flood management areas, which would appear – I think 

Ms Evans and Dr Saunders agree that this appears to give rise to a 

regulatory gap so in other words, if earthworks consent were required 

within an FMA on a restricted discretionary basis the Council’s 5 

discretion would not extend to considering effects on things like 

character and ecology and sites of cultural value et cetera. 

 

 And the Crown cannot really see a good reason for that, so it would 

help to get clarity of the Council’s position on that point.   10 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

  As I say at paragraph 28, Ms Evans appears to accept the point but 

thinks that the proper place for that solution is in proposal 8, itself. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so no doubt once you have tested Ms Evans you 

will know whether it is a substantive issue or simply a drafting issue 

here. 

 20 

MR RANDAL:   Well, thank you, sir, actually I do not intend to test Ms Evans 

on that because I think her evidence is clear on that; that is where she 

thinks it should go. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I guess so long as the Panel has an 25 

understanding at some stage during the process whether there are 

substantive issue for determination or whether they may fall into the 

category of technical refinement. 

 

MR RANDAL:    Certainly technical, sir, yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR RANDAL:   And likewise the last point which is immediately below, it is 

this matter of the ground level certification regime proposed by 35 

Mr Thompson for the Case family within flood ponding management 

areas and Dr Saunders sort of waded into this issue, if you will excuse 

the pun, and identified some practical difficulties with that regime but 

since then I understand there have been further discussions between the 

planners. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And is the Crown’s position effectively to not take issue 

with any narrowing of the differences that have been achieved between 

Mr Thompson and Ms Evans? 

 45 

MR RANDAL:   That is right, sir.   
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so we will get to hear about those when that 

evidence comes through. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir, and sorry just to pause there and note I think 5 

that this matter remains in dispute as between the Council and the Case 

family, as I understand it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes. 

 10 

MR RANDAL:   And the Crown’s position on that is a principled one.  A 

certification regime that works, that addresses the concerns that 

Dr Saunders has raised in principle. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Yes, again the main thing is whether or not we know 15 

whether the Crown has any substantive difference between what might 

be a much narrower point, we will have to find out when the evidence 

is called through. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, and as I hear you, you are saying “no”, the 

Crown is just effectively in principle going with making sure it works 

correctly. 

 25 

MR RANDAL:   That is right, sir, thank you, and those are my submissions 

and I will answer any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much, Mr Randal, I will just check if there 

are any questions.  I do not have any myself. 30 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Illingsworth, Ms Dawson?  No, thank you.  So, I think 

this was taken in this order on the basis that the Council and the Crown 35 

are calling witnesses effectively interleaving with each other during the 

course of the day so we will hear from other counsel at the appropriate 

time and at this stage I think Mr Winchester, you will be calling 

Ms Evans as your first witness. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, I will do that now.   
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<RUTH CHRISTINE CAMERON EVANS, affirmed [10.37 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Just when you are ready, thanks, Mr Winchester. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.38 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER: Do you confirm your full name is 5 

Ruth Christine Cameron Evans? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you hold the qualifications and experience set out 10 

in your statement of evidence-in-chief? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And this is your first appearance before the Panel in 15 

these hearings? 

 

MS EVANS:  It is. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now, you have prepared two statements of 20 

evidence for this proposal, Ms Evans, the first being your evidence-in-

chief dated 21 January 2016. 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   And the second being a statement of rebuttal evidence 

dated 11 February 2016. 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any amendments or additions to either of 

those statements? 

 

MS EVANS:   There is one amendment to the accepted depths table and this is 

based on further discussion I have had with Paul Thompson for the 35 

Case family.  On page 89, the point for the Case family, it is in red text, 

I believe, should be amended to “accept in part” rather than “reject”, as 

this point has been accepted with amendments. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And sorry, which statement are we dealing with? 40 

 

MS EVANS:   So, it is attached to the rebuttal evidence. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  All right, well, thank you.  Subject to that 

amendment, Ms Evans, do you confirm that to the best of your 45 

knowledge and belief your evidence is true and correct? 
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MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, now you have a summary of evidence 

which I will ask you to read out and then remain where you are and 5 

answer any questions from my learned friends or the Panel. 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MS EVANS:   Okay.  My name is Ruth Evans, I hold the position of senior 10 

planner at Harrison Grierson.  I have been engaged by the Council to 

provide planning advise on the Stage 3 Natural Hazards Proposal. 

 

 The Stage 3 proposal which also includes central city natural hazards, 

builds on the Stage 1 Natural Hazards Chapter that was decided in 15 

Decision 6 of the Panel, the natural hazards overlays and an additional 

layer of control within the plan to manage development in natural 

hazard areas. 

 

 Stage 1 established the objectives and policies for natural hazards, as 20 

well as rules for flood management areas, repair of land for residential 

purposes in the flood management areas, liquefaction hazard areas and 

slope instability management areas.  It also included mapping for these 

areas as well as mapping of flood ponding management areas. 

 25 

 Stage 3 has introduced additional flood management areas, with a rural 

specific purpose and open space zones, as well as Waimakariri, Te 

Waihora and Lake Ellesmere and Te Wairewa/Lake Forsyth.  It has 

also introduced the rules for flood ponding and rules and mapping for 

high flood hazard management areas, the latter being a new set of rules 30 

for the Christchurch District Plan. 

 

 Stage 3 has also introduced flood management areas for the central 

city, both mapping and rules.  In addition there are rules for land repair 

for residential purposes and flood management areas and liquefaction 35 

hazard rules for within the central city. 

 

 The Stage 3 Natural Hazards proposal was notified prior to the Stage 1 

decision being released.  One of the first tasks after notification was to 

update the Stage 3 proposal which were align with the Stage 1 decision, 40 

including the certification pathway provided for buildings and FMAs. 

 

 Consistency with the Stage 1 decision was the subject of many 

submission points and updating Stage 3 to align with Stage 1 was 

important to achieve consistency with the rule framework that had 45 

already been the subject of the decision making process and to reduce 
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duplication within the chapter.  As noted in my evidence and in the 

revised proposal it is considered that further consolidation and 

combination could be undertaken. 

 

 A number of submitters have addressed the FMA rule framework, I am 5 

mindful that the rules have already been through the hearings and 

decisions making process, resulting in a robust set of rules being set up 

that should also apply to the additional properties included through 

Stage 3. 

 10 

 Two amendments to the objective and policy framework have been put 

forward for consideration.  The first is to update objective 3.3.6 of the 

strategic directions chapter, to reflect the wording in objective 5.1.1.  

Objective 5.1.1 could then be deleted with a cross reference added to 

refer to objective 3.3.6.  My preference is to retain a natural hazards 15 

objective in the strategic directions chapter due to the primacy afforded 

to these objectives. 

 

 A minor amendment is also required to policy 5.2.1E to reflect that it 

now applies beyond the urban areas. 20 

 

 Rules relating to development and flood ponding management areas, 

remain largely as notified with a couple of exceptions.  A permitted 

pathway has been incorporated as a result of submissions from Orion to 

provide for utilities with a limited ground floor area and Christ College 25 

and McVicar to provide for specific earthworks within their ODP area. 

 

 A restricted discretionary pathway for earthworks to create storm water 

management areas and compensatory storage has also been provided 

for as a result of the submission Cashmere Fields and Cashmere Park 30 

Trust. 

 

 In addition, as a result of a further submission by the Case family, an 

exception has been included for subdivision where the site may be 

partially covered by the flood ponding management area, and an 35 

additional allotment can be subdivided off that is not subject to the 

ponding overlay or contains a net site area capable of containing a 

residential unit that is outside the ponding area. 

 

 I had originally rejected this in my rebuttal evidence due to the 40 

concerns to the access to the additional allotment could be subject to 

the hazard area.  However, I have reflected on this and discuss further 

with Mr Thompson, planner for the Case family, and note that an 

access will need to be addressed under section 106 of the Resource 

Management Act. 45 
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 Furthermore, as subdivision and an FMA is a restricted discretionary 

activity under the subdivision chapter, I now consider this exception 

appropriate. 

 

 With respect to the rule framework for high flood hazard management 5 

areas, the notified version only contain non-complying activities for 

subdivision and new buildings.  Numerous submissions were received 

on the high flood hazard management area rules, many seeking a more 

permissive consenting pathway, and some imposing the rules and the 

mapping in their entirety. 10 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

 The revised proposal has incorporated a permitted activity status for the 

replacement and repair of buildings, for utilities and for the repair, 15 

rebuild and maintenance of critical infrastructure. 

 

 Similar to the flood ponding areas, the latest revised proposal also 

provides an exception from the non-complying subdivision activity 

rule, if an additional allotment is entirely outside the high flood hazard 20 

are or if partially covered and can contain the net site area that 

accommodate a residential unit.  I consider these amendments in the 

revised proposal are not inconsistent with the Canterbury Regional 

Policy Statement.  There were numerous submissions opposing the 

high flood hazard management rules in its entirety. 25 

 

 I consider the tight controls on development in the high flood hazard 

areas to be appropriate and consist with the requirements outlined in 

the chapter 11 of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, in 

particular policy 11.3.1 and also policy 5.2.2.1B of the subject chapter.  30 

Non-complying activity status in my opinion is consistent with this 

policy direction. 

 

 Turning to some particular areas of disagreement between the Council 

and submitters: The Crown has thought that the earthwork rules for 35 

some of the FMAs be amended to apply a timeframe with additional 

controls on the height of build and a requirement not to impede the 

flow of surface water.  One of the key reasons for these amendments is 

to enable better monitoring and enforcement. 

 40 

 I understand that with the use of LIDAR, monitoring is getting easier 

and I do not consider this amendment necessary.  Retaining the 

wording in the revised proposal is also consistent with the Stage 1 

rules.  I also have some reservations with the suggestion to add that 

earthworks do not impede the flow of water, while the intention is 45 

sensible, this could be difficult to quantify as a permitted activity. 



 Page 21 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

 

 The Crown had also thought that earthworks associated with repair of 

critical infrastructure is explicitly permitted in the high flood hazard 

management area.  I maintain that this is not necessary as earthworks 

are not subject to additional controls under the high flood hazard 5 

management area overlay - they are controlled by the underlying FMA. 

 

 Introducing a permitted activity for earthworks associated with critical 

infrastructure in these areas may potentially cause confusion for plan 

users as there are no rules governing earthworks under this overlay. 10 

 

 The Case family has sought a number of amendments to rules for all 

three flood hazard overlays, some of these have been incorporated into 

the revised proposal, this includes clarity of rule 5.8.8.4, an allowance 

for replacement and repair of buildings in flood ponding management 15 

areas and an exception from the non-complying activity status for 

subdivision in the flood ponding management areas and high flood 

hazard management areas. 

 

 With respect to the Case family’s request that the FMA rules also be 20 

amended to provide for replacement and repair of buildings, I note in 

my rebuttal evidence that there are a number of exceptions that do 

already facilitate this, for example P5, P6 and P7. 

 

 To expand on my rebuttal, in regard to moving the building to a higher 25 

ground level, I consider the building should be encouraged to meet the 

minimum floor level for the flood management area if it is to be 

moved.  This can be done as a permitted activity. 

 

 I acknowledge that there may be instances where the building is moved 30 

to a higher ground level but not meet the minimum floor level and 

therefore consent would be triggered.  However, the intention is that 

the permitted activity rule incentivises land owners to raise the building 

to meet the minimum floor level and therefore address the flood hazard 

to the building. 35 

 

 Another matter of disagreement between the Case family and the 

Council, is the submitter’s proposal to include certification for a 

minimum ground level for development in flood ponding management 

areas.  While I do support the concept of certification, I am mindful 40 

that in this particular area the flood ponding management area 

buildings are not generally encouraged.  The purpose of the ponding 

areas is primarily for flood storage.  I am concerned that providing for 

certification in these areas sends the wrong message to the community. 

 45 
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 My opinion is that non-complying activity consent could be achieved in 

areas such as periphery of the ponding areas where it can be 

demonstrated that development will not adversely impact on the 

functioning of the ponding.  Due to the nature of the hazard area it is 

important for the Council to be able to assess such proposals on a case 5 

by case basis. 

 

 To conclude, in my opinion, the revised proposal meets the statement 

of expectations, particularly clauses A, B and H, it also gives effect to 

the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, in particular chapter 11 and 10 

policy 11.3.1 and it achieves the purpose of the Resource Management 

Act. 

 

 Thank you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Hughes-Johnson. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR HUGHES-JOHNSON [10.50 am] 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you, sir. 20 

 

 Ms Evans, first of all just remark on the fact that you have had a 

number of discussions with Mr Thompson, haven’t you, and happily a 

number of the issues have cooperatively and constructively been 

resolved as you have pointed out in your evidence, and they will be 25 

referred to by Mr Thompson later when he gives his evidence. 

 

 But first of all, well there are really two issues I think, aren’t there, that 

are not resolved.  The first one relates to the flood management area 

where Mr Thompson has suggested that replacement or repair of 30 

existing buildings should be a permitted activity, as you have already 

noted, and you have given in your summary your reasons for not 

agreeing with what he has suggested. 

 

 Now, it is correct, isn’t it, that in your rebuttal evidence you referred to 35 

your view that it was not necessary to include replacement or repair of 

existing buildings as a permitted activity because of the existing 

provisions in the rules. 

 

 But I think it is fair, is it not, that your position has changed, has it not, 40 

in the sense that you have added another factor, which is that you 

believe that the Council should take the opportunity to ensure that the 

buildings are at/or above the minimum floor level.  So that has been 

added, has it not? 

 45 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   It was not referred to in your rebuttal evidence, 

was it? 

 

MS EVANS:   No, it was not.   5 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Now that means, does it not, that with existing 

buildings there is the possibility that an existing building which is 

presently below the minimum level would have to be transferred say, 

and erected at a higher level than it presently is, that is correct, is it not? 10 

 

MS EVANS:   It would have to be raised to the minimum - - - 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   It would need to be raised, yes. 

 15 

MS EVANS:   - - - floor level for the FMA. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, the floor level.  So if for example on the site 

the owner wanted to shift the building because it is damaged, it would 

have to meet the minimum floor level requirement, and that may mean 20 

that it will be in a higher position than it was previously, that is the 

point? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 25 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right.  And if that cannot be met then you 

anticipate that there would be a need for a resource consent process to 

gone through. 

 

MS EVANS:   If you did not meet, well I guess either P3 or P4 you would 30 

trigger it. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, because if it was less than the minimum 

floor level and there was a replacement or rebuilding then there would 

need to be resource consent, wouldn’t it? 35 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, it does trigger consent, yes.   

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right.  Now, I would ask you to refer to rules 

5.3.1.1, which relates to the floor management area and sets out the 40 

permitted activity.  In the table there are a number of references to 

permitted activities, P5, P6 and P7; I would just like you to refer to 

those, I will not read them out in full, but “additions to do existing 

buildings that do not increase the ground floor area…” – et cetera. 

 45 
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 Now those provisions recognise and effect existing use rights, do they 

not, in a sense.   

 

MS EVANS:   In a sense they do.   

 5 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well what is contemplated is that these alterations 

et cetera are not going to worsen the position so as far as the flood 

management position is concerned, and therefore that is why they are 

set out here as being protected, is that right? 

 10 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right.  Now, there are provisions, aren’t there, 

for the replacement or repair of buildings in the flood ponding 

management area and the high flood hazard management area, and I 15 

think you made mention of that. 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And is it correct that in general terms those rules 20 

provide for the replacement or repair of buildings as a permitted 

activity, provided two conditions are met, firstly that the ground floor 

area is not increased and, secondly, that the building is in a positon on 

the site which is no lower than the present building, that is correct isn’t 

it, for those two areas? 25 

 

MS EVANS:   It provides for a permitted activity under the relevant rule 586 

or 588. 

 

  [10.55 am] 30 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right, so it must be, must it not – It must 

follow like the night follows the day, that the flood management area 

provision that you are now contending for is more onerous, is it not, 

from the point of view of a landowner than the provisions under the 35 

flood ponding management area and the high flood hazard management 

area, there is an inconsistency there, isn’t there? 

 

 Because with the flood management area there is the imposition of a 

more stringent requirement of the floor area and the floor needing to be 40 

at or above the level that has been set out in the rules it set themselves.   

 

MS EVANS:   Well the flood ponding management area rules and the high 

flood hazard area rules are an additional way of control, so what we 

tried to provide for is an exception from those additional layers of 45 

control, recognising that those areas are all subject to the FMA rules. 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, but each of these areas, there are three areas, 

and they are all discrete areas.  I mean it may be that one overlay is one 

position and perhaps in the Case family position, the flood ponding 

management area and the flood management area, the overlays are 5 

broadly in the same position, as opposed to the high flood management 

area overlay which of course is much smaller.   

 

 So there is an overlay is there not, and quite often? 

 10 

MS EVANS:   All of the ponding areas and high flood hazard areas always 

have the underlying FMA. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, but my point is, Ms Evans, surely there 

should be consistency between the three categories, and there isn’t, is 15 

there, in the proposal that you are putting forward because of this 

requirement to meet the minimum floor area certificate provisions? 

 

MS EVANS:   If the building is being moved and it is not being moved far 

enough in terms of a higher ground level to meet the minimum floor 20 

level, there is a resource consent trigger.   

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Okay.  That is in the flood management area, 

right? 

 25 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   My question is, that in the other two areas, that is 

to say the high flood management area and the flood – I keep forgetting 

what they are – the flood ponding management area, in those two areas, 30 

assuming that they were not affected by the flood management area, 

you would not have to meet that floor level provision would you, it is 

not there because of a different provision in those two sets of rules? 

 

MS EVANS:   Well you would still be required to meet the rules under the 35 

flood management area because all of those – the two additional layers 

of control, the ponding and the higher flood hazard sit within the flood 

management area.  So you still need to consider those rules. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well isn’t the point that the provision for the 40 

flood management area is actually taking away, or derogating from the 

provisions in those two other areas. 

 

MS EVANS:   No, I believe that. 

 45 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   What is the point in having those provisions there 

when you come along later and say “and by the way you have got to 

meet the minimum floor level” – It is not correct, is it, it is not 

appropriate? 

 5 

MS EVANS:   I think it is appropriate, because the Council needs to be 

encouraging people to raise the floor level to remove themselves from 

the FMA hazard. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   But given, that we are talking about an existing 10 

situation of moving a house or repairing a house, why on earth should a 

landowner be faced with having to put the house on a higher position if 

it is not at the minimum floor level when there is an existing use right, 

isn’t there, there is an existing right to maintain the house in that 

position; why should they have to put the house on a higher position to 15 

meet the minimum floor level? 

 

MS EVANS:   They do not have to if they are relying on existing use rights, 

the house would stay where it was.   

 20 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No, but if the house was being moved, forget 

about the sort of concept of existing use rights, if the house was being 

moved what you are saying, on the same site you are saying it has to 

meet the minimum floor level, and I am saying why should it have to 

when there is already a house there at a particular level, why can they 25 

not put it at the same level somewhere else?  And there is no 

difference, is there, in terms of the effect on the flood management 

area? 

 

  [11.00 am] 30 

 

MS EVANS:   Well I think the whole point of having the flood management 

area is to alert people to the fact that they are on a hazard area, and if 

you are going to be rebuilding your building or moving it, then I think 

the best thing to do is move it so you are outside that you meet them in 35 

the building. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   That might be best but that is an opportunistic 

position from the Council’s point of view, is it not.  The Council is 

saying, “Oh well, now I’ve got you, you have got to go to that higher 40 

level”; it is not looking at what is fair to the landowner, is it? 

 

MS EVANS:   I think what is fair to the landowner is also to encourage them to 

move their building if they are going to move it, to an acceptable level. 

 45 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right, I will move on, it does not seem that 

you agree with the position that Mr Thompson has taken there. 

 

 If I can just refer to the certification position, and this deals with, I 

think, new houses in the flood ponding management area.  Have you 5 

read the evidence of Ms Saunders and heard the opening of the Crown 

in relation to this matter? 

 

MS EVANS:   I have. 

 10 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, and there is a difference of view, isn’t there, 

the Crown supports certification and what is being proposed by 

Mr Thompson subject to it being clear and able to be enforced whereas 

do not, that is the position isn’t it?   

 15 

MS EVANS:   Not in the flood ponding management area. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right, but you agree don’t you, that there is a 

difference between your position and the Crown’s position? 

 20 

MS EVANS:   There is insofar as the certification is supported within the - - - 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No, there is more than that isn’t there because the 

Crown is saying provided the certification process can be certain, there 

is no reason why there should not be new houses as a permitted activity 25 

in this area.  Whereas you are saying “no”; you do not want any new 

houses there and what is more, you do not like the certification 

position. 

 

MS EVANS:   I agree that new houses in the ponding area should be subject to 30 

the consent process. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, because you say it is sending the wrong 

signal having it as a permitted activity? 

 35 

MS EVANS:   That is right. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right.  Do you agree, Ms Evans, that if a 

house is placed above the critical level so that it is not in the flood 

ponding area, and bear in mind that the Council has accepted that its 40 

research et cetera is imperfect and as Mr Harrington, I think is going to 

say, that further work is being done to refine the areas. 

 

 If, for the purposes of this question, you accept that the houses are 

above flood ponding area, what possible basis is there for saying to a 45 
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landowner, “Well, you cannot build there”.  It is not affecting the flood 

management strategy at all, is it, or the relevant policy? 

 

MS EVANS:   It is not saying that you cannot build there, we are saying that it 

should go through a consenting process. 5 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   But why should it – you are aware of course, and 

I think that this Panel has on a number of occasions stressed the 

provisions of the Order et cetera, which require the Panel to try and 

come up with a mechanism which avoids the necessity for resource 10 

consent. 

 

 Well, is this not a classic example of where a resource consent should 

not be necessary and that there should be a permitted activity? 

 15 

MS EVANS:   The primary purpose of the flood ponding management areas, is 

for flood storage and compensatory storage, and in my mind, 

residential development does not sit well with that.  I have 

acknowledged that there will be cases perhaps on the periphery of the 

ponding area where it may be that they can demonstrate that you can 20 

reach a level that is outside the ponding area and I believe that should 

happen through a consent process.  And I think - - - 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Even if it is above, it is established as being 

above the level of the flood ponding area, the critical level? 25 

 

MS EVANS:   You would establish that in your resource consent application 

and then Council could consider it. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And that of course, is the idea of the certification 30 

process, you do not agree with that? 

 

MS EVANS:   Not for the ponding areas, I do not. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right.  Do you agree finally, that the certification 35 

process has got nothing to do with the substandard issue of whether or 

not a building should be in that area, it is simply certification, it is a 

procedural device isn’t it? 

 

MS EVANS:   Certification is a procedural device. 40 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   You are not confusing, are you, certification with 

the question of whether the house should go there at all.  The two are 

two different things.  One issue is whether the house should be in the 

area and the second one is whether there should be certification? 45 
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MS EVANS:   But they are two parts to consider. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you, Ms Evans. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Hughes-Johnson.  Now, Mr Randal did 5 

you say you were not cross-examining Ms Evans, or you are? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR RANDAL [11.05 am] 

 

MR RANDAL:   I am, sir.  It is not on one particular point we were discussing. 10 

 

 Good morning, Ms Evans, I do have some questions about rule 5.8.8.1 

P3, that is on page 38 of the Proposal as it was attached to my learned 

friend’s opening submissions for the Council. 

 15 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR RANDAL:   All those who wish to have that provision, it is page 38 of the 

attachment to the submissions, 5.8.8.1P3.  We can see there Ms Evans 

that you have recommended, or at least accepted, that P3 should be a 20 

permitted activity? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR RANDAL:   That permits the repair, rebuild and maintenance of critical 25 

infrastructure and associated ancillary structures? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR RANDAL:   And we are talking here, of course, about high flood hazard 30 

management areas, aren’t we? 

 

MS EVANS:   We are. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you.  As you know, there is of course a policy in this 35 

chapter about infrastructure in area subject to natural hazards, isn’t 

there? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 40 

MR RANDAL:   And I might just take you to that please Ms Evans, that is on 

page 8 of the same attachment, it is policy 5.2.1.3- - - 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 45 



 Page 30 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

MR RANDAL:   - - -which is obviously a policy put in place through the Stage 

1 decision on the Natural Hazards Proposal, that is right, isn’t it? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 5 

MR RANDAL:   And you are of course aware that that policy includes, 

enabling critical infrastructure to be maintained and managed to 

function during and after natural hazard events? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 10 

 

MR RANDAL:   And the policy also recognises the need for the repair, 

maintenance and ongoing use of infrastructure in the areas affected by 

natural hazards, does it not? 

 15 

MS EVANS:   That is right. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, and I presume but would be grateful for you to 

confirm that you consider the rule we just looked at to be necessary to 

implement that policy in effect? 20 

 

MS EVANS:   I do. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, and I am sure you are aware as well, of course, of 

the overarching natural hazards objective which includes facilitating 25 

the repair of earthquake damaged land? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Just relevant to one of the various types of natural hazards 30 

that are out there, that is right, isn’t it? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Sorry, I think it is objective 5.1.1- - - 35 

 

MS EVANS:   Just one I think, one. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, indeed. 

 40 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Getting to my point, Ms Evans, if earthworks required to 

rebuild critical infrastructure triggered the need for the infrastructure 

provider to go off and get resource consent for that purpose, that would 45 

cut across policy 5.2.1.3 would it not? 
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MS EVANS:   It would. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Yes, thanks, so for example, if we take a washed out bridge 

say in a flooding event – actually, thank you, I will leave it at that. 5 

 

 Thank you, sir, that is my questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You do not have any opposition to adding ancillary 

earthworks into the rule? 10 

 

MS EVANS:   My position has always been that the rule does not involve 

earthworks, so it is unnecessary to it is unnecessary to mention 

earthworks under the rule, because there are- - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, answering my question, in principle, you do not 

oppose that ancillary activity being caught up and permitted in the 

same basis in terms of the answers you gave Mr Randal? 

 

MS EVANS:   No. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In order not to affect the purpose of permitted activity, 

you do not oppose that? 

 

MS EVANS:   No, it does not affect the permitted activity; I just do not think it 25 

is necessary. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, that is fine, so it may well be a drafting question 

I think, Mr Randal rather than a point of substantive difference, it 

sounds like just a drafting choice as to how to apply it – but perhaps we 30 

will hear from you later on that anyway. 

 

MR RANDAL:   yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think we will just carry on although our morning break 35 

was timed for 11, it was only one hour after we started so I think we 

will just push on now. 

 

 Is it Mr Schaffer or Mr Scrase who will be doing the cross-

examination? 40 

 

MR SCRASE:   Mr Scrase. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Scrase. 

45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR SCRASE [11.09 am] 

 

MR SCRASE:   Good morning, Ms Evans.  In your rebuttal statement dated 

8 February, you refer to the Natural Hazards Chapter of the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement as the basis for policy direction in respect to 5 

the high flood hazard management area and non-complying activity 

status. 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 10 

 Can you please explain why the Council has used a one metre sea level 

projection in the modelling when the national guidance from NFE and 

the CRPS clearly states 0.5 metres should be used for planning 

purposes out to the year 2100? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, Mr Scrase, I know that you are not necessarily 

familiar with cross-examination but when you put to a witness a 

proposition that based on a presumption around documents and what 

they mean, to be fair to the witness you really need to take them to that 

document so that they can properly inform their answer. 20 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There are questions of how you read those documents 

buried in that question.  Perhaps just put the question again but bear 25 

that in mind.  I do not want to keep interrupting you. 

 

MR SCRASE:   No, sure, sorry, this is my first time so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine. 30 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, so there is a guidance in the Canterbury Regional Policy 

Statement and we do have the documents here somewhere but it clearly 

states 0.5 metres is the guidance for planning purposes and it states also 

that 0.8 metres should be used as an assessment as a possible range of 35 

options.   

 

 So it would appear that the Council has used the very high level of, 

precautionary level, of sea level rise.  This may well have been stuff 

that went before you, before you started on this project but I just 40 

wondered if you had any comments on that process? 

 

MS EVANS:   It did come before me in my involvement in this chapter and I 

have relied on the modelling too, and that is what has been utilised in 

the Plan. 45 

 



 Page 33 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

MR SCRASE:   So you have just taken it as a fact essentially that this has 

come before you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Just relied on the modelling, so that refers to the modelling 

that has been undertaken by the Council that is I think referred to by 5 

Mr Harrington? 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, the Tonkin Taylor modelling assumes a 0.4 metres - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well just put your next question, just so that we keep 10 

things on track. 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, okay, all right.  So the next question is given, I mean I am 

assuming that then this is a precautionary approach, has there been any 

cost benefit analysis done by the Council to compare different 15 

approaches to avoid social and economic harm to communities, and I 

refer in this case to the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement 3 and 

27, the objectives there. 

 

MS EVANS:   Sorry, can you just? 20 

 

MR SCRASE:   Has the Council done any cost benefit analysis to compare 

different approaches like mitigation or avoidance of building so that we 

avoid social and economic harm to communities, which is stated in the 

New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement 3 and 27? 25 

 

MS EVANS:  The Council have prepared a section 32 report which 

accompanied the proposal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And does that report provide a cost benefit analysis of the 30 

matters Mr Scrase referred to? 

 

MS EVANS:   It does, it touches on them, yes.  I do not know that it refers 

specifically to the Coastal Policy Statement, I would have to go back 

and look at it. 35 

 

MR SCRASE:   Okay thank you, so the next question is we understand from 

your rebuttal there is a clear policy to avoid development in areas of 

high hazard where the development will increase the potential risk, and 

you refer in your rebuttal that in order to get consent a 104D gateway 40 

test must be met. 

 

 But under the 104D test the proposed activity must not be contrary to 

the policy objectives so the question is how will it be possible to get a 

consent when the objectives of the policy are to prevent building in 45 
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high hazard areas and will this policy effectively stop building in these 

areas? 

 

MS EVANS:   So the gateway test is an “or” - - - 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well on the assumption that the other part of the test 

is closed off, the effects are more than minor, what is the answer? 

 

MS EVANS:   If you are inconsistent with the policy then consent will not be 

achieved – If you are not avoiding subdivision use and development in 10 

areas where you can increase the risk. 

 

MR SCRASE:   Right, so does that mean for example 80 sections in the higher 

flood management area are effectively you cannot build on them at all? 

 15 

MS EVANS:   If the effects cannot be mitigated and you remain inconsistent 

with the policy. 

 

MR SCRASE:   So mitigation, would that include raising floor levels or other 

sorts of mitigation? 20 

 

MS EVANS:   It could do. 

 

MR SCRASE:   Could do, so we are not that - - - 

 25 

MS EVANS:   Mitigations could involve raising the building, yes, and ensuring 

that there was access. 

 

MR SCRASE:   So there is a possibility that for example we have concerned 

residents in Southshore, there is a possibility that they could build on 30 

vacant lots down there if they can prove mitigation by raising floor 

levels? 

 

MS EVANS:   If they could demonstrate that the effects could be mitigated, 

yes. 35 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MR SCRASE:   Okay.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you want to confer, just do that. 

 

MR SCRASE:   Okay, well Warwick is saying that he thinks that the policy is 

to prevent development so it is difficult to see how the gateway test can 

be met if the policy is to prevent development. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so putting that question to you, Ms Evans, is the 

effect of the policy to prevent development? 

 

MS EVANS:   It is to avoid development where you are going to increase the 

potential risk to safety, well-being and property. 5 

 

MR SCRASE:   Okay.  Well so leading on from there, in the year 2065 

according to the projections that we have been relying on from Tonkin 

and Taylor, which is 40 cm of sea level rise, the Parliamentary 

Commission for the Environment report from November 2015 stated 10 

that there would be a two percent chance that the property will be 

flooded and the chance that the property would be flooded now is 

significantly lower, so our question is how are we able to claim that this 

is a high hazard? 

 15 

 So we understand that there are high hazard areas in Christchurch in 

personal experience of flooding in Flockton Basin but in the 

Southshore Spit for example we have not experienced flooding in 15 

years. 

 20 

MS EVANS:   So the high flood hazard is a one in 500 year event. 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes. 

 

MS EVANS:   So it may well be that, well it has not been realised yet. 25 

 

MR SCRASE:   No, okay.  So a question, which you may not be able to answer 

but how long after settlement with an insurance company do existing 

use rights expire on earthquake damaged houses?  Is the existing use 

rights which I understand is normally 12 months, is this after 30 

demolition or is it after settlement with the insurance company?  Are 

you able to answer that? 

 

MS EVANS:   No, I am not able to answer that. 

 35 

MR SCRASE:   Okay, fine. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Scrase, just to let you know that the Panel is well 

aware of the difficulties and constraints in relying on existing use 

rights. 40 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And part of that is the duration of those rights, but also 

determining that those rights give you certain things. 45 
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MR SCRASE:   Right, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is also potentially problematic.  So it is a matter that 

you can raise in what you want to say to us as a legal point. 

 5 

MR SCRASE:   Okay, fine.  Any more questions? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   If you would if I could extend this a bit longer. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now at this point are you wanting to pass the baton on 10 

cross-examination?  Is that what you wanted to do, Mr Scrase? 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, please, yes, sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it is a little bit out of order but Mr Winchester, do 15 

you have any issue with that? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just bear in mind the time though, obviously these are 20 

important issues so I have given you some leeway but so far so good. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you, your Honour and I appreciate everybody here 

for bearing with us. 

 25 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR SCHAFFER [11.18 am] 

 

 I just wanted to ask a little bit more on the previous question regarding 

the likelihood that this is actually a high hazard.  Your answer was that 

it was a one in 500 year event I think. 30 

 

 The data that comes from the Parliamentary or the analysis that comes 

from the Parliamentary Commission for the Environment uses the same 

approach, same numbers you are using, it is just presented in a slightly 

different way. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you referring to the 2015 report, November 2015 

report. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Correct, November 2015. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I just pause here; Ms Evans, are you family with that 

report? 

 

MS EVANS:   I have not read it in detail, I have read media releases around it. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And it is referred to in evidence and you are familiar with 

it to that extent? 

 

MS EVANS:   I have not referred to it in my evidence. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no, sorry – It is referred to in evidence before the 

Panel, not your evidence, but in the evidence; Mr Arnold’s evidence for 

instance. 

 

MS EVANS:   Sorry, okay, yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have read that evidence? 

 

MS EVANS:   Mr Arnold’s evidence?  I do not believe I have. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we have got some questions for you in that area as I 

signalled but proceed thank you.  Mr Schaffer, just put your next 

question. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So my point is really to restate the question is that we are 20 

talking 40 years out and there has to be 4  cm sea level rise and if that 

happens 50 years out there is a two percent chance that you will be 

flooded.  What we are really saying is how can this be regarded as a 

high hazard? 

 25 

  [11.20 am] 

 

MS EVANS:   At the present time? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   At the present time it is actually significantly less than that 30 

because that level rise has not happened and actually is not on track to 

happen currently. 

 

MS EVANS:   Okay, so I guess I have relied on the modelling that has been 

prepared to - - - 35 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   This is using your modelling? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Schaffer, you will have to let the witness 

answer.  She said she has relied on the modelling, you said your 40 

modelling, well, I will tell you, no, not her modelling.  The modelling 

the Council has undertaken which is referred to in the evidence 

including from Mr Harrington, all right.   

 

 And this witness is a planner.  What is she is effectively saying is she is 45 

not a modeller.  She does not have those qualifications but her 
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qualifications are in planning and policies and developing rules and 

activities so it is in that area that she is of particular interest to the Panel 

and we will hear from Mr Harrington in regard to what she relied on 

including the modelling.  That will come through and you will be able 

to ask him questions too, all right? 5 

 

MR SCHAFFER:  Thank you.  That is all, Your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, now, Ms Evans, you are still under 

cross-examination.  I think we will take the morning recess now and we 10 

will have Panel questions after that. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.21 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.38 am] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just before we get underway, I understand that 

people down the back are having a bit of trouble hearing people from 

time to time.  These microphones are a little bit, you might say, 

insensitive at times and you have to really direct your voice into them, 20 

so I would urge people to remind themselves to do that, particularly 

when they are standing because often that takes you away somewhat 

from the microphone.  And if anyone down the back is having trouble 

hearing don’t be embarrassed just to put your hand up and if I see it I 

will try to encourage somebody to speak up, all right. 25 

 

 Now, Ms Evans, I might just ask you some preliminary questions first 

just to get the context on one or two things and if I have any questions 

that remain after other Panel members ask you questions I will ask you 

some more at that stage. 30 

 

 Just at a basic level, my particular focus for these questions concerns 

the high flooding hazard management areas, and I understand 

Ms Dawson will ask you some other questions on the flood ponding 

areas for instance. 35 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 

 But if we look at the high hazard area first; can you give me a ballpark 

figure of the number of residential properties in those overlay areas in 40 

terms of getting a gauge on the number of people that would be 

affected by the non-complying activity rule proposed? 

 

MS EVANS:   I do not have a ballpark figure for you so, no, I can’t. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, is it in the thousands?   
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MS EVANS:   From what I understand it is in the hundreds but I would have to 

go and look at the - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Excuse me people, please don’t do that, don’t laugh when 5 

someone gives an answer. 

 

 But it may be Mr Harrington might be able to help us on that perhaps? 

 

MS EVANS:   He may be in explaining the areas that are covered by the model 10 

but in order to give you an answer I would have to then look at how 

many properties there were, I guess average occupancy and to come 

back with an answer. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, all right.  Now, one thing that I have read from, 15 

say, Mr Butcher’s evidence is his suggestion for an alternative 

approach in his statement of evidence, have you seen that? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, I have. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think that that approach is not appropriate because 

it would offend the Higher Order documents? 

 

MS EVANS:   Could you bring it up on the screen the paragraph where he 

discusses the approach so to be clear that is what I am answering? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you go to paragraph 6.7 of Mr Butcher’s evidence.  We 

have had a computer freeze so I will help you find it though.   

 

MS EVANS:   I have got it here. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, you will see he floats there a possible alternative 

rule would be to allow subdivision and building only if the new 

building had a floor level above, say, a 200 year flood event, and he 

goes on from there. 35 

 

 So in terms of the obligation that now sits on our shoulders about 

evaluating benefits, costs and risks of alternatives, did you rule that out 

as an alternative because implementing it would offend the obligation 

to give effect to the higher order documents, particularly the regional 40 

policy statement and perhaps the NZCPS? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, I did because of the high flood hazard being a one in 500 

year event. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Because the high flood hazard is at a one in 500 year 

event and therefore yes? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now, Ms Dawson will have some questions on 

those documents just to let you know.  Now, I did have a question for 

you regarding the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment’s 

report of November 2015 that is referred to in the representations for 

CCRU and in Mr Arnold’s affidavit.  Did I hear you before say that 10 

you haven’t read that document? 

 

MS EVANS:   I have skim read it and I have read the media about it but I 

couldn’t tell you that I have read it line by line. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So, Mr Winchester, it may be more appropriate 

that we have it produced through Mr Harrington later but I might just 

put an extract for the point of view of focusing an issue for questioning, 

are you all right with that? 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   I have no objection to that, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So could the Secretariat pull up, I want to give you a copy 

of an extract from the report just for a question, Ms Evans, you do not 

have to produce this because I think Mr Harrington will be the more 25 

appropriate witness for that, but it is just for the purpose of a question.   

 

 So just recognising that you will see that that is the November 2015 

cover page and then it goes to extracts 2.1 dealing with the speed of sea 

level rise, the next page showing a graph, page 19, do you see that? 30 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then a couple of maps that follow.  If we look at the 

bottom graph – well, I want you to look at that bottom graph and then I 35 

have got a question for you about the approach to mitigation or 

avoidance and the choice of activity classification.   

 

  [11.45 am] 

 40 

 So if we start with the Act itself and the definition of “effect”, you are 

familiar with the definition of effect covering the range of bases 

including an effect of low probability but high potential impact? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:    And when we are dealing with flooding which could give 

rise to loss of life, serious loss of property, then you would see that as 

within the parameters of that definition given its broad coverage and 

given the high potential impact? 

 5 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But a live issue if we look at this graph for us, isn’t it, is 

whether we scale restriction on properties at a level of low probability 

or at a level of greater likelihood than that, do you agree with that? 10 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the higher order documents give direction on that, in 

particular the RPS? 15 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So again Ms Dawson will come back through that issue.  

Were it not for direction in the higher order documents to be given 20 

effect to, if the position is those documents allow greater license than 

what you may have assumed, would you agree with me that that raises 

the question then about the appropriateness, or otherwise, of non-

complying activity for the high flood hazard management area as 

opposed to other activity classes? 25 

 

MS EVANS:   I am sorry I am just thinking that through. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just putting the question again, I am putting a 

theoretical proposition, and that proposition is; the Higher Order 30 

documents, particularly the regional policy statement, say something 

other than you have understood, in other words give more license to 

manage by way of mitigation for instance. 

 

MS EVANS:   Okay. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, if that is the case would you agree with me that that 

does then for us to consider again the appropriateness of non-

complying activity versus another activity class, for instance restricted 

discretionary?  I am not saying one is more appropriate just that it 40 

raises the question about what is the most appropriate. 

 

MS EVANS:   It does raise the question as to what is most appropriate I agree, 

yes. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  So, Ms Huria? 
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MS HURIA:   Just a quick question, thank you, Ms Evans.  I noticed in your 

list of key documents you used to form your view that you did not 

include the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan, would it have been 

appropriate to do so? 5 

 

MS EVANS:   It probably would have been in hindsight, yes.  I am familiar 

with the iwi management plan but for the purposes of this exercise I did 

not read it. 

 10 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Evans, I do have a few questions for you but 

before I do, thank you for your effort in showing how the Stage 3 20 

provisions would fit inside the Stage 1 provisions and also for your I 

think the sort of comment boxes about how they could be further 

improved, that is very helpful at this stage of our hearing to have that 

starting to come together. 

 25 

MS EVANS:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now, following from the questions from the Judge about the 

high flood hazard area, are you familiar with the changes that were 

made to the regional policy statement under the CERA Act relating to 30 

high flood hazard policy 11.3.1? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, the June last year? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, the June last year one.   35 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, I am, I have got a copy here. 

 

  [11.50 am] 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Could we have that up?   

 

 So I just want you to tell me how you read the application of this policy 

within greater Christchurch and within an existing urban area which, I 

mean, I see to be under 6 of that policy. 45 
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MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And to the extent to which it just requires avoidance of new 

development or whether as the Judge was suggesting, mitigation is 

available? 5 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes; it mentions both avoided or appropriately mitigated. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, you do not read that as a hard avoidance policy as it is 

now amended? 10 

 

MS EVANS:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Appropriate mitigation is possible? 

 15 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I think in answer to questions before you started positing 

what might be appropriate mitigation and in doing that you referred us 

to the relevant policy in Stage 1 of chapter 5.  Can you take us now to 20 

that policy?  

 

 So, in other words, how has that stage 1 decision albeit that it was 

before that amendment, dealt with the question of avoidance or 

potential from mitigation.  Is it B? 25 

 

MS EVANS:   I believe it is 5.2.2.1B. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and when you read that policy do you see there is 

potential not just to avoid all development but to have a policy basis for 30 

considering whether a mitigation might be appropriate or not? 

 

MS EVANS:  Yes, because I think that ties in in terms of where it will increase 

the potential risk to people’s safety, wellbeing and property.  That is 

where mitigation could come in. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   And what sort of mitigation in a high flood hazard area do 

you think could potentially be possible.  I suppose the question is, 

would it be a very rare occasion to be able to work out some mitigation 

possibility in a high flood hazard area or could there be areas given the 40 

extensive nature of these mapped areas where it could well be worked 

through appropriately? 

 

MS EVANS:   I guess it could be on the periphery of the high flood hazard 

management areas.  There may be opportunities for mitigation.   45 
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 In terms of, I guess, the physical mitigation that you could undertake, I 

think Mr Harrington potentially would be able to advise on it in terms 

of the height that you have to get to, to be outside the hazard area. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I think you mentioned before you would need to have 5 

access. 

 

MS EVANS:   Access, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because am I right in thinking that the high flood hazard area 10 

is not just about risk to property - - - 

 

MS EVANS:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - which is more the flood management area but it is also 15 

potential risk to life during a flooding situation. 

 

MS EVANS:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that would need to be able to make sure someone could 20 

leave the property if necessary and get - - - 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - even if they are raised up on their little island, yes.   25 

 

 All right, so does that correspond with your answer to the Judge’s 

question whereby the question of mitigation and whether it might be 

possible and the extent to which it might be possible does go to the 

decisions about activity status? 30 

 

 In other words, does it mean that we need to consider whether non-

complying, in all circumstances for development, is appropriate or 

whether in some circumstances another activity status might be 

appropriate? – I am not saying “what”, but is that a question that is 35 

raised by these policies? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, I guess insofar as the high flood hazard management area 

does not differentiate a sort of tiered levels within that; it is just one 

area.   40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and in some areas those are quite large areas, are they 

not? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes they are. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, so they are alternatives to consider, I guess, in 

terms of activity status. 

 

 The other – and you have answered the question about Mr Butcher’s 

alternative – the other question I want to ask you about this is when 5 

looking at the likelihood of there being a high hazard or whether 

mitigation is appropriate, am I right in thinking that there are two 

matters to consider here in terms of likelihood? 

 

 There is the likelihood of the flood arriving which is the rainfall event 10 

and is that the one where you have said in a high hazard area it is the 

one in 500 year event? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 15 

  [11.55 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, statistics aside, that is the likelihood, it is a one in 

500 year event but when it comes it could well be a big one or it will be 

a big one. 20 

 

MS EVANS:   It will be a big one, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But the other likelihood is the likelihood of the sea level rise 

that the model one in 500 rainfall event is modelled on top of.  Do you 25 

understand enough about the modelling to know that there is a sea level 

rise as an input to the model and then the one in 500 year rain event is 

modelled on top of that? 

 

MS EVANS:   I would have to go back and read the modelling report but my 30 

understanding of it is that it incorporates sea level rise but that that does 

not mean that the level is higher across all high flood management 

areas. 

 

 Obvious, as you move away from the coast that is less of an effect. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but in the coastal high flood hazard areas, especially 

quite near to the coast, the choice of sea level rise applied in the model 

will affect the height of, or the extent of the high flood hazard 

management area. 40 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that is a separate decision about how likely that is than 

the decision about using the one in 500 which comes more directly 45 

from the RPS. 
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MS EVANS:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Your answer to that was “yes” or “no”, or “you do not 

know”? 5 

 

MS EVANS:   I think - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   If it is pushing you beyond your ability to answer, do say. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are not the modelling expert? 

 

MS EVANS:   No I am not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, what I was going to ask you though is in the Council’s 15 

section 32 analysis, do you know if it looked at the options of 

considering different sea level rise options for the modelling to devise 

the extent of the high flood hazard areas? 

 

MS EVANS:   No, not for the high flood hazard areas.  It did not look at 20 

different tiers of sea level rise. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No. 

 

MS EVANS:   No. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   It just used the same sea level rise that it used for the flood 

management area modelling. 

 

MS EVANS:  Yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   But the flood management area rules are quite different, are 

they not? 

 

MS EVANS:   They are. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   They set floor levels really whereas the high flood hazard is a 

“you can or can’t develop” type rule. 

 

MS EVANS:  That is correct. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, in your view as a planner, do you think that given the 

seriousness of the rule that is applied in the high flood hazard and given 

that the Higher Level Policy documents talk about appropriate 

mitigation and whether or not there is an increased risk that testing 45 

different options such as different likelihoods of sea level rise is 
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something that might have been done or, not going to say should have 

been done, but could well have been done when deciding on the 

mapping and the associated strength of the rules. 

 

MS EVANS:   It could have been but I was not involved in preparing the 5 

model.  I have relied on totally on what the model produces and the 

assumptions behind it. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So, I am just exploring these as I go with you too.  Given that 

the choice of sea level rise affects the extent of the high hazard area.  In 10 

other words, the high sea level rise with the rainfall modelled on top of 

it means that it would be a larger area around the periphery of those 

high flood hazard management areas, am I right in thinking that that is 

where there is less likelihood of the flooding getting to? 

 15 

MS EVANS:   That is my understanding but you would have to ask that of 

Mr Harrington. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, do you see that there is possibility within the Higher 

Order Documents for someone making choices under those Higher 20 

Level Documents and the policy that is already established in this Plan 

that there are choices potentially available as to the activity status 

perhaps around the periphery of those higher flood management areas? 

 

MS EVANS:   There could be.  I am just trying to work out how it would work 25 

in practical terms to show where the periphery was on a map. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, you might have to model one sea level rise and then 30 

another sea level rise and think well, in this outer band, maybe there is 

more potential for mitigation or less risk.  I am not saying that we must 

do this, but is that something that is not excluded from being 

considered by the Higher Level documents; that is what I want your 

opinion on? 35 

 

MS EVANS:   No it is not, can I elaborate on that? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, certainly. 

 40 

MS EVANS:   I guess the next level of activity status would be a restricted 

discretionary, and just in terms of the drafting principles generally, I 

think the drafting of a rule for a restricted discretionary activity would 

have to be, I guess, quite comprehensive and in terms of assessing 

against that rule, it would almost bring it up sort of – in other terms, to 45 

a level of a non-complying activity in terms of looking at the effects. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it would exclude – so if it went to restricted 

discretionary, you are saying it would exclude the gateway test,- - - 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - -but the matters that would need to be examined could 

well be the same level of examination as one might do under a non-

complying? 

 10 

MS EVANS:   That is right, in terms of effects, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS EVANS:   And I guess I just also would be mindful of the signal that a 15 

restricted discretionary activity status sends, in terms of whether or not 

it may be consented versus a non-complying activity and how that 

aligns with the policy direction and the use of the word “avoid”. 

 

 I guess what I am trying to say is that you would have to have a really 20 

robust restricted discretionary activity rule to ensure that you were 

looking at effects. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and those being tied into the policies about the aspects 

that are excluded from avoidance? 25 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Where risk is not increased or - - - 

 30 

MS EVANS:   That is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, thank you.   A sort of similar situation arises 

but not to the same extend with the flood ponding management areas an 

before I ask you about the non-complying activity status in those areas, 35 

I just want to take you back to your discussion with 

Mr Hughes-Johnson, so I just want to make sure I am absolutely clear 

on this. 

 

 All the flood ponding areas and also the higher hazard areas, are also 40 

flood management areas? 

 

MS EVANS:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So they do not replace one another, they sit up over the top of 45 

a flood management area? 
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MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And am I right that, say, in the case of a flood ponding area 

and a flood management area that nearly overlap but not quite, they 5 

each have different purposes about the matters they are controlling and 

therefore the rules are quite different? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So am I right thinking that a flood management area is very 

much about keeping the property high and dry and keeping it at a 

higher level? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   But a flood ponding area is about maintaining, I think you 

said flood storage and maintaining that capacity for flood storage? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So just taking you back to what Mr Hughes-Johnson was 

talking about, the exemptions for repair and replacement and 

maintenance of buildings that you have agreed with Mr Thompson in 

the flood ponding area, would exempt those activities from the rules 25 

that might apply to a new building in the flood ponding area.  In other 

words,- - - 

 

MS EVANS:   New is in the sense it was replacing an existing- - - 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, I mean an additional. 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so someone could replace an existing building much the 35 

same, so the capacity, flood storage capacity is not changed, whereas if 

it was a whole additional building it would, but that for that building 

even albeit that it does not need to be considered in terms of flood 

storage, it would still need to be considered under the flood 

management rules in terms of the way the Plan is written at the 40 

moment; the flood management rules would then kick in and you 

would need to look at the height of that building? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, they would. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and that is differentiating those two matters? 
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MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Protecting the property versus protecting the storage? 

 5 

MS EVANS:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, is that consistent with your answers to Mr Hughes-

Johnson?  

 10 

MS EVANS:   I believe so. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so if there was to be a certification process, and I think 

this is the Crown’s matter, if there was to be a certification process to 

do with the flood ponding areas, it would have to go to the matter of 15 

whether or not it affected flood storage and flood capacity? 

 

MS EVANS:   They would. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, whereas if you want a certification to do with your floor 20 

level rise, you look for it under the flood management rule? 

 

MS EVANS:   That is correct. 

 

  [12.05 pm] 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, thank you. 

 

 Now, you did talk – I was just wanting, and I do not know the answer 

to this, what do you see as the Higher Order policy direction for the 30 

non-complying activity status for buildings with new development, 

new buildings, new earthworks, within the flood ponding areas? 

 

MS EVANS:   I cannot recall anything specific in the Canterbury Regional 

Policy Statement, but I guess- - - 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Could you just point us to the right one in the Stage 1 

decision? 

 

MS EVANS:   In the attachment? 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS EVANS:   I think it is 5.2.2.1D. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So that says, “maintain the storage capacity and function of 

flood plains” et cetera? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   And you again talked about the potential – I think you have 

said in your evidence, about the potential from buildings to maybe be 

able to be accommodated around the periphery of these areas where 

there can be compensatory storage provided as part of a built 

development? 10 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I am interested in the extent to which you think the strength 

of that policy plus the potential for mitigation in some parts of the 15 

ponding area, support non-complying activity status? 

 

MS EVANS:   I guess the non-complying activity status comes from that if you 

were having a building in a flood ponding area, that goes against the 

primary objective of the ponding area for storage, and that is why we 20 

have sort of acknowledged that on the periphery, an application for a 

building, may be able to be easily achieved as a non-complying 

activity. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are you saying that within the ponding area, even though the 25 

word is just maintain storage capacity- - - 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - that would be a difficult thing to do to maintain the 30 

storage capacity for the sorts of activities that are stated as being non-

complying other than potentially just around the periphery of those 

areas?  

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   I will ask Mr Harrington if he feels that as well. 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, I guess it is a scale thing, how much space the building 

takes up in terms of the storage as well. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are there some – I cannot remember the rules, but are there 

some additions to existing buildings et cetera that are allowed in those 

flood ponding areas? 

 45 
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MS EVANS:   No, I do not believe there are for the ponding areas.  There is 

the proposed rule for the replacement and repair, and then you can’t 

address your ground floor area. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so - - - 5 

 

MS EVANS:   You are replacing like-for-like. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, you can add to your ground floor area? 

 10 

MS EVANS:   Not if it is in the ponding area, no. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  And the only other thing I just wanted to mention 

to you, is you have recommended in your rebuttal, the potential 

deletion of the tsunami inundation area,- - - 15 

 

MS EVANS:   In the mapping? 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - -the mapping? 

 20 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is mentioned in quite a few rules in the residential zone and 

they come over from the Crown, the directions that were done under 

the CERA Act? 25 

 

MS EVANS:   So I have looked at that and in the residential decision there is 

actually another tsunami map that sits within that chapter which is 

similar, I guess, to the layer that was shown on the Natural Hazards 

map but there is no rules within the Natural Hazards Chapter currently 30 

that relate to the tsunami.    

 

MS DAWSON:   Or in any other chapter that refer you to the planning maps? 

 

MS EVANS:   Not to my knowledge, I believe it is only the – and I have had 35 

this discussion with some of the planners at Council, and they believe it 

is only the one that is now within the Residential Chapter. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that has its own map in that chapter? 

 40 

MS EVANS:   Yes, an appendix. 
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  [12.10 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is good, thank you for that.  I was a bit worried that we 

were going to get rid of the map. 

 5 

MS EVANS:   Okay, sure.   

 

MS DAWSON:   But you were just talking about them being on the planning 

maps themselves. 

 10 

MS EVANS:   For natural hazards, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Natural hazards, yes, which is just another layer. 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  All right, thank you very much, that is all my questions, 

thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple of wrap-up questions now, Ms Evans.  I 20 

wonder if we could put back up the extract from the Parliamentary 

Commissioner for the Environment Report and the graph page, please.   

 

 Now let us get to that graph page, and the bottom graph, please.   

 25 

 Now Ms Evans, you may need to defer to Mr Harrington or someone 

else for this, but looking at the green, black and purple areas, and if I 

was to ask you the question: where would you put the point of 

likelihood in terms of the extent of sea level rise on that graph, from 

what you know, from that other evidence, would you be in a position to 30 

say where that might be? 

 

MS EVANS:   Not right at this very minute, I would have to think quite 

carefully about this, so no, not at this moment. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If other experts can help us on that, and give us a clear 

answer on it, do you know enough about the mapping technology of the 

Plan to know whether or not that could lead to a refinement to the 

mapping, such as to define a zone within which a more permissive 

activity classification could be specified? 40 

 

MS EVANS:   No, not right now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You do not know whether the mapping technology allows 

for that or not, is that why you cannot answer that? 45 
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MS EVANS:   I think that the model could allow for it, for different inputs. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you know anything about how the map – sorry, this is 

a basic question of technology – do you know whether the mapping 

arrangements the Council uses for its zoning maps would be flexible 5 

enough to define a difference between, say, a zone of likelihood, in 

other words higher risk and a zone of less likelihood, but perhaps 

within the realms of low probability where there could be a more 

generous activity class; do you know whether the maps can achieve 

that through proper inputs? 10 

 

MS EVANS:   The maps could achieve that if the model produced the GIS 

layers I guess that differentiated the two areas.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right and that’s where do not have the knowledge, that 15 

is fine. 

 

 Mr Winchester, just signal that, we will be exploring these issues with 

Mr Harrington, but I am mindful that Mr Harrington may rely to some 

extent on for instance Mr Ivamy on this matter. 20 

 

 So depending on where we get to, it may well be that we will make a 

direction for some supplementary evidence to come in on it. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Understood, sir, and no surprise from the line of 25 

questioning, so we will prepare for that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I mean obviously the interest of everyone is to 

ensure we test the most appropriate approach to things, bearing in mind 

all the interest in the room, but we will cross that bridge when we come 30 

to it.   

 

 The Panel appreciates that witnesses are helping to the extent they can, 

it is no criticism of the witnesses, but we do need to drill into these 

issues as part of our job. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Completely understood, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you very much.  Mr Hughes-Johnson, 

any questions arising? 40 

 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No, thank you, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Mr Randal, no?  Okay, Mr Scrase, 45 

any questions arising? 
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MR SCRASE:   No, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Any re-examination, 

Mr Winchester? 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Just a couple of points, with your leave, sir.   

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.10 pm] 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now Ms Evans, you were questioned by my learned 

friend Mr Hughes-Johnson about exemptions in high flood 

management hazard areas and flood ponding management areas, do 

you recall that? 

 15 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you have been asked some questions by 

Ms Dawson about distinctions between the FMA and those other two 

hazard areas. 20 

 

 Now, is it the case or is it your understanding that what Mr Hughes-

Johnson’s clients are asking for is an exemption from FMA or floor 

level requirements as a consequence of the rules that have been agreed 

in the flood ponding management area and high flood management area 25 

notations? 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

MS EVANS:   I think that is what they are seeking by suggesting that the FMA 30 

rules provide an allowance for repair, to replaced buildings to be 

moved to higher ground, which would then within the drafting have to 

link back to the minimum floor level rule.  So I guess exempt, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right, so what is your understanding then as to whether 35 

a minimum floor level rule or standard would apply based on my 

learned friend’s questions of you, would it apply or not? 

 

MS EVANS:   It would apply in so far as the FMA applies. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  And if there was to be an exemption or no 

application of the FMA floor level requirements in the HFMA and 

FPMA, do you understand that, if there would be no standard which 

applies there from an FMA perspective - - - 

 45 

MS EVANS:   Okay. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   - - - do you have a view as to the appropriateness and 

fairness of that outcome? – bearing in mind the different purposes of 

the overlays. 

 5 

MS EVANS:   I do not think there should be an exemption because they are 

serving different purposes.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.   

 10 

MS EVANS:   So if you are moving a building and you are within the FMA I 

think you should be encouraged through a permitted activity to meet 

the minimum floor level.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And is your understanding that that minimum floor 15 

level requirement of the FMA would apply irrespective of whether you 

were moving a building or rebuilding it in the same place? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, in so far as the FMA applies. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And you were asked some questions about 

the possibility of certification in terms of particularly flood ponding 

management areas, Ms Dawson asked you some questions about that.   

Based on your understanding of the inputs and the model, do you have 

a view as to whether it is possible to certify for an outcome as a 25 

permitted activity on a property by property basis in the ponding 

management areas? 

 

MS EVANS:   Sorry, could you just ask that - - -  

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well is it something that can be done on a discrete 

property basis, in terms of certification, or are there broader 

considerations that might apply? 

 

MS EVANS:   There are more considerations that might apply in terms of the 35 

purpose of the ponding area, we are not just talking about not allowing 

building, but it goes further than that in terms of maintaining the flood 

storage capacity of the ponding area, so you would need to look at 

both. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now just onto a different topic; my learned 

friend Mr Randal asked you questions about the repair of critical 

infrastructure and the question of whether earthworks should be 

included or not, and I think your answer was in answer to questions 

from the Panel, that it could be included as an ancillary activity? 45 
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MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Are there any conditions or restrictions that you might 

consider would be necessary if that was to be a permitted activity, or 

have you not thought about that yet? 5 

 

MS EVANS:   I have not thought about it, but I would note that the earthworks 

would be controlled by the FMA anyway, which allows a fairly low 

level of earthworks.  So you would have to link back to that rule.   

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  So is your answer then, that there might be 

other sort of natural controls by virtue of other rules and standards in 

the plan that would impact on that anyway? 

 

MS EVANS:   Unless the repair and rebuild is within the FMA is specifically 15 

provided for, which I would have to go and look at. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, all right, I have probably taken that far enough.  

But obviously it is a drafting issue in terms of how the rule could be 

constructed to accommodate the earthworks component, isn’t it? 20 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, and I guess at the moment it does not touch on earthworks, 

it doesn’t control earthworks further than the FMAs. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, yes, that is helpful.  Thank you, sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester, thank you, Ms Evans, you are free to go 

for the moment and we will see how things go in case we need to call 

on you again at some point but you are free to go. 

 30 

 Is it Mr Butcher next I think, Mr Winchester? 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.20 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It is, sir.  I call Mr Butcher. 35 
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<GEOFFREY VERNON BUTCHER, affirmed [12.20 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.21 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Afternoon, Mr Butcher.  Do you confirm your full name 

is Geoffrey Vernon Butcher? 

 5 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And that you have the qualifications and experience set 

out in your statement of evidence-in-chief? 

 10 

MR BUTCHER:   I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you have prepared only one statement for this 

matter being your evidence-in-chief dated 21 January 2016? 

 15 

MR BUTCHER:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any amendments or additions to that 

statement, Mr Butcher? 

 20 

MR BUTCHER:   No, I do not. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Do you otherwise confirm then that your 

evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 25 

MR BUTCHER:   I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now, you have a summary of your 

evidence which I will ask you to read out and then remain where you 

are and answer any questions. 30 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Thank you.  I am an economist, I was asked to look at the 

economics of the proposed rules for the flood ponding management 

areas and the high flood hazard management areas.  My understanding 

of the rules that they are going to discourage subdivision and new 35 

construction because of the non-complying status it will be difficult and 

expensive to get permission to do these things. 

 

 Generally speaking my role was to look at the costs and benefits of the 

rules compared to an absence of the rules.  As regards the flood pond 40 

management areas there are about 200 hectares of rural land and some 

60 hectares of residential and business land, in the residential there are 

626 properties and there are 13 business properties affected.  I only 

looked at the Cashmere flood pond management area, that is Cashmere 

including the Henderson Basin area 45 
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 My understanding is that Cranford was covered by a number of other, I 

don’t know the term, but there were various other rules that meant it 

wasn’t worth looking at that and I wasn’t asked to look at Styx. 

 

 The benefits of the rules generally for flood ponding management areas 5 

are that there will be reduced flooding.  DHI modelled the water levels 

in various flood events 10, 50 and 200 year events, with and without 

the rules, and we assumed that without the rules filling would take 

place and houses would be built.  So this would remove the storage 

capacity of the flood pond management area if we didn’t have rules, 10 

that was the modelling assumed that. 

 

 The DHI models produced various depths of water at various places in 

the lower catchment.  NIWA took those depths and, using a model 

which they have developed called “RiskScape”, they estimated the 15 

damage costs.  The difference in damage costs was the benefit of the 

rules so if you have the rules you get less damage than if you don’t 

have the rules. 

 

 Using the standard modelling technique for flood damage I estimated 20 

the annual damage at being about one and a half million dollars, that is 

the additional flood damage, and if you look at table 1 on page 7 of my 

report, at the bottom right it gives some figures showing the likely net 

present values of the damage at various discount rates.  I would 

probably focus on a 5 percent discount rate which has a net present 25 

value of $30 million and interestingly, whether we think of looking at 

100 years or 200 years, the answers are the same.  A 5 percent discount 

rate effectively says that we are not too concerned about things past 

100 years.   

 30 

 If we go down to a 3 percent discount rate, which people have proposed 

for social rates of time preference as they call it, you do get a slight 

difference but again it is quite small, the numbers are bigger but the 

differences between 100 and 200 years are quite small. 

 35 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

 Those estimates of flood damage and the benefits hence of the ponding 

area don’t include non-quantifiable items such as a loss of access, 

personal injury and personal stress for both flood and non-flood events.  40 

People who live downstream in areas that are likely to be flooded 

worry a lot about potential events even when it is just heavy rain and 

there is no flooding occurs they still worry, so those costs are excluded. 

 

 So those are the benefits which I estimated to be the net present value, 45 

as I said $30 million, split between rural land about $23 million and 
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residential land 7 million.  The figures are probably a bit higher for the 

rural and a bit lower for the residential, I have just split them according 

to the area of those two sorts of land uses but in fact the rural land is 

probably a bit lower lying and hence has slightly greater ponding 

capacity but we didn’t model it to that level. 5 

 

 There are costs associated with these rules and really it is to do with a 

loss of potential use of the land for various purposes.  I looked at some 

values of land in the ponding area and adjacent rural land, which is 

within the city boundary and could potentially become sub-dividable, 10 

and the differences were about $100,000 a hectare.  Well, the 

differences were a bit greater than that but part of the difference is 

because of differences in the quality of land, lower lying et cetera and I 

assess the likely difference of the rules as causing a loss of value of 

about $100,000 a hectare which over the 200 hectares of rural land is 15 

about $20 million.   

 

 So for the rural land the costs are $20 million and the benefits just for 

physical damage are, to the best of our estimates, $23 million plus there 

are those various non-quantifiable benefits.  So I would conclude that, 20 

at least for the rural land, the rules lead to an efficient use of resources. 

 

 The outcome is not so clear with regard to the residential land.  As I 

said there are 626 sections and the benefits of around $7 million, which 

might be anywhere between 5 and 10 million, equate to 8 to 16 25 

thousand dollars per property which for a residential property is a fairly 

small number given the restriction in the context I guess of the 

restrictions that are likely to be placed on it, you can’t subdivided it and 

you can’t build on it.  When I say “can’t” it is not that you can’t it has 

just been made quite difficult. 30 

 

 Included in the area are 10 sections which are currently vacant and 107 

which would potentially otherwise be sub-dividable because they are 

more than 900 square metres so you could split them in two and have 

each greater than 450 square metres. 35 

 

 Probably the notable thing about regulation and the flood pond 

management areas is that there is a clear externality here.  The people 

who will suffer the costs are the owners of the land in the flood 

ponding area.  The people who will get the benefits are people 40 

downstream who will no longer be flooded.  So from an economics 

perspective, using our jargon, it is an externality.  The people who get 

the benefits differ from those who suffer the costs and regulation is 

usually a pretty appropriate way to deal with those kind of situations.   

 45 
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 If I shift on to the high flood hazard management areas, and I apologise 

to the Panel for trying to get my sixpence in too earlier, when you 

asked a question of another witness.  There are about 7,000 affected 

properties, 6,390 residential.  Of those 3,400 are vacant generally 

speaking they are in the red zone area.  1,300 would be sub-divisible 5 

under existing rules, they are greater than 900 square metres, and 2,100 

would be potentially sub-divisible because they are greater than 

800 square metres.  So there is a large number of currently vacant and 

potentially sub-divisible properties that will be affected by the rules. 

 10 

 The benefits I could not model.  I can assess roughly the damage in a 

500 year event with a metre of water, and I refer to some earlier 

research that had been done by Simon Harris, and the answer was the 

damage with a metre of water through the house is about $100,000 per 

site, home and contents.  That excludes injury, death and various other 15 

non-quantifiable effects. 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

 But we do not know the depth and the current in lesser events.  So we 20 

know it in this extreme event but to work out an average annual 

damage and a net present value we need to know the likely losses in the 

much more frequent events because typically you get a big number. 

 

 I mean, if we take that $100,000, well, if it is only going to happen 25 

every five years that, on its own, is only $2,000 so it is the more 

frequent events that usually lead you to the majority of the flood 

damage and because the Council modellers were not able to provide 

any information on those depths and levels we could not use RiskScape 

to get the levels of damage. 30 

 

 Not only that, when I talk to the RiskScape modeller he said, well, his 

base data includes house floor levels prior to the earthquakes so the 

data just was not there.  Regardless of the time I did not have available, 

the underlying data is not there although I know the Council has got a 35 

significant project to try and rectify that deficiency over the next year 

or so. 

 

 I estimated very roughly the costs at being perhaps $80,000 per site so 

that is because a site in that area is worth something of the order of 40 

$100,000.  Sites in those areas tend to be worth less for two reasons; 

one is because they can be flooded so people will naturally pay less, 

and secondly, because they often have poor geotech characteristics 

which means that to build you have got expensive foundations and if 

you are looking at two different sites you will discount the site and 45 

value which has expensive foundations. 



 Page 63 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

 

 So, if you cannot build on the land it might have the value of maybe 

$20,000 for some alternative use and those alternative uses can include 

wetland areas to treat storm water runoff.  You will be aware of the 

poor quality of water in, for example, the lower Avon.  If we are going 5 

to do something about that we are probably going to have to use some 

wetland areas to treat the water so there are other potential uses but 

nonetheless the loss in value could be of the order of $80,000 a site.   

 

 As I said, I can give you some rough estimate of the cost but I cannot 10 

estimate the likely benefits of the rule. 

 

 I did suggest that we might propose an alternative rule which was to 

put in place some minimum floor area which would require you to 

build up to site and I suggested that might be $15,000 to $20,000 a site 15 

which would probably avoid most of the damage.  Again, we would 

have to do modelling to assess that including the deaths and injuries 

and it is a much lower cost but as Mr Harrington notes in his evidence, 

and as I did not point out in mine – in fact, I did not think of it at the 

time – the higher floor levels and the filling in of sections would 20 

displace the water somewhere else so we might get higher flooding 

elsewhere.  Again, that would require further modelling. 

 

 The damage in the higher flood hazard management areas is not an 

externality because the people who suffer the costs, the landowners, are 25 

the same people as those who get the benefits, the landowners whose 

houses do not get flooded and there are a few assumptions in there like 

perfect insurance markets.  So, we assume that the insurers will load 

the premiums appropriately and the rest of us will not have to pay for 

their damage. 30 

 

 And so if there is no externality you might wonder, or I certainly 

wonder, do we need this regulation?  It is certainly arguably less 

justifiable but I think there are two reasons for it.  One is that the 

community, in fact, may have to pay; that we may end up with an 35 

externality and the red zone is a very good example of an externality. 

 

 We have all paid for the fact that houses were developed where, in 

retrospect, we would rather they had not been so although the people 

on the land were the people who suffered the loss, eventually we all 40 

suffered the loss.  So, to some extent, there is an externality; at least, 

the potential for one. 

 

 And I think the other thing is that Councils have a duty of care, if you 

like, to try and adjust for people’s ignorance.  You know, people are 45 

not good at knowing all this stuff and to a degree they rely on Council 
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to tell them so again, regulation may be appropriate to overcome 

people’s, I will call it unawareness of the true facts. 

 

 I suggested that there might be some social impacts.  If you are talking 

about 7,000 sections, the 6,400 residential ones, 3,500 of which are 5 

vacant and about 2,000 of which could be sub-divisible, that is a 

significant number in terms of our annual demand for sections and that 

will probably affect section prices. 

 

  [12.35 pm] 10 

 

 The concentration of sections in the high flood management zones in 

Christchurch on the eastern side are likely to affect rates of recovery on 

the east; quite a few people have written about the problems of 

recovery on the east and the lack of section availability and certainly, in 15 

some of the work I am doing with the Community Housing Trust, I 

have become aware of the increasing scarcity of sections on that side of 

town.   

 

 Also the effects will arguably fall most on those on lower incomes 20 

because these are often lower value sections, certainly not in all cases 

but quite a lot of them.  I do not think it will have any effects on the 

levels of economic activity in terms of stopping us building houses, for 

example.  There are plenty of sections in various parts of the city which 

are available for building on. 25 

 

 I ended my evidence talking about the limitations.  In the flood ponding 

management area at Cashmere we only modelled three events, 10, 50 

and 200 years and from my perspective, it would have been nicer to 

model more events.  When you model those events you end up doing 30 

some interpolation and you assume a sort of a simple straight line 

interpolation which may or may not be appropriate but I concluded that 

it was unlikely to affect my conclusions regarding rural land.   

 

 We could have separately, and could in future, separately model the 35 

effects of including the rural land but excluding the residential land 

from the rules and as I said in my evidence, I am not at all certain that 

the rules for the residential land are justifiable.  It is not clear and we 

could do some work to get a better handle on that.   

 40 

 I would also point out that the modelling work that was done for that 

excluded any sea level rise.  It excluded climate change so in that sense 

the saved damage is probably a lower estimate because we expect those 

floods to become more frequent as climate change accelerates. 

 45 
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 The other thing I point out is that the economic analysis ignores risk 

aversion.  It assumes we are risk neutral, and I think the community is 

quite risk averse regarding events which affect large numbers and have 

severe consequences including death.  You know, we lost 185 people, I 

think it was, in the Christchurch earthquake.  At standard 5 

Ministry of Transport, around about $3m of life, that is 550 million 

people which is one to two percent of the physical damage and if we 

had been asked as a community if we had to pay an extra one to 

two percent for recovery and we got all those people back, would that 

be outcome? 10 

 

 People would probably say, “Yep, go for it.”  So, I think that especially 

when you get large numbers of people dying, the community is very 

risk averse and I think the Council is trying to reflect that when it 

makes these fairly risk-averse decisions, I suppose. 15 

 

 The other thing is that my suggestions, for example, about raising the 

floor level as being a potential solution, that ignores any other RMA or 

planning laws.  That is not my area of expertise.   

 20 

 Ms Dawson has already talked to the previous witness trying to tease 

out whether or not those things can be done and it goes over the top of 

my head.  I think I am glad I do not have to deal with it but obviously, 

that is not something I am looking at and I am happy to answer any 

questions. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Butcher.  Now, questioning, Mr Scrase? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR SCRASE [12.38 pm] 

 30 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, well, actually my questions are pretty much answered 

from your presentation, thank you.  So, my questions I think you have 

already covered but just to clarify you have estimated the total number 

of properties in the high flood hazard management areas 6,400, is that 

correct? 35 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Residential properties, yes. 

 

MR SCRASE:   I mean, you probably have not calculated the total value of 

equity there but we can maybe make some ballpark figures.  Have you 40 

got any idea of what that is?  No, second question was relating to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In order for the transcript that was a no? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Well, it was - - - 45 
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MR SCRASE:   No, okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, sorry, I just need to get the transcript correct. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Sorry, your question was: what is roughly the capital value 5 

of those - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, the equity, not the capital value. 

 

MR SCRASE:   (INDISTINCT 4.48) median house price and multiply it by 10 

6,000? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Well, a whole lot of them are vacant so it is not going to be 

easy but if it is an average of $300,000 a site x 7,000 sites, you are 

talking about 210 million, is it. 15 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, thank you.  So in the second part, my questioning was 

around the cost of raising fauna, and you also indicated around 20 

50/20,000 per property? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes 

 

MR SCRASE:   So that is correct, okay.  There is a third question; in your 25 

evidence which you did not present now, but you said there was an 

estimated 80,000 loss on a section that cannot be built on, being the 

difference between the value as a building site and as a reserve or other 

asset, is that correct? 

 30 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR SCRASE:   I am just interested to know, how we may realise that 

difference if we, you know for example if you have a large rural area, it 

may be bought by a third party like the Crown, but is there any – have 35 

we explored any mechanisms for how that might actually happen? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   I am sorry, is your question how we realise that $20,000 

worth of value, or - - -  

 40 

MR SCRASE:   Sorry, I think it was 80,000 you said, that was the difference 

between the value as a building site and the value of some other asset. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Well the value – the loss of value will accrue to the current 

owner of the land, whoever that person is.  So when the rules come into 45 

effect and everybody becomes aware of the rules, the section value 
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declines, people will say, “Well there is no point in buying this at a 

$100,000, I cannot do anything with it”/ 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes. 

 5 

MR BUTCHER:   So once the rules are confirmed and people become aware of 

exactly what the rules mean and it is possible that the rules will change 

become less draconian, but the loss of value will accrue to the person 

who owns the property at that time and of which $3,500 currently the 

property of the Crown in the red zone. 10 

 

MR SCRASE:   Right, okay.  I think that answers my question, thank you. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Okay, thank you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Scrase, I will just check for Panel 

questions, Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions thank you, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Butcher, just if you are able to answer the 

question – this is about the number of properties, just to make sure I am 

right – the 6,400 residential properties in the high hazard area, they are 

all over the city, are they not? – do you know that, there are pockets of 30 

- - -  

 

MR BUTCHER:   I do not exactly where the pockets are, I asked the Council 

to give me a print out of all the lists, so it is not an estimate, this is off 

their rating data that the GIS people included everything in the high 35 

flood hazard area, but – and I know they are concentrated on pockets 

but I could not tell you exactly where those pockets are. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so you do not know how many of those properties are 

near in the east? 40 

 

MR BUTCHER:   No, I do not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and therefore you would not know how many of the 

ones in the east are the red zone ones? 45 

 



 Page 68 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

MR BUTCHER:   No I do not, sorry. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, all right, thank you.  Now just looking at the benefits of a 

rule that prevents or avoids development on say a vacant section within 

this high flood hazard area, so you have worked out or you have had 5 

difficulty doing that as - - -  

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes, I cannot - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - what you have said – yes, you cannot do that, but what 10 

you were trying to do was look at the benefits in terms of avoided 

damage to property. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes, that is what I would want to do and that is what we did 

in the flood pond management area. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   So the difference between a flood pond management area, or 

one of the differences as I understand it from the Regional Policy 

Statement, is that the high flood hazard areas – high hazard areas – are 

areas where there is potential for floods to be so deep or so fast moving 

that there is potential for injury or loss of life? 25 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I mean you have not attempted to look at the benefits in 

terms of those to quantify or put any sort of measure around those 30 

benefits in these high flood hazard areas? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   No I have not done.  Interestingly when I talked to NIWA 

about the potential capabilities of their “riskscape model”, he said that 

they can, provided I give them currents and depths, they are able to 35 

estimate those damages as well – the value of loss of life obviously 

would be assuming three million dollars per life or whatever. 

 

 But they have – their model is able to estimate, not only physical 

damage, but loss of life and injury, so he tells me – but because we did 40 

not have the data on depths or flood velocities, both of which he would 

need to make those estimates, he was not able to make those estimates. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So comparing say the benefits for loss of life in an area where 

flood ponds versus an area of high hazard which has to be of a certain 45 

depth or velocity to qualify as a high hazard area, is that something that 
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would be – that would be a greater benefit, even if it is unquantifiable - 

- -  

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 5 

MR BUTCHER:   A greater proportional benefit do you mean? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Proportional benefit in an area where there is a high flood 

hazard - - -  

 10 

MR BUTCHER:   I think undoubtedly. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - compared with say a ponding area? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   The ponding area is, there is no flow worth talking about, 15 

and my understanding is that the, the rate of ponding is comparatively 

slow, you know it is going to happen.  I did have a discussion with 

people in the Council as to, did they have any knowledge of how bad 

the injuries would be, deaths in the high flood hazard areas, and their 

answer was, “No, very uncertain”, for example when we tell people 20 

that we think the Waimakariri is going to breach, what will they do? 

How will they react? We simply do not know. 

 

 Whereas in – well, NIWA with their flood management model thinks 

that they have got some experience from somewhere in the world 25 

presumably to help them estimate that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So although this is something that potentially should or could 

be taken into account, that work has not been progressed - - -  

 30 

MR BUTCHER:   Not from the economic perspective. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   No. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you.  I think that is all my questions, thank 

you very much. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Thank you. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Butcher, all my matters have been 

covered, I will just check if there are any questions arising.   

 

 Mrs Scrase, any questions arising from the Panel’s questions?  45 

Mr Winchester, any questions or re-examination? 
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MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, thank you, no. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much for your assistance and for your 

very clear and comprehensive summary. 5 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Thank you very much. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.46 pm] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, so Ms Saunders next I think? 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir, I will ask Ms Bazalo to call Dr Saunders - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Dr Saunders, I am sorry. 15 

 

 Mr Lewis, just a flag to you, that I think the reality is, we will probably 

get through this evidence but we will not get to Ms Brookland until 

after lunch. 

20 
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<WENDY SUSAN ANNE SAUNDERS, affirmed [12.47 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS BAZALO [12.47 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just go ahead, thank you. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Thank you, Dr Saunders, could you please confirm for the 5 

Panel that your full name is Wendy Susan Anne Saunders? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And could you also please confirm that you have prepared a 10 

brief of evidence-in-chief dated 2 February 2016 and a brief of rebuttal 

evidence dated 11 February 2016 in relation to this hearing? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, I have. 

 15 

MS BAZALO:   Could you also please confirm that you have the qualifications 

and experience as referred to in that evidence which is actually set out 

in your evidence-in-chief for the Stage 1 Natural Hazards hearing? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Saunders, I might get you to direct yourself to the 

microphone - - -  

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Sorry. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - so the people out the back will pick it up. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence or 

rebuttal evidence? 30 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   No. 

 

MS BAZALO:   Could you please confirm then that your evidence is true and 

correct? 35 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MS BAZALO:   And would you please remain and provide a brief summary 

for the Panel and answer any questions that they may have. 40 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Okay, so based on the evidence that I have presented, I 

have had further dialogue with Ms Evans at the Council and 

Mr Thompson for the Case family, and we have just relatively minor 

areas of fine tuning, as discussed in the Crown’s opening submission, 45 

being around the strategic objectives, getting them more aligned, the 
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earthworks for critical infrastructure which has been discussed and the 

certification of minimum ground levels. 

 

 Thank you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Right, let’s see, Mr Hughes-Johnson I think. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR HUGHES-JOHNSON [12.48 pm] 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you, sir. 10 

 

 Ms Saunders, happily you have had a, I think profitable dialogue with 

Mr Thompson in relation to the certification issue, have you not? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 15 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And I think, am I correct in saying that a number 

of the matters which you raise in your rebuttal evidence at 

paragraph 3.10 – If you could have a look at that – I think there were 

four matters there, were there not? 20 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Now have you had the advantage, have you not, 

of seeing the latest iteration of Mr Thompson’s suggested 25 

amendments? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes.  And I think, am I right in saying that, some 30 

of the amendments or some of your concerns are met by the 

amendments, is that correct? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 35 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Now the starting point I think is, and you said so 

in your rebuttal evidence that you endorse the extension of the floor 

level certification regime to various zones subject to flooding risk, you 40 

endorse that proposal, paragraph 3.7 of your rebuttal. 

 

 And if I understand it, your position about, just speaking generally, the 

regime, the certification regime proposed by Mr Thompson, is that it is 

capable of being sufficiently certain to be lawful and consistent with 45 

other rules in the Natural Hazards section.  Is that right? 
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DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right, so his Honour commented I think at the 

beginning of this hearing that further consultation was possible, and I 5 

think I understood him correctly, as between experts.  Do you in regard 

to what you have seen from Mr Thompson, think that there is any 

further room for agreement in relation to those matters which were 

previously of concern to you, having regard to what Mr Thompson has 

now proposed? 10 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, I think – in principle as far as having the certification 

regime, that is okay, and our main concern as outlined in particular was 

that there would be no – my understanding is it is for the ground level 

above the flood area, and so therefore the flood storage capacity should 15 

not invariably affect it. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right.  All right, well just looking at 3.10A, one 

of your concerns was that the identified area of ground needed to be 

explicitly stated, I think that has been dealt with satisfactorily now has 20 

it not? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, I think it has. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   In the proposed amendment.  I wonder, sir, if I 25 

could be forgiven for handing out the copies of Mr Thompson’s 

evidence because it has attached to it the latest iteration of his 

suggested changes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine. 30 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   So is this the evidence filed or is there any update 

on that? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   This is the summary, not – by summary, on the 35 

front it says “Corrections”, that is the summary he will be presenting 

when he gives his evidence and just go to exhibit A and you will see 

there the latest iteration of the particular provisions, there is a key, you 

see there on that page, the key, the specific relief sought, but no 

page number, but it is exhibit A to that document, and you will see as 40 

you go through that document there is different colour coding 

depending on what is proposed, but this represents the latest iteration 

which Dr Saunders has now seen, and I am referring now to the 

certification regime which is set out on  - - - 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is headed 5.8.6.1B Minimum ground level certification. 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, that is it.  So that is no longer a problem, A, 

is that right? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, that is covered, the area of the ground. 5 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right now, just one sort of overriding point and 

that is that you understand do you not that this is a certification regime 

which in respect of building levels has already been approved in 

decision number 6 of this Panel, so it is just a certification regime.  It is 10 

not intended, and you understand this I take it, it is not intended to 

change the substantive rights or liabilities et cetera, it is not a 

substantive document and it is not a policy document, you understand 

that? 

 15 

DR SAUNDERS:   It is a certification regime similar to other certification 

regimes within the- - - 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, and there are two issues really when you are 

looking at the context in which the certification regime operates.  20 

Firstly, whether there should be a building in the flood management 

area or not which is nothing to do with the certification, and then, well, 

the second issue which is well, can the certification regime operate in 

the way that Mr Thompson intends it. 

 25 

 And I think, and I am questioning you in relation to that second issue, 

so in relation to B, the provision does not expressly, and this is your 

second concern, does not expressly include a proviso that flood storage 

capacity is not to be affected. 

 30 

  [12.55 pm] 

 

 Because we are only talking here about certification processes and it is 

only involving a technical assessment that should not any longer be a 

problem should it, because the substantive matters are all dealt with by 35 

reference to policy and other rules, not the certification rules? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, and the fact that the certification would be for a 

ground level above the flood rule, that storage capacity should not be 

affected because the ground level that the house would be built on 40 

would be above that level. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   That’s right, so it follows, does it not, that it 

cannot affect the flood storage capacity if it is above that level, but that 

is not really your – I think that is not what you are really talking about 45 

here, we are talking here about certainty and the ability of the 
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certification process to be applied with clarity and without uncertainty.  

That is what your evidence is about, is it not? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:    Yes, it is just that B is around just ensuring that the flood 

storage capacity is not decreased. 5 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right, but the point I made to you is looking 

purely at the certification regime, do you accept now in the light of the 

questions I put to you, that you do not need to be concerned about that 

looking purely at the certification regime.  And that comment applies as 10 

well to C, does it not?    

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is your answer to that yes or no, Dr Saunders? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, yes, I understand that. 15 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right, and also to D, because that is talking about 

transferring a flood risk et cetera, again that is the same, that is a 

substantive matter which is not intended to be the subject of the 

certification regime, you accept that now I take it? 20 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, sorry, going back to 3.10C around the natural ground 

levels, it would just be – my point there was just ensuring that there 

was no earthworks that raised above the permitted status, earthworks 

which raised, for instance, building a platform up for instance, above 25 

the natural level which would then have an effect on the flood storage. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right, but there is one proviso that you have 

got to take into account there isn’t there, in that there is provision 

already in the Plan for lawful filling? 30 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   That is right. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   So if the filling – you can say natural ground level 

but you also have got to say, or ground which has been lawfully filled, 35 

if it has been lawfully filled then you do not have to go with natural 

ground levels being lawfully filled? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes.  If it is earthworks that met that permitted activity. 

 40 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right.  So just summarising the position and 

looking at the latest iteration of Mr Thompson, what areas – now we 

have had this dialogue – what areas do you see as still needing 

refinement, if any, are there any? 

 45 
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DR SAUNDERS:   I think as far as the principle of the certification regime that 

has been proposed goes, it addresses the concerns. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you, thank you, sir, there is just one point I 

should make and that is that my learned friend, Mr Randal, raised with 5 

me an issue, and I think I put the Crown’s position as being supportive 

and I do not wish to mislead this body, it is effectively not in 

opposition and I think that might be putting the matter more fairly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Whether that makes any difference I don’t know 

but I do accept that criticism. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Hughes-Johnson recording that.  15 

Mr Winchester you estimated five minutes, do you think you will be 

within that? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I think so, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just proceed and I do not think there are many 

Panel questions to follow so we might just conclude things on this 

witness before lunch. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I will do my best. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Just following on, Dr Saunders, from questions from my 

friend, Mr Hughes-Johnson, do I understand it to be the case in regard 

to certification in the ponding management areas, you are not saying 

that in every instance you can certify without looking at the issue of 30 

storage capacity? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And so it must be the case that if you are certifying, you 35 

have to look at whether there has been some land use or some part of 

the proposal that might impact on storage capacity? 

 

  [1.00 pm] 

 40 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, so my understanding is that the ground level would 

need to be above that flood storage capacity level. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Because there might be some instances, for example, 

through the creation of foundations or raising building platforms, where 45 

you naturally are going to impact on storage capacity?   
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DR SAUNDERS:   If that was happening below that flood storage capacity 

level, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, that is helpful.  I just want to move to the 5 

question of inclusion of earthworks for repair of critical infrastructure 

and you have heard questions this morning about that issue. 

 

 So essentially, do I understand your position to be that it is a necessary 

part of the repair of the infrastructure and therefore needs to be 10 

captured in the rule?  

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, I mean it sits well within that.  It is in a convoluted 

way still in there for roading, but I think it provides a more concise 

activity status, the permitted activity status having earthworks in there.   15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and you understand Ms Evans perspective is that 

the rule does not deal with earthworks, earthworks is dealt with 

elsewhere so therefore it is possibly duplicating or creating some 

confusion, do you understand the basis for that concern? 20 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   I do understand the basis for that concern but if anything, I 

think it provides clarity for what can be done as a permitted activity for 

that critical infrastructure, and it also gives effect to those policies 

regarding critical infrastructure. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And if earthworks as an ancillary activity 

was to be included within the scope of the rule, matters such as – or 

standards - it might be appropriate to apply standards to the nature of 

the earthworks to ensure that they are appropriate? 30 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And that occurred in Stage 1, did it not, with regard to 

earthworks for infrastructure on the slope instability areas, in terms of 35 

volume of earthworks?   

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And possibly things like finished ground level could be 40 

considered and applied as a standard? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And the final matter was with regard to 

permitted activity status for earthworks and this issue of monitoring 

and certainty in terms of application of the permitted activity standards. 

 

 Mr Randal in opening suggested that it is not potentially a major issue 5 

for the Crown as enforcement and monitoring is a Council concern.   

 

 Is that your position as well? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   It is.  I mean, my main concern was 10 years is a very long 10 

time period and there can be changes in land ownership and it is very 

difficult to perhaps keep track of what earthworks have been done or 

not done.  And looking at proposal 8 around the earthworks, some of 

the timeframes had been reduced there for similar reasons, or had been 

proposed to be reduced.  But if the Council are confident that they can 15 

use LIDAR to monitor that, I am happy with that.   

 

 Just acknowledging that LIDAR is expensive and I do not know if the 

Council have a monitoring regime or a plan for undertaking LIDAR 

within that five or 10 year period.  So as long as there is some sort of 20 

monitoring regime with the purposes for regularly maybe, you know, 

whatever that is, 10 or so years, flying LIDAR and then actually having 

the resources to take that LIDAR and process it and interpret it, then I 

am okay with that. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, because you acknowledge that your 

alternative solution could lead to high volumes of earthworks on an 

annual basis and therefore unintended. 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, I mean, it was not perfect but it was trying to say well 30 

you would be more aware if there was major earthworks going on 

within a one year period than over a 10 year period. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, and do I take it from your answer to my 

questions, that the more important issue is to ensure that there is no 35 

unintended effects as opposed to ease of monitoring enforcement? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Correct. 

 

  [1.05 pm] 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And when you thought about this issue and 

came up with your alternative proposal, did you seek any hydrological 

input or expert hydrological advice as to the possible consequences of 

the different approach? 45 
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DR SAUNDERS:   No, I did not. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, Dr Saunders, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Winchester.  Ms Huria? 5 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 10 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No thank you, sir 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Dr Saunders, just a couple of quick questions.  15 

Following on from what Mr Winchester has just been talking to you 

about, about the alternative to the 10 cubic metres over a 10 year 

period.  I think you said to him that your solution would be potentially 

10 cubic metres every year or some alternative number which 

accumulatively could end up with more filling or excavation, and one 20 

of your responses to that concern was to add in another control which 

was – I think I am in the right place – “finished ground level would not 

impeded the flow of surface water.” 

 

 Do you accept that that is bringing in a discretionary control that in 25 

itself has problems with implementation in terms of as a standard for a 

permitted activity? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, I have taken that from some existing permitted 

activity standards, so there is - - - 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, well we may have to look at those as well. 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   But in your opinion is there a level of discretion involved in 

working out whether finished ground level does not impeded the flow 

of surface water, that is difficult to implement in itself as part of a 

permitted activity standard, I take it? 

 40 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Just back to the question of earthworks 

for critical infrastructure in the higher flood hazard management areas.  

Your suggestion is if you add the words, ‘including earthworks’ into 45 

that permitted rule for the repair, rebuild and maintenance of critical 
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infrastructure.  Do you accept that those earthworks themselves would 

still need to meet the controls in the flood management area in terms of 

the amount of earthworks that could or could not be undertaken? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, and they are quite small. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So although slipping the word ‘earthworks’ into that 

permitted activity, might give some clarity in the hazard area, you are 

not anticipating that it would override the other earthworks controls in 

the underlying flood management area? 

 15 

DR SAUNDERS:   No, I mean – because it is for the maintenance.  It is just 

that if there has been a flood or something and they need to maintain 

the road that there is enough leeway for them to do that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But are you anticipating that that permitted activity – because 20 

given that a high flood hazard area always has a flood management 

area underlying it, is your suggestion that putting the word 

‘earthworks’ into the permitted activity category of the high flood 

hazard, would override the controls on earthworks in the underlying 

flood management area? 25 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   I had not really thought about that actually. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because I think that is what Ms Evans is saying, well 

earthworks are actually covered in that other set of rules? 30 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Covered in that other section.  I mean I think that there is a 

possibility that more earthworks would be required or could potentially 

be required after an event than what those permitted activity allowances 

are. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   There is a permitted activity for the filling of excavation 

associated with utilities or the repair, replacement or maintenance of 

utilities, which has got no standards attached to it at all? 

 40 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, and utilities do not cover all critical infrastructure and 

so that is why there is the filling or excavation for the maintenance or 

upgrade of existing roads on a legal road, so that covers roading.  But 

yes, there is that subtle differences between utilities and critical 

infrastructure. 45 

 



 Page 82 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

MS DAWSON:   So what is it that you are suggesting, are you suggesting that 

all earthworks for the repair and maintenance of critical infrastructure 

should be permitted activities irrespective of any other rules that say in 

the FMA, is that what you are wanting? 

 5 

DR SAUNDERS:   For the maintenance and repair I would say yes. 

 

  [1.10 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but you accept that the way you have put that into that 10 

particular rule would not necessarily do that when there are other rules? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   When there are those ones, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  And then my final question, and I will 15 

have to ask Mr Thompson this, I am not sure, in the flood ponding 

areas there is this question of this certification for floor level height.  

Do you know why that rule might be at all helpful when there is 

already a certification rule for floor level height in the FMA set of 

rules? 20 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   No I do not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do you think there is any need for that rule? 

 25 

DR SAUNDERS:   I think the floor level certification process could cover that 

off. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the FMA rules? 

 30 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   The general FMA rules. 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Because it is the floor level that is the main driver here. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if you are wanting to make sure that you are permitted in 

terms of your floor level having them dealt with under the certification 

process, if that is possible? 

 40 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes, because if you have got a natural - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Higher bit of land. 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   - - - higher level then your floor levels should be up higher 45 

anyway. 
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MS DAWSON:   Easily certifiable? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   And that would all be covered under the general flood 

management area certification rules? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   And in your view does not need to come into the floor 

ponding rules? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   And I think in answer to a question from Mr Winchester you 

accepted that by trying to put into that set of rules brings with it the 

complications regarding whether or not that filling for – whether or not 

in order to achieve that floor level might have implications in ponding 

in capacity? 20 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, thank you for that.  Those are all my questions. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I do not have any questions Dr Saunders, thank you.  I 

will just check, Mr Hughes-Johnson, any questions from you? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No thank you sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Hughes-Johnson, you may want to confer 35 

with your witness on those last set of questions from Ms Dawson, 

which she said she would test, just a thought that you might want to 

confer with him on that matter.  Obviously feel free to lead him on 

those matters if you wish as well. 

 40 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you Dr Saunders, you are free to go. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.12pm] 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   We will come back in here at 2.00 pm. 

 

ADJOURNED [1.12 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.59 pm] 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  So Ms Brookland is the next witness? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, Ms Brookland, sir. 

10 
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<IRIS BROOKLAND, affirmed [1.59 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Just when you are ready, Mr Winchester. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.00 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Do you confirm your full name is Iris 5 

Brookland? 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And that you hold the qualifications and experience set 10 

out in your evidence-in-chief and in your previous evidence presented 

to the Panel? 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   Yes. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And you have prepared two statements of 

evidence, Ms Brookland, for this particular matter, the first being your 

evidence-in-chief dated 21 January 2016 and you have also prepared a 

rebuttal statement dated 11 February 2016? 

 20 

MS BROOKLAND:   That is correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Do you have any amendments or additions 

to those statements? 

 25 

MS BROOKLAND:   No. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you.  Do you confirm then that those 

statements are to the best of your knowledge and belief true and 

correct? 30 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  You have a summary of your evidence 

which I will ask you to read out to the Panel please and remain where 35 

you are and answer any questions, thank you. 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   Okay, thanks.  Good afternoon.  My full name is Iris 

Brookland.  I hold the position of planning engineer for storm water at 

the Council, I have been in this position since January 2012.   40 

 

 I hold a bachelor’s degree in environmental engineering from the 

University of Applied Science in Lübeck in Germany and a master’s 

degree in applied science environmental management from Lincoln 

University in New Zealand.   45 
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 I have interpreted flood models and carried out the majority of the 

flood hazard mapping for the proposed replacement district plan.  I 

have been engaged by the Christchurch City Council to give evidence 

in relation to the mapping of the flood management areas, the flood 

ponding management areas and the high flood hazard management 5 

areas.  I have also previously provided evidence to the hearings Panel 

in the natural hazards Stage 1 hearing. 

 

 Now my highlights of the evidence.  A boundary smoothing process 

was carried out for the Stage 3 flood management areas, flood ponding 10 

management areas and high flood hazard management areas.  This is a 

cosmetic process and has reduced the extent of all three flood hazard 

areas.  They no longer exactly represent a particular contour level.   

 

 As a result a number of properties are no longer intersected by some of 15 

these areas.  The Panel directed this should occur for the Stage 1 FMAs 

and the same slightly improved process was followed with the Stage 3 

FMAs, FPMAs and HFHMAs.  The FMA mapping methodologies are 

the same that were used for Stage 1 FMA mapping which I have 

described in my Stage 1 evidence-in-chief.  Also the methodology I 20 

have used to investigate individual submissions regarding FMA 

boundaries remains the same as for Stage 1.   

 

 In my view no additional fixed floor level overlay areas are required.  

The reason for this is that the flood level certification system provides 25 

sufficient certainty for applicants but also that a new detailed city-wide 

flood model is under development which may result in a change in 

predicted flood levels. 

 

 Flood ponding management areas were mapped as the extent of the one 30 

in 200 year model flood in specific areas.  They are discussed in more 

detail in Mr Christensen’s and Mr Harrington’s evidence-in-chief.  

High flood hazard management areas were mapped by DHI and are 

described in Mr Greg Whyte’s evidence-in-chief. 

 35 

 I have assessed the mapping for many individual submitters.  The 

outcomes of these assessments are listed in my evidence-in-chief 

document.  I have assessed whether the flood hazard overlays can be 

removed from the individual submitters’ properties based on following 

either the smoothing process I mentioned before or an analysis of the 40 

particular site if there are any reasons to depart from the modelling or 

with the stretching.   

 

 I have also prepared rebuttal evidence in response to the evidence 

provided by Mr Christian Jordan.  In this evidence I refer to my Stage 1 45 

evidence-in-chief which explains how the FMA boundaries were 
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derived.  I have investigated two property examples provided by 

Mr Jordan and conclude that the mapping process has been carried out 

correctly with the known and previously accepted limitations of this 

method. 

 5 

 Mr Jordan wrongly assumes in his evidence that all properties within 

the FMA will be issued a hazard notice by default.  Hazard notices are 

issued by the Council during the building consent process under 

section 73 of the Building Act 2004.  This process is unrelated to the 

district plan. 10 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

 I disagree with the suggestion by Mr Jordan to allow filling of land 

along waterway margins that are within a high flood hazard 15 

management area.  These areas have the deepest flooding and are 

located without the flood flow path.  Filling is likely to have the more 

severe adverse effect than in other areas of the extended floodplain.  

Thank you. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, Mr Lewis, you are down to cross-

examine this witness and you have had previous experience at that so I 

don’t need to give you the normal instruction on it but if you proceed, 

thanks. 

 25 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LEWIS [2.06 pm] 

 

MR LEWIS:   You have discussed smoothing in section 6 of your evidence and 

in 6.6 you say, “The smoothed boundary is approximately 100 to 

150 millimetres below the modelled one to 500 year high hazard area 30 

for the Henderson Basin”, correct? 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   I have said that in my evidence, yes. 

 

MR LEWIS:   And the modelling grid is about 10 metres by 10 metres? 35 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   Yes. 

 

MR LEWIS:   And the Henderson Basin is quite a shallow basin, correct? 

 40 

MS BROOKLAND:   Compared to Cranford Basin or? 

 

MR LEWIS:   It is not a steep sided basin, it is not a ravine, it is not a valley, it 

is a very flat area that is what - - - 

 45 

MS BROOKLAND:   It appears to be flat when you are in the middle of it, yes. 
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MR LEWIS:   When you stand around the sides does it also appear to be flat? 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   Relatively to the eye, yes. 

 

MR LEWIS:   This mapping shows that it has a gradient of about one in 400 5 

and as low as one in 1,000 and on a 10 metre grid that would give me 

about two and a half to five millimetres of fall over that grid.  So if you 

were smoothing within a 10 metre grid, say you were over that 

five metres, then you would only have millimetres drop in that 

smoothing, correct? 10 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   Yes, you are talking about an average slope of the basin. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Right. 

 15 

MS BROOKLAND:   And if you assume your average slope is correct at every 

location in the basin then your numbers stack up. 

 

MR LEWIS:   So your 100 to 150 millimetres drop by smoothing you must 

have been putting your cursor on a steeper portion or edge of a bank or 20 

something like that? 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   I have chosen about 16 points around the basin at the 

boundary of the smoothed high flood hazard management area, and I 

noted the levels at these points based on my very detailed LIDAR data, 25 

and I have averaged these points and I am getting these numbers as an 

average.  I am not saying that this is representative, I just wanted to 

share the points that I found and I wanted to stress the fact that by 

smoothing and reducing the area we have an average flow at the level 

of the high flood hazard zone. 30 

 

MR LEWIS:   So if we have a 100 or 150 millimetres then that could be 

150 metres or 60 metres difference in horizontal positioning? 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   It could be but it doesn’t mean that you have the slopes 35 

you are talking about everywhere in the basin and especially around 

this line that I have investigated. 

 

MR LEWIS:   All right - - - 

 40 

MS BROOKLAND:   And it is really a bit random where you click if you do it 

the way I have done it and I am not claiming that I have done a 

representative sample of this, I have just said what I have done.  If you 

wanted to know what it means exactly we would have to do a GIS 

analysis of this line and work out the average elevation of it compared 45 

to the flood level or the reduced flood level by one metre. 
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  [2.10 pm] 

 

MR LEWIS:   Have you compared that line that you finished up with your 

smoothed line, have you compared that all with the contour maps of the 

area? 5 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   This was my way of comparing it to levels at the basin.  

Contours are averaged values as well. 

 

MR LEWIS:   True but did you compare with your smoothed line with the 10 

contour line? 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   I compare with my terrain file which this place elevation 

is at a certain colour.  I am not using the contour lines because I found 

that my file is more accurate than contour lines. 15 

 

MR LEWIS:   There are contour maps available in the basin, quite accurate, 

and when I compare the mapped area here or your smoothed line it 

pretty much compares to about a metre of depth of water but the 

distance between the contour lines does not show anything like the 20 

steepness that your 150 to 100 millimetres would provide. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now that is a statement, what is the question? 

 

MR LEWIS:   So would you agree with that? 25 

 

MS BROOKLAND:  No, I have not seen your contour lines and I do not know 

what they are based on. 

 

MR LEWIS:  Okay, so you have not compared them at all? 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, the first answer was that she has not seen your 

contour lines and, therefore, has not compared them.  I have not seen 

them either and the earlier answer was that she preferred her own 

methodology or her own database to contour mapping because she 35 

preferred it as being more accurate than the contour – that is her 

opinion, you may disagree, but that is her opinion. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Nothing for me, thanks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Illingsworth? 45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, you have answered my question in relation to Mr Lewis’ 5 

question, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Brookland, I have just got one question you may be 

able to help me with, you may not be, but given that you refer to 

mapping I thought I would ask anyway.  I need to set the platform for 10 

the question up.  The Panel has made no decision on this, has no 

present view on it but is considering its options and I want you to think 

about this question in regard to the high hazard areas. 

 

 If the Panel were to decide upon including in the Plan a new rule to the 15 

effect that areas that are influenced by sea level rise in terms of 

flooding risk below a benchmark of, say, likelihood of risk after 

modelling has been done, all that sort of thing, have a more generous 

treatment under this rule than non-complying, were that to be the 

approach the Panel takes, then obviously that would depend on 20 

undertaking modelling information and understanding where the areas 

would be that would have this more generous regime so if you assume 

as a premise that this modelling work is undertaken and it identifies 

where areas, say, close to the coast influenced by sea level rise fall 

below a benchmark of likelihood in the next 100 years, for instance, is 25 

it a long or is it a relatively short exercise to take that modelling 

information given to you by the modellers, once that is done, and map 

the difference in the Plan for mapping purposes? 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   So, just to make sure I understand.  You want to identify 30 

the areas where the tidal level dominates the assessment? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that would be the first premise, where the tidal level 

is more dominant, where it is a significant influence and say the 

outcome of modelling shows there to be material difference between, 35 

well, identifies those where that is less likely than otherwise to suffer 

significant sea level rise, if you know what I mean. 

 

 Let us say, for argument’s sake, some are within a 50 or 0.5 of a metre 

line and others are above that, I just want to know what is involved 40 

technically with converting that modelling information to mapping; is it 

a terribly difficult task or is it one that is logistically possible and one 

that you would be able to manage within the Council system of 

mapping? 

45 
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  [2.15 pm] 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   I think it is possible and we might have some 

information already because as you know, we model the 500 year 

rainfall with the 50 year tide and the other way around so we could 5 

separate these results and see which model delivers the higher result, 

for example.   

 

 So that would identify the areas sensitive to rainfall and the areas 

sensitive to tide. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so in principle, it could well be logistically 

possible depending on where we end up? 

 

MS BROOKLAND:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much.  Mr Lewis, do you have 

any questions arising from the questioning of the Panel? 

 

MR LEWIS:   No, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks, Mr Lewis.  Mr Winchester, are there any 

questions in re-exam? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, all right, thank you. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Brookland, you are free to go. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.15 pm] 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, I think we are now ready for Mr Harrington. 
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<MR GRAHAM JAMES HARRINGTON, affirmed [2.16 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.16 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now, your full name is Graham James Harrington and 

you have the qualifications and experience that you have set out in 

previous statements of evidence that you have presented to the Panel? 5 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you and you have prepared two statements of 

evidence for this proposal, Mr Harrington, the first being 10 

evidence-in-chief dated 21 January 2016, the second being a rebuttal 

statement dated 11 February 2016. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:    Correct. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any amendments or additions to those 

statements? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   I have some slight amendments to my discussion about 

Mr Thompson’s and Ms Saunders’ evidence.  I will cover those in my 20 

opening statement if you like. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So, you would like to respond to the evidence you have 

heard this morning? 

 25 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes and my thinking has developed a little bit as well. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, so I take it then that to the best of your 

knowledge and belief the statements of evidence that you have 

provided are true and correct?  Thank you and you mentioned that you 30 

have a summary of your evidence and some observations arising.  I 

would ask you to present that to the Panel, please and remain where 

you are to answer any questions. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Thank you.  I would just like to introduce things by 35 

talking about the statement of expectations of this hearing and I refer 

the Panel back to clause H which says that the expectations are to set 

clear direction on the use and development of land for the purposes of 

avoiding and mitigating natural hazards and that certainly is the focus 

of what we have been doing in relation to flood hazards. 40 

 

 My stage 1 evidence introduced the idea that the city was built on a 

swamp so Christchurch has some particular flooding issues and we 

have the tools, basically, to quantify those flooding issues and ensure 

that new developments will be safe from flooding in a one in 200 year 45 

event which includes an allowance for sea level rise of a metre. 
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 The evidence-in-chief that I have presented talks about the fact that we 

have extended the flood management areas, introducing some different 

models in special areas such as the Waimakariri area and we have also 

used some natural events for setting the flood boundaries. 5 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

 We were also talking about the rules in relation to flood ponding 

management areas, and they are basically there to ensure that the 10 

natural storage which we are relying on really in other parts of the city 

or downstream of there, is not compromised. 

 

 We have also introduced the high flood hazard management areas and 

they particularly give a concept of personal safety over and above the 15 

ideas of damaged buildings and property that might occur in an 

extreme event.  And from our purposes, it is largely driven by ETMS 

policy, a statement on this particular matter. 

 

 I have also introduced in my evidence-in-chief some explanation of 20 

issues that are of particular concern to the residents in the Styx 

Catchment and hopefully I have been able to explain what is happening 

there and give the Panel an opportunity to consider whether that is 

within scope of the district plan or in other operational matters relating 

to how the City Council works. 25 

 

 I also talk about what happened during caucusing and our discussions 

in relation to flood ponding management areas and high flood 

management areas, and sort of declare a preference that the marginal 

issues, or the issues around the margins, particularly of those areas 30 

should be dealt with on a consenting basis rather than a rule basis. 

 

 Our particular interest, of course, is that the flood ponding volumes and 

things like that are not compromised but they by and large are not a 

very frequent issue that we will have to deal with and we do have an 35 

opportunity if they go through a consenting regime, to develop a good, 

I think, from all parties point of view, a customised solution to the 

development that might well occur around those boundaries. 

 

 My rebuttal evidence covers things like some incorrect assumptions 40 

made by the CCRU about the geneses of the flood management areas 

and the high flood management areas and they are not fundamentally 

based on the Tonkin and Taylor report, they are done by separate 

consultants, DHI, by and large, and am also of a view that the proposals 

within the proposed new plan will provide an adaptation pathway for 45 
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eastern areas to a sustainable future rather than being trapped with floor 

levels too low as the sea level rises. 

 

 The other question is that, or the other point I think is that this is not an 

issue that can be put on hold for a long time.  We have got rapid 5 

redevelopment following the earthquakes and if that is done in a way 

which does not recognise the potential dangers coming up, then they 

will be trapped with buildings that are not useable within their normal 

service life.  So it is a matter of some urgency that we proceed and 

make sure that the buildings and other developments are done bearing 10 

those situations in mind. 

 

 In relation to Mr Lewis, I have gone to some length to point out that an 

awful lot of statistics and information needs to be gathered and 

analysed in order to get an idea of flooding frequency and it has to be 15 

drawn from the local area.  I have not seen evidence from Mr Lewis 

which actually adds to the information that we already have on that 

matter. 

 

  [2.25 pm] 20 

 

 I also point out that natural events are entirely unique and particularly 

without that information, to be able to judge between say a two year 

event and a five year event which is part of his evidence, would be very 

difficult and therefore I do not feel that the Panel should take those 25 

words in too much detail. 

 

 I also try and point out that the main reason for using a model is that 

you have got something which is repeatable, you can tune it to the 

situation that you are dealing with and then investigate things and 30 

everybody can look upon it and come to a conclusion as to whether it is 

realistic or not, but using a short record of natural events to form an 

opinion is risky at best I think. 

 

 In relation to Mr Thompson’s evidence, he is suggesting that we 35 

applied a land level certificate.  I do not think it is appropriate around 

the flood ponding management areas.  I cannot really understand, I 

have to say, the motivation for doing it but I point out that the flood 

ponding management areas are defined by a line on a map, not by a 

level, and this is sort of a concept that I mentioned before, is where my 40 

thinking has gone beyond where the evidence I put forward was. 

 

 I get the idea from the evidence that maybe there would be filling 

within the law between one point and another and the submitter wanted 

to ensure that that would not change the status or some such thing, of 45 
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the area or maybe that would change the position as to whether it was 

judged as being within a flood ponding management area or not. 

 

 And I guess my view on the matter is that if it – it does not matter what 

the level is, if the line on the map says it is in the flood ponding 5 

management area, it will be dealt with one way, if it is outside that 

particular line on a map, it will be dealt with in another way, and that is 

how the thing is handled, and whether you decide to certify a particular 

land level on one side or other of the line, I am not sure what the 

purpose is. 10 

 

 The other point is that I think there would be very few instances where 

this is going to be an issue, and the only ones I can think about are 

around the Cranford Basin and around Henderson Basin and probably 

to a much lesser extent, around the Lower Styx Basin.  We are talking 15 

about a handful basically of landowners and we are going to some 

extraordinary lengths to set up a whole system for a handful of 

instances. 

 

 Now I might be wrong on that, but I cannot see that it is going to be a 20 

huge issue for a lot of people unlike the case of floor levels where there 

are thousands of floor levels that we need to deal with, and so going to 

some length to get a system which is very efficient is a very worthwhile 

effort.  In this case, I think that the number of instances we will have to 

deal with are relatively small, and again, I think that we can come up 25 

with a solution, a customised solution for the people in that particular 

situation which suits everybody. 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 30 

 The concepts are pretty clear, concept is retaining flood storage volume 

and all that sort of stuff and, so as long as the system that people are 

preparing to, or proposing to do, meets those sort of criteria, I do not 

see that it is going to be a difficult question to get a consent if those sort 

of basic concepts are adhered to.  In relation to - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Harrington, just mindful of the time, have you got 

much more to say by way of summary? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   No, I beg your pardon for sort of it going on here a bit.   40 

 

 Ms Saunders has suggested that we have about 10 times the amount of 

filling possible within a 10 year period and I have to confess I misread 

that initially and I thought that she was going to proportionately reduce 

the amount on a per year basis, so that was my second insight.  And I 45 

would be very opposed to the idea that that was a possibility because of 
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the potential for filling, particularly in high flood hazard areas close to 

rivers and so on, and restricting the ability of the water to flow down 

there.   

 

 In the earlier discussion there was a question, we did raise the idea that 5 

LIDAR was going to be – is the new tool, relatively new tool and 

certainly the accuracy of LIDAR is now higher than it was in the earlier 

days so it should help us with monitoring and enforcement.  I will leave 

it there, thank you. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Hughes-Johnson? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR HUGHES-JOHNSON [2.32 pm] 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you.  Mr Harrington, are you familiar with 15 

the Order which governs how the independent Panel is to operate, and 

in particular the direction that the Panel should where possible come to 

a conclusion about the particular resource management matter which 

avoids the need for resource consents to be obtained et cetera, I take it 

you are familiar with that? 20 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And one of the reasons why you are saying that 

the certification process put forward by Mr Thompson is inappropriate 25 

is because there is only a few people who are going to be affected and 

really the greater good dictates that they should have to go through the 

resource consent process, that is right, isn’t it? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   There is probably a lot of work setting up a system 30 

which - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   “One of the reasons” was the start of that question, so 

what is the answer, is it one of your reasons? 

 35 

MR HARRINGTON:   Sorry, which question am I answering? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   The question I asked was you have taken the view 

that the greater good dictates that, notwithstanding the interests of these 

individuals, they should have to go through the resource consent 40 

process with these buildings because there are only a few of them and 

the greater good dictates what you are suggesting? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   That is one of the reasons, yes. 

 45 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:    Now, in your evidence-in-chief I think you 

outline the fact that the process of gaining information about the flood 

levels et cetera is an ongoing process, it represents an ongoing process, 

is that right? 

 5 

MR HARRINGTON:   Correct. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And I think you have accepted also the 

imperfections in the information to date, understandable imperfections 

probably, but which will be altered I take it you would way by the 10 

further process which is ongoing, getting better information in other 

words? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, as better information is available we will try to use 

it. 15 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Now, that is one feature, isn’t it, forgetting 

everything else about what Mr Thompson says, it is one feature that is 

in favour of Mr Thompson’s proposal, isn’t it, is that the certification 

enables the best possible information to be used at that particular time, 20 

doesn’t it, because the Council is issuing a certificate and the Council 

can then have access to the information, the best possible information 

which is available when the applicant for the certificate comes along, 

that is correct, isn’t it? 

 25 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   The information or any information that we have got 

would not change the position of a line on a map. 

 30 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Sorry, change the position of? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   A line on a map - - - 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No, no - - - 35 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   - - - until the district plan is changed. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, but your position is, isn’t it, you have put the 

line on the map there, that is it, it doesn’t really matter about whether 40 

within that line or within that area delineated by the line there may be 

imperfections, the line is there and that is it, that is the position, isn’t it, 

that is what you are putting forward? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, I am putting forward that that - - - 45 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   The line is everything, isn’t it? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   We wouldn’t have any choice but to interpret things in 

relation to that line.   

 5 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   The difference between the land level thing and the 

floor level one is that the floor levels are set within the zone or within 

say a flood management area and that is zone is known and new 10 

information can set the floor level.  The floor level is not set except in, 

well in most areas anyway it is not set as a part of the district plan, that 

can be varied except in the areas where it has been locked in. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   You would accept, wouldn’t you, that the intent 15 

of what Mr Thompson is proposing is that the buildings that would be 

erected pursuant to the certification would not be affecting in anyway 

the flood ponding dynamics? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   No, that is the curious part of the whole thing.  I do not 20 

understand what the effect of legal filling would be in some timeframe.   

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right, but let us just assume, whether it is legal 

filling or whether it is natural ground level and that ground level is 

above any ascertainable flood level, it cannot logically, can it, the 25 

erection of a building on land which is above that can’t logically affect 

the flood ponding considerations, can it, because it is above that? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 30 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   It is above the level where you would be saying 

“Well, you better maintain that area there because the water has got to 

be able to pond in that area”, it is not going to be ponding in this area, 

is it? 

 35 

MR HARRINGTON:   If you are outside the flood ponding area by definition 

you are outside the flood ponding area. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But if you are inside the line I think that is where 

Mr Hughes-Johnson’s question is going, inside the line of control but 40 

above the relevant elevation, is that right, Mr Hughes-Johnson? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the answer? 45 
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MR HARRINGTON:   If you are inside the relevant area of control you are 

bound by the conditions inside the relevant area of control. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, go to the question which is will it impact or not 

materially on flood ponding if you are above the level of what could 5 

pond, notwithstanding you are inside the area; what is the answer? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Well - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does water flow uphill? 10 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   It would be unusual to have a significant area of high 

land within the area that is mapped really. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   That doesn’t really answer the question, does it, 15 

because Mr Thompson is not suggesting that there should be anything 

illegal about what is going to be erected and in a sense he is saying 

either the land on which the building will be erected will be above the 

flood level or lawful filling may take it above that, but the point is it is 

above the level that can affect flood ponding.  I think have you said all 20 

you can say about that already? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, there is not a lot more I can say.  I mean the 

answers are pretty self-evident in that if it is above the ponding level 

then it is fine. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, the answer might be self-evident, Mr Harrington, 

but I would appreciate it if you would actually deliver the answers that 

you are asked questions for rather than leave it to the Panel to surmise 

its own view on those answers. 30 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

 Leave aside any policy concern you have got about it being 

“exceptional”, “hardly ever happens” or whatever else, that is a policy 35 

issue.  If the premise for the question is, “The land itself is above the 

ponding or potential ponding area, even though it is inside the area of 

control”, then, I am sorry, Mr Hughes-Johnson, I have just – you want 

to put the question again, I understand your premise fairly fully, it may 

be that this witness cannot go any further with it, but it is actually 40 

relatively self-evident - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, if you want to quantify, but I do not want to 

be unfair to you, if you said all that you want to say about that. 

 45 
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MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, I do not understand the circumstances under which 

where you would suddenly get an area - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, all right, so you are really saying that that 

you cannot contemplate circumstances which would give rise to an 5 

application for certification because they are going to be so rare, that is 

what you are saying, are you not? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   I have said that once, yes, yes. 

 10 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, right.  Well, I know that you are an engineer 

and not a lawyer, but are you familiar with the purpose of the Resource 

Management Act which talks about “enabling people”, it has a 

concentration on not only the welfare of the public in general, but it 

talks about the welfare of people. 15 

 

 Now, you may or may not know that from reading the Resource 

Management Act or parts of it, are you familiar with that concept or 

not? 

 20 

MR HARRINGTON:   Probably nothing like - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well it may not be a fair question to ask you, you 

are not a lawyer, I appreciate that, I am asking you, have you heard of 

that before? 25 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   No, I am not - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right, well now, the point I put to you is this, 

that the fact that there may only be a few people, is not a reason for 30 

saying, “Oh well, ignore those people because of the greater good 

because it is too expensive to get a system up and running”. 

 

 You see, these people – assuming that there is land that can be built on 

that could be capable of certification – will be suffering an injustice, 35 

will they not, if the view is taken, “Well, the lines where the line is and 

that is it, you got to make an application for a noncomplying activity”, 

they put to all that trouble and it does not need – but they do not need 

to be? 

 40 

MR HARRINGTON:   Well, if I am interpreting you correctly, I think that 

suggestion provides perverse incentive to fill the land and reduce the 

storage volume that was naturally there. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   I am sorry I just do not follow your answer.  On 45 

what basis do you say that the - - -  
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MR HARRINGTON:   Well, if, if - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   - - - that these people should be - - -  

 5 

MR HARRINGTON:   If, if for some reason or rather, the land is now too low 

and it is in a flood ponding area, or within a high flood hazard area and 

people are wanting to get a certification because it is a certification of a 

level, and they legally fill the thing or illegally fill it, until it gets to that 

particular point and then say, “Okay, we are now fine, we can build on 10 

that because it is no longer a problem” - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Look, there is no suggestion of illegal filling.  

What I put to you is, I put to you the filling is either going to be legal – 

of course it has got to be lawful or it has to be the natural contour of the 15 

land. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   It might be lawful but it is still a very perverse 

incentive in terms of the Council’s idea that it wants to maintain the 

storage area. 20 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Hughes-Johnson, now we got Mr Lewis I 

think, Mr Lewis, you want to ask some questions?  25 

 

 I think Mr Randal, you decided not to cross-examine? 

 

MR RANDAL:   That is right, sir, thank you. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Lewis? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LEWIS [2.444 pm] 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you.  You probably heard Ms Brookland’s answers to my 35 

questions, do you think you could explain better why on a very flat 

surface she gets a difference of a 100 to 150 millimetres over 

five metre lengths, you may be more familiar with the Henderson 

Basin. 

 40 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   You will have to expand on the question again I think 

please. 

 45 

MR LEWIS:   No. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes - - -  

 

MR LEWIS:   Because you are more - - -  

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - if you could please expand on it – I did not 

understand it either. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Right, okay.  Are you more familiar with the Henderson Basin 

than Ms Brookland’s? 10 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

MR LEWIS:   So can you explain to me why on a very flat surface this has a 

gradient of 1 in 400, to 1 in 1,000, she would get a difference of a 100 15 

to 150 millimetres over a distance of five metres. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Mr Lewis, just pause a minute.  The assumption of 

that question was, “the gradient” where does that come from in terms 

of evidence. 20 

 

MR LEWIS:   It is on the maps that are provided. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so do you understand the question, 

Mr Harrington, can you answer that please? 25 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, I cannot explain how you would get a distance of 

only five metres at that gradient. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Ms Brookland’s explained to me that the smoothing process 30 

takes place within a 10 x 10 grid, which Mr Whyte states in his 

evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What is the question? 

 35 

MR LEWIS:   I was answering his question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, no, your job is to not – Mr Lewis, you know this.  

Your role is only to ask questions - - -  

 40 

MR LEWIS:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and fair ones, which I have to supervise, so I would 

rather not say anything.  You ask fair questions and I will not say 

anything, but do not put propositions unless you are going to follow it 45 

with a question. 
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MR LEWIS:   So can you explain the difference of why there would be a 100 

to 150 millimetres when obviously I think there is a lot less. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   There is a possibility that, and I had seen these different 5 

pixelated edges - - -  

 

MR LEWIS:   Right. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   - - - and some of them project out quite a long way. 10 

 

MR LEWIS:   Right. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   And so, when it is smoothed, those quite large 

projections of pixelated areas get pulled back and so that could be quite 15 

a distance. 

 

MR LEWIS:   So even though it is a pixelated on a grid of 10 x 10, you might 

get half a dozen of those 10 - - -  

 20 

MR HARRINGTON:   You might get an arm of pixels going out and that arm 

would be pulled back in. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you.  The current flood levels that have been produced by 

modelling with Jeremy Walsh, what level of development are they 25 

based on? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   All the potential flood estimates are based on full 

development in the areas, according to the proposed Plan that is the 

idea. 30 

 

MR LEWIS:   And that would be with the southwest of Christchurch fully 

developed? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 35 

 

MR LEWIS:   The modelling by previous people, including Jeremy, has been 

based on 1991 level of development, assuming that further 

development would be fully mitigated, is that correct? 

 40 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Yes. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Well mitigated according to the plans that we had set 45 

up, yes. 
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MR LEWIS:   And that mitigation has taken what form? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Detention basins usually. 

 5 

MR LEWIS:   Right.  In your rebuttal evidence you give quite an extensive 

argument why the 1977 flood levels really only one in 15 year rainfall 

level event, correct? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 10 

 

MR LEWIS:   You state that I accepted the assessment of an unnamed Council 

employee for that 1977 flood level be in a one and one hundred year 

event, I have a copy here and I have got extra copies of the report from 

Jeremy Walsh in 1997 where he calculates the 1977 event to be a 100 15 

year event and he gives quite extensive argument for that.  Are you 

aware of that 1977 modelling? 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 20 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, I would have seen it. 

 

MR LEWIS:   So, who do we believe: Jeremy Walsh, your modeller that has 

done your modelling since 1975 but not 2005, or yourself? 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lewis, at this point I am never going to be able to 

know the answer to that because I have not seen the document you are 

referring to. 

 

 You have just asked the witness whether he was aware of the 30 

modelling.  Before that you indicated you had the document and I 

thought that your next point was going to be that you were going to 

provide it for the witness and to the Panel and to counsel in case there 

are any issues with it before you put the next question about who to 

believe. 35 

 

MR LEWIS:  I offered to provide it, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  You should ask for that, not offer. 

 40 

MR LEWIS:  Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you can ask me about it and has Mr Winchester seen 

it? 

 45 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester has not seen it so perhaps if you could 

confer with him first.  If you wish to produce it or put it to this witness 

it has to be in front of him.  You cannot ask it in a vacuum about whom 

to believe.  It does not help us.   5 

 

 So, if you want to put the document, by all means go through the 

process but make sure Mr Winchester sees it before anything else. 

 

MR LEWIS:   So, can I produce the document, sir? 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    I do not know.  Put it through to Mr Winchester first.  

Have you got enough copies for everyone? 

 

MR LEWIS:  Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, so let Mr Winchester see it.  These are the sort of 

things, it is sort of helpful to try to organise this ahead of time.  Over 

the lunchbreak would have been a good opportunity. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, sir, he can put it to the witness but it is a single 

page extract of an undated document where the source of provenance is 

not clear.  It is going to be produced in isolation.  For what it is worth, 

the witness can take a look at it but I am not sure that it actually really 

assists that much. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, we will go through the process.  Mr Lewis, 

you see some of the difficulties here.  An assertion you are making, 

your point to the witness about its reliability does not help us unless we 

have got a basis for determining whether or not it is reliable.   30 

 

 The fact that it is an extract from a document certainly does not help us 

which is why Mr Winchester is raising that issue.  Now, who has 

written on this? 

 35 

MR LEWIS:   That is a NIWA document. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who has written on it, who wrote the word “snowstorm”? 

 

MR LEWIS:  Sorry, I have not got a copy myself. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who put the word “snowstorm” in the margin, is that the 

original author or you? 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is me. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Including the underlining? 

 

MR LEWIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That’s you too? 5 

 

MR LEWIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just for the record.  Okay, now, so you can ask this 

witness to start with whether he recognises this as an extract from the 10 

document you refer to.  Depending on his answer, we will deal with 

from there. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 15 

MR LEWIS:   From the document.  That talks about the 1977 event being a 

100 year event, correct? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are talking about 5.1.2? 

 20 

MR LEWIS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 25 

 

MR LEWIS:  Is your opinion that – now that you have seen that – does your 

opinion agree with that report? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   The point that - - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Answer the question, please first and then give your 

explanation.  Just yes or no and then give your explanation; put the 

question again, Mr Lewis, please. 

 35 

MR LEWIS:   Do you agree that the 1977 storm is a 100 year event? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   No. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Do you agree Mr Walsh has got – that that report is not correct 40 

then? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   The storm was a 15 year storm in relation to rainfall.  

Other factors caused the flooding to be equivalent to, perhaps, a 

100 year storm at the time and that is the difference and the point that I 45 

was making in my evidence is that ranking storms in terms of their 
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return interval is a very tricky business and if you are looking for real 

data from Hendersons Basin in this particular case, you might want to 

have something like, I don’t know, 50 or 80 years of data before you 

would say for definite and sure that that is what has happened in this 

particular thing. 5 

 

  [14.55 pm] 

 

 What has happened here is a modelling event based on certain 

assumptions has come up with a particular level and that happens to be 10 

the same as what happened in this event which had rainfall intensities 

of a 15 year storm. 

 

 So, all I am saying is these things are not straightforward, they are quite 

tricky. 15 

 

MR LEWIS:   You have used the Botanic Garden records because they are the 

longest, correct? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:  Yes.  Well, I used them as an example to make this 20 

point.   

 

MR LEWIS:   Right, did you correlate those back to the rain gauges in the 

hills? 

 25 

MR HARRINGTON:   No, not in the example I gave you nor the example I put 

in my evidence, no. 

 

MR LEWIS:   I notice here that Jeremy Walsh has.  Would that explain the 

difference? 30 

 

MR HARRINGTON:  It could partially the difference. 

 

MR LEWIS:  Thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, just at this point, Mr Winchester, my proposition 

would be that we would provisionally enter this as an exhibit on the 

proviso that we obtain through the secretariat for Mr Lewis the copy of 

the full document so that we can confirm for ourselves where it fits in 

that document so do you have any issue with that approach? 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Not at all, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, so we will call this 

exhibit A provisional. 45 
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EXHIBIT #A PROVISIONAL – WALSH EXTRACT APRIL 2007 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What date, Mr Lewis, did you say it was? 

 

MR LEWIS:   I have got a full copy of the document if you wish. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And what date is it? 

 

MR LEWIS:   April 2007. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   April 2007.  If that full copy, if at some stage you could 

make it available to the secretariat during a recess and we can quickly 

check it and confirm it as an exhibit once we have compared it with the 

original, thank you. 

 15 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you, Graham. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, which of you is going to do the cross-examination? 

– thank you Mr Scrase. 

 20 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR SCRASE [2.58 pm] 

 

MR SCRASE:   Good afternoon, I am here representing the CCRU and I would 

like to explore some of the issues you raised around sea level rise in 

particular in your rebuttal evidence.   25 

 

 In your original evidence you claimed there is a well-established 

consensus of one metre sea level rise by 2100 or a similar date.   

 

 Given that the IPCC present a range of scenarios of sea level rise 30 

between 0.3 and one metre which you have already seen in the 

overhead.  Did you see that earlier, the slide I presented. 

 

 I am just wondering how you can justify that there is a consensus of 

one metre.  What do you mean by that; is that the upper bound, or the 35 

policy consensus? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:  Well, our initial considerations of that began in the 

Ministry for the Environment report back in 2008 and if you take their 

estimates up to 2115 you are arriving at about a metre sea level rise. 40 

 

 I have been at a number of technical events where they have talked 

about sea level rise and that was the sort of consensus from those and 

we have also obtained the data that I put in my rebuttal evidence from 

Northland Regional Council which has asked a question on various 45 

authorities around the country as to what level of sea level rise they are 
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assuming and in that table, most of the figures are one metre in 100 

years. 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 5 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, I saw the table, so what you are implying here is because 

everyone else is doing it, it is more of a policy consensus rather than a 

scientific consensus, would that be the correct assumption? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Well it would be strange for the policy consensus- - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Answer the question please. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, I am making that assumption. 

 15 

MR SCRASE:   Thank you.  So given that we have this apparent policy 

consensus of one metre sea level rise by 100 year timeframe, how do 

we reconcile that with the fact that the Canterbury Policy Regional 

Statement and the Ministry for the Environment recommendations, are 

that the plan for a 0.5 metre sea level rise by 100 year timeframe and 20 

assess the likely impacts of 0.8 metres.  Are you able to answer that? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   That was at 2000, up to 2100, or 2115? 

 

MR SCRASE:   Well potentially two areas, I think we can split hairs on this 25 

one to 100.  I think it was 2100 and I know we are working to a 2115 

timeframe but if the policy advice is to add another 10 centimetres 

beyond 2100, so we still cannot get to a metre even if we add it on to 

their advice so it is difficult to see how we get to a metre based upon 

their policy advice? 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   There is not a question there, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think the question was buried in the explanation which 

the witness asked for, so could you put the question back please? 35 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, I am just asking given the fact that you admitted there is 

this policy consensus on one metre, not just Christchurch City Council 

but across the country, how do we reconcile that with the advice that 

we are getting the Ministry for Environment to plan for half a metre by 40 

the end of the century? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   I am not familiar with that policy. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, nor am I; is that in evidence, Mr Scrase? 45 
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MR SCRASE:   It is in the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see. 

 

MS SCRASE:   - - -and the national guidance (INDISTINCT 2.10). 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well you can give us that reference at some 

point, thank you. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   I can give you that reference here. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you got it there now? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   No, I do not, I will- - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   - - -I will find it afterwards. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And let Mr Winchester know too, if that could be done 20 

while the questioning is going on, that would be useful, thank you in 

case it is a matter for re-examination. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 25 

MR SCRASE:   Furthermore, in your rebuttal you claim that CCRUs 

submission is wrong, you are claiming that the Christchurch City 

Council is relying on Tonkin and Taylor for sea level rise, they have 

their own evidence.  Are you able to tell me who provides this evidence 

for additional research that one metre is an appropriate metric, was it 30 

external consultants or? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   - - -I will find it afterwards. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And let Mr Winchester know too, if that could be done 35 

while the questioning is going on, that would be useful, thank you in 

case it is a matter for re-examination. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 40 

MR SCRASE:   Furthermore, in your rebuttal you claim the CCRU submission 

is wrong, you are claiming that the Christchurch City Council is relying 

on Tonkin and Taylor for sea level rise, they have their own evidence.  

Are you able to tell me who provides this evidence for additional 

research that one metre is an appropriate metric, was it external 45 

consultants or? 
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MR HARRINGTON:   In spite of quite strong representations leading up to 

this, we were never able to get very clear advice from MfE or others as 

to exactly what sort of sea level rise we should use.  They mainly talk 

about it in terms of a risk based approach that we should take, but being 5 

an engineer, we have to actually put a number on things, so that is what 

we did. 

 

MR SCRASE:   I understand. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Scrase, your second question interrupted his first 

answer, and your first question was if it was not T & T, who did the 

work, the research, the answers started to come back with the 

beginning of that answer in regard to MfEs work in 2008, and then you 

came up with another question- - - 15 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, I am sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - -so Mr Harrington, can you complete your answer in 

regard to who did the work please? 20 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   I guess there would have been a consensus among the 

technical people at the Council based on information that they had, I do 

not think there is a document or anything like that that has, or a policy 

statement from the Council that has been presented. 25 

 

MR SCRASE:   So internally people agree; it wasn’t external report, or 

commissioned report? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   No. 30 

 

MR SCRASE:   Okay, thank you.  So finally, in your rebuttal you give an 

opinion that if we delay, and you imply that it is quite urgent that we 

act now, we risk facing more reliance on engineering interventions 

contravening NZCPS policy 27. 35 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 

 This policy 27 also requires us to consider expected effects of climate 

change so the definition of expected is different from possible I think, 40 

we will have to clarify that, and evaluate likely costs and benefits when 

evaluating options.  So the question is has there been any cost benefit 

analysis done, any sensitivity analysis with different scenarios or 

different sea level rise outcomes by the Council in terms of cost benefit 

affecting communities? 45 
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MR HARRINGTON:   The build-up to that was in the section 32 report, Simon 

Harris’ economics assessment based on his understanding of work in 

the Avon. 

 

MR SCRASE:   Okay, thank you.  I think that answers my questions.  In terms 5 

of getting these other documents to you, - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just mindful that you put an unnamed argument to 

us, and to be fair to Mr Winchester, if it is a matter that he wants to re-

examine on, he does not know the document that you are referring to 10 

either, so you just need to bear that in mind that unless Mr Winchester 

is equipped to re-examine properly, there is not a lot of weight that we 

can give to the question or answer. 

 

MR SCRASE:   That is fine, okay thanks. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well thank you.  Now for Panel questions.  

Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Good afternoon Mr Harrington.  As senior surface water planner 20 

for the Council, would it have been appropriate for you when preparing 

your evidence to have taken into account the Mahaanui Iwi 

Management Plan? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   I have read the iwi management plan, and there were 25 

not obvious things that triggered to me in relation to this particular 

issue. 

 

MS HURIA:   So not around the lakes, Waimakariri? 

 30 

MR HARRINGTON:   The Waimakariri is outside the City Council’s, the river 

south, is not within the bounds of the City Council, that is managed by 

ECan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have not answered about the lakes. 35 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   The lakes? – so you are talking about Wairewa in 

particular? 

 

MS HURIA:   The Mahaura (ph 2.28). 40 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   The Mahaura.  I am very familiar with Wairewa, I do a 

lot of work there but in relation to this particular issue or in my part of 

the work here, we are concerned about dealing with flooding and there 

was not an obvious connection in the iwi management plan that I could 45 

relate to. 
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MS HURIA:   So does not the Plan refer to management of flooding? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   It talks about the management of storm water and 

things like that. 5 

 

MR HURIA:   Which is surface water? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, it is but the management of surface water in that 

context, we are dealing with by our storm water management plans and 10 

we are certainly the iwi management plan and cultural interests in 

relation to our catchment management plans which deal with the 

treatment of storm water, and not only from a flooding perspective but 

also from a water quality perspective, so we are very conscious of it. 

 15 

MS HURIA:   I suppose my concern is being that in the time I have sat on this 

Panel, there has been a lot of evidence around water, for example, and 

some other factors that the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan makes 

comment on, and I hear very little from Council staff that they have 

taken it into account at all, so I think I will leave it there sir, and I think 20 

Mr Winchester, we have faced that before, so I will leave it there, thank 

you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 25 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Sorry, sir, me? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Good afternoon, Mr Harrington.  All of my questions 30 

relate to the high flood hazard management area, and I am interested in 

your knowledge of the T & T model and that T & T report; do you have 

a good knowledge of that? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, I have a fair knowledge of that, I obviously was 35 

not- - - 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Mr Harrington, if you could lean forward to the 

microphone. 

 40 

  [3.10 pm] 

 

MR HARRINGTON:  Sorry, yes, I have a fair knowledge of that, I obviously 

wanted – that particular work was not something that I commissioned, 

right - and we are not relying on it for this part of the Plan. 45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you, and I think I heard you say in your 

summary that you relied more on independent studies and independent 

models, and you mentioned the DHI model, is that right? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   The DHI model, that is correct.  The Tonkin and Taylor 5 

model is quite a different type of modelling.  It is what we call rain on 

grid modelling rather than the DHI 1D/2D modelling that we have been 

using.   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  So based on your experience of all the 10 

studies that have been done could you tell us what proportion of land, 

or sections if you like, in the high flood hazard management area are 

located close to the coast, and/or are in areas where land is affected by 

changes in sea level assumptions? 

 15 

 A broad number, percentage would be good. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes.  I find it difficult to put a percentage on it.  But 

yes, but probably the majority is within a kilometre or so of tidal areas, 

yes.   20 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So is the majority sort of 80 percent? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Well, I do not like to put a number on it really, because 

I like to deal with facts if I can. 25 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  Do you have any idea what percentage 

of the land is owned by the Crown as part of the Red zone?  I suppose 

by implication it is – what percentage? 

 30 

MR HARRINGTON:   Sorry, you will have to ask the question again, because 

I am not sure - -  

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I am trying to understand the number of residents 

versus Red zoned land that are affected by assumptions around sea 35 

level, and I think what I heard you say was that the vast majority of the 

land in the high flood hazard management area was close to the sea.   

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes.  And I am thinking in particular of areas like 

South Shore or the Red zone, the residential Red zone.  There is quite a 40 

lot of high flood hazard management areas in those areas.   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So we have had a lot of discussion today about what 

the appropriate level of sea level rise is, if for instance it was 0.5 metre 

versus one metre to what degree would that affect the area in your 45 
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opinion? – the area of the land that would be in the High Flood 

Management Area? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   It would clearly reduce it, I do not know exactly by 

how much without actually doing the modelling, and as was discussed 5 

earlier on it is not a difficult thing to do from a modelling point of 

view.   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So I notice in the Tonkin and Taylor report they use 

two methods; they use what they call the bath tub method and the 10 

dynamic method.  The bathtub method as I understood it is really just 

an assumption that the level at the coast is going to be the level at the 

fringe of the high flood hazard management area versus the dynamic 

model, which assumes that the interface of buildings and the likes 

reduce the level further back into the city.  Is that correct? 15 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So am I right in assuming that if somebody assumed 

a 0.5 metre level versus one metre that would have quite a big effect on 20 

the high flood hazard management area? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

  [3.15 pm] 25 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   One of the things that I saw in the evidence was that 

there is a criteria put around the depth and the flow with respect of 

determining whether it was a high flood hazard management area or 

not, and that criteria was one metre deep, with one metre per second 30 

velocity.  Is that correct? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   It is one metre deep or the velocity times the depth 

greater than 1. 

 35 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Correct, sorry, I got that wrong.  So just to reflect on 

that, if you take an area that is on the fringes of the zone, and that 

criteria would tend to suggest that everything was at least a metre deep, 

or was of a very high velocity? 

 40 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, yes that is correct.  But in Christchurch most of 

those areas are really the metre deep category.  It is unusual to have the 

high velocity areas, unless you are right close to a channel, you will not 

be getting a high velocity area.   

 45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Well, as an engineer you would understand that the 

boundary conditions normally have a flood area, the velocity is close to 

zero, isn’t it?  Is that correct, is that your understanding? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   No, no that would be an overstatement. 5 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, thank you.  So can I ask were there any 

velocity/depth flow charts produced for the high flood hazard 

management area which were used as a criteria for setting the 

boundaries? 10 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   They were not analysed that way.  That data could be 

drawn out if it was important to do so.  For most of the city that 

analysis was made in every pixel on the flooded area.  So that 

information would be available if it was necessary.  But I do not have it 15 

to hand. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I guess the reason why I am asking, the question is, is 

the criteria for the determination of the area, and I have heard a lot of 

discussion today about pixelations and variations in reduced level of 20 

150 millimetres, for instance, and I am just wondering, what you are 

saying is that there has been no detailed analysis around that criteria? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   We have not analysed the areas and differentiated them.  

The ones which would be classified by velocity against those that 25 

would be classified by depth.  But my understanding is that the 

overwhelming majority, and I am talking about probably 98 percent let 

us say, of the areas would be classified based on depth. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  I want to move on to a question around 30 

filling in high flood hazard management areas. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   And I was wondering if you could give me your 35 

opinion please on the effect of that.  For instance if – I am not talking 

about the flood ponding management areas, I understand that - I am 

talking about the high flood hazard management area.  And I was 

wondering if you could give me your opinion please on the effect of 

that.  For instance if, I am not talking about the flood ponding 40 

management areas, I understand that.  I am talking about the high flood 

hazard management areas. 

 

 If a section site was filled presumably to one metre high, what effect 

would that have on the high flood hazard management area in your 45 

opinion? 
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MR HARRINGTON:   Generally speaking, that would reduce the likelihood 

that it was then a high flood hazard management area.  I mean if you 

fill the area then it would not have that depth, and therefore it would no 

longer be classified that way, or if it was filled before it was classified 5 

we have to re-classify it. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So would it change the characteristics of the flow in 

the high flood hazard management area significantly? 

 10 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes.  But can I expand around that point for you? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Please. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   The high flood hazard management areas have been 15 

identified based on the land surface as we understand it.  If the land 

surface was different or it was filled then it would not be a high flood 

hazard management area any longer. 

 

  [3.20 pm] 20 

 

 But the problem is though, if you have got an area which is existing 

like this, particularly if it is subject to rainfall type flooding, then you 

are going to be displacing a certain amount of water to somewhere else, 

and unless you have got a way of mitigating those effects then that is 25 

not really a solution to dealing with the high flood hazard management 

areas. 

 

 However, if you are in a coastal area, let us say Southshore, and you 

decide to fill an area, and it is subject to tidal flooding as distinct from 30 

rainfall flooding, what that effectively does is it stops the tide getting in 

there, right.  And as long as you deal with effects of how it affects your 

neighbours and all that sort of stuff, that is one of the relatively easy 

mitigation things that could be done if somebody wanted to do some 

development in a higher flood hazard area that was tidally driven. 35 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  So I just want to refer back to your 

rebuttal at 3.8, when you identified 10 regional bodies that adopted 

one metre over a 100 year assumption around sea level rise.  And the 

immediate thought that entered my head in particular was what effect 40 

that would have on the city, for instance if there was a city that had 

high relief, it may not have a high impact on the study.   

 

 My question is, is Christchurch largely a city that has very low relief as 

far as reduced level change - - - 45 
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MR HARRINGTON:   That is correct. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   - - - and therefore an adoption of that standard in 

Christchurch versus say, Auckland, might have a greater impact? 

 5 

MR HARRINGTON:   Well I would have to say yes.  But that it also has 

perhaps a greater need in that you have got more to protect. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  That is all my questions. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Harrington.  Following on from 

Mr Illingworth’s questions, in the high flood hazard management areas 

as opposed to other flooding areas, what are the nature of the dangers in 15 

those areas from either building in them or living in them, are the 

particular flooding dangers that start to arise in the high flood hazard 

areas? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Well we are driven by the policy, the Regional Policy 20 

that we are trying to implement, and the basis behind that is that there 

are dangers to health and safety, which are important to address as 

distinct.  And they become more important in those areas classified as 

being a metre depth or a metre times, or a velocity issue.   

 25 

 I am not sure exactly what you are searching for, but certainly access in 

and out of areas, if these things came upon somebody in the middle of 

the night and they needed to get out of there they might stand some 

greater risk of injury than they would have otherwise, and exactly 

where you draw the line I guess is our policy. 30 

 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I mean because in the flood management areas the rules 

are such that they are about protecting property, they are about lifting 35 

floor levels in the main - - - 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - I mean it is a generalisation – but when we come to the 40 

high flood hazard areas, the rules are more about preventing further 

development in those areas, and so I am just presuming that the danger 

is more than just getting a very wet house, maybe it is more of the 

property gets affected, but you are saying that once you get over the 

line into – and I mean I know it is not a hard line, but as one gets into 45 

the higher flood hazard areas then issues like safety, ability to get in 
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and out of a building and to the road, or get away from the area start 

becoming more of a risk. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, that is what we understand. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Is that what – yes. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it is on that progression from keeping floor levels dry to 10 

being in deeper swifter water. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Because there has to be something like that to underpin 15 

different rule sets. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But within these, they are quite large areas that are identified 20 

as high flood hazard areas, are there parts of them where the 

consequence of the risks are different than others? I don’t know how 

familiar you are, I mean I just sit here and look at the maps and think – 

whoa, I know that area and it is a big area, and there are parts up in the 

Cashmere Basin and most of it is a high flood hazard area and then 25 

there are other parts on Southshore you just talked about, there are parts 

all the way up between Anzac Drive and the river, Bexley, up into 

Travis. 

 

 I am just trying to get an understanding of the sort of risks, the sort of 30 

dangers that we as a Panel have to think about when we are thinking 

about a proportionate level of control.  Are there different risks and 

different dangers in different ranges, whether they are for life or 

property? 

 35 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, well I certainly have not analysed it that way.  I 

mean we have basically crunched the numbers and this is what the 

numbers produce, so I cannot give any differentiation between one area 

and another on that basis.   

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Or between the edges of the areas and the parts that might be 

closest to the rivers for example or closer to the sea.   

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Well, sure, if you are right beside a river it is most 

likely going to be flooding fast. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   So that is clearly a much greater hazard area than 

further away from the river.  But if you look at the wider areas in the 

red zone for example compared with Southshore, they are probably 5 

similar.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so even though Southshore might be more the sea water 

coming in or from the estuary coming in and upstream it might be a bit 

more freshwater - - - 10 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - they are not dissimilar in terms of the risks.   

 15 

MR HARRINGTON:   No, they are not dissimilar in terms of  risk in my mind, 

it is just about the depth.   

 

MS DAWSON:   About the depth, yes.   

 20 

MR HARRINGTON:   And when you get close to the river you have got 

velocity to deal with.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So that whole difference between whether there is a velocity 

involved, a high velocity versus a lesser velocity with depth, they do 25 

bring different policies.   

 

MR HARRINGTON:   That is right.  Well the chances are when you are close 

to a river you have not only got the depth but you have got velocity as 

well. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because some areas like upstream in the Heathcote, 

there is only, like in some places, just a small area of the high flood 

hazard that goes beyond the banks of the river, and I can imagine in 

those areas you could get high velocities. 35 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   That is right, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   As opposed to these areas which spread out more. 

 40 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, that is correct.   

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you.  I have got one other question on a 

different topic altogether, and it is to do with this question you refer to 

at paragraph 9.16, if you might recall it, it is from Mr Shipley of 45 
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Shipley’s Road, to do with the setback from the Waimakariri secondary 

stop-bank. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes.   

 5 

MS DAWSON:   And because the secondary stop-bank areas are shown on the 

planning maps as strips, and they do not show in that strip whether it is 

actually a stop-bank or a bit of higher ground that effectively acts like a 

stop-bank.  And you have said you have discussed this matter, because 

Mr Shipley’s concerned about the setback rule from the area that is 10 

marked on the planning maps, and you have said that it is intended to 

describe the area along the foot of the terrace rather than the high land 

and shouldn’t need to worry him. 

 

  [3.30 pm] 15 

 

 But all I am interested in, and I don’t know if you know, is the solution 

that you have discussed with Environment Canterbury, is that reflected 

in the rules, in other words do the rules marry up with what you 

understand? 20 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   I think if it was originally put in by myself I might do it 

differently and actually describe where the stop-bank was rather than 

along the foot of the stop-bank. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   But it doesn’t say that, it just says new buildings can’t be 

located within 50 metres of the secondary stop-bank setback shown on 

the planning maps? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   50, does it say 50? 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   “Within the 50 metre wide secondary stop-bank setback 

shown on the planning maps”. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Right, so that - - - 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So there is a green mark. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, there is a strip of land, a strip of land there and 

they don’t want to put buildings in that area. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   In it. 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   In it, yes. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So the 50 metres is encompassed in what is shown on the 

maps? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   All right, and it is 100 metres I think for the primary stop-

bank.  And you are satisfied as long as you are not within, that the strip 

that is shown on the maps adequately defines the stop-bank setback 

even in Mr Shipley’s situation? 

 10 

MR HARRINGTON:   I think it is a little bit peculiar that you would define the 

area along the foot of the bank but maybe it has been done because in 

the rest of the stop-bank there is actually a constructed stop-bank there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 15 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Right, and then it makes more sense.  So they are 

suggesting that the natural fall of the land forms a stop-bank in this 

particular case and that, just for continuity purposes, they have the 

same classification of that strip of land along the bottom.  And my 20 

reasoning evident in the evidence there is that the concern of 

Mr Shipley was that he couldn’t build on the bank if that remained 

there and because that area is actually defined along the foot of the 

bank and not on the top of the bank that he is concerned with, that it is 

of little relevance and why change it. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay.  So the area is at the foot of the bank? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much that is fine.  Thank you, that 

is all my questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Harrington, I am just going to first of all 

go through the process of getting something produced through you, 35 

which I indicated earlier on that I would do, and it is the extract from 

the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment’s November 

2015 report.  First of all I am going to give you an extract of that 

together with this, if you could show Mr Winchester this please before 

we give it to Mr Harrington. 40 

 

 And what I have got marked up in here is simply red tags to the pages 

that were copied, if Mr Winchester could see that please.  This is a 

public document so I don’t think there is any particular issue with 

production in any event. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   No, there is not, sir, and in fact we have had full copies 

of the document printed over lunchtime. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much, Mr Winchester.  So what we might do 

is have the full document produced through the witness as well, I think 5 

we may as well put the full document in. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I am not sure we have got sufficient copies, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will get copies run off through the Secretariat, if 10 

anyone would like to see that – just perhaps to Mr Scrase behind 

Mr Winchester please first.  Mr Scrase, this is referred to in the 

documents that your witness refers to.  Do you recognise that 

document, Mr Harrington? 

 15 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will now produce that as exhibit B, which is a full 

copy of the November 2015 PCE report to which I referred a previous 

witness to some extracts. 20 

 

EXHIBIT #B – NOVEMBER 2015 PARLIAMENTARY 

COMMISSIONER FOR THE ENVIRONMENT REPORT 

 

 Just a second matter, now before I ask this question I just want to 25 

double check something with Mr Scrase, so just in terms of that if you 

could just stand up for a minute please.   

 

  [3.35 pm] 

 30 

 Just in terms of the earlier questioning, Mr Scrase, of this witness, I 

have got a document in front of me which is dated today’s date because 

it has been printed off from the web but it is a Ministry for the 

Environment document headed “Adapting to Sea Level Rise” and it is a 

three page document, I take that to be the document you have provided 35 

to the Independent Secretariat? 

 

MR SCRASE:   Yes, and there is another one coming which is the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement which we - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we have got a copy of that but this is the document 

you are referring to for the purpose of my questioning? 

 

MR SCRASE:   Both this Ministry for the Environment and the CRPS. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 
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MR SCRASE:   Both have the same advice. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Harrington, I have just got a, and these 

may well be matters for counsel to question on anyway, but just for my 5 

own sake and because I am not particularly good at maths I wonder if 

you could help me.   

 

 So on the second page, page 2 of 3, you will see the heading “Planning 

out to 2090 to 2099”, do you see that?  If you are looking at the MfE 10 

three page document which I think you have got a copy of, do you have 

that copy?  No, you look like you are referring to the Parliamentary 

Commissioner for the Environment document.  Do you have on your 

desk a copy of I think, does the Independent Secretariat have a copy of 

that, I thought it was with the witness so that is not with the witness – 15 

that is the one if you could give that to the witness please.   

 

 Now, this document here is one which was handed in to the Secretariat 

following questioning of you by Mr Scrase.  Do you want to just have a 

look at that for a minute, you will see it is an MfE document headed 20 

“Adapting to Sea Level Rise”, have you got that? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if you could go to the second page, page 2 of 3. 25 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you see the heading “Planning out to 2090 to 2099”, 

do you see that? 30 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that second paragraph is saying at the very least all 

assessments should consider the consequences of a mean sea level rise 35 

of at least 0.8 metre relative to the 1980 and 1999 average, do you see 

that? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Then we go to the next heading “Planning beyond 2010”, 

and then the first sentence “For planning and decision timeframes 

beyond the end of this century use an additional allowance of 

10 millimetres per year”.  So is my calculation correct that if I add an 

extra 15 years, is that the first thing I should do? 45 
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MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in adding 15 years and on that calculation is that an 

extra 150 millimetres? 

 5 

MR HARRINGTON:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And is the combined total 0.95? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Correct. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And from your familiarity with the evidence that was 

tendered for stage 1 from Mr Ivemy (ph 2.55) is that calculation 

consistent with what he said in evidence? 

 15 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Right, now any questions arising, 

Mr Hughes-Johnson? 

 20 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Scrase? 

 

MR SCRASE:   No. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [3.38 pm] 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, although you have just reduced my 

burden somewhat with that line of questioning, thank you.  I just 

wonder, just to complete the circle in terms of the documents, if the 

regional policy statement could be brought up, chapter 11 and we go to 

page 128.  Can you see that, Mr Harrington? 35 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes, it is a bit hard to read. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, all right.  And you see under issue 11.1.5 climate 

change, the bottom paragraph of that issue talks about MfE guidance 40 

for local authorities to plan for the effects of – it is highlighted there on 

the screen, can you see that? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   And you have just answered questions from 

Judge Hassan about the MfE document, what if any inconsistency 

between that highlighted paragraph and the answers to the questions 

you have just given do you think there is? 

 5 

MR HARRINGTON:   I think they are very similar. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  One final matter, you were asked some 

questions by my learned friend Mr Hughes-Johnson about a 

certification regime for ground levels in the flood ponding management 10 

areas, do you recall that? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And do you recall a question or the suggestion that 15 

certification as an approach would be a superior mechanism because it 

would enable the best possible information to be applied at that time? 

 

  [3.40 pm] 

 20 

MR HARRINGTON:   Certification would be? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Certification of ground levels, as proposed by 

Mr Hughes-Johnson’s client? 

 25 

MR HARRINGTON:   Do I recall the question? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes – and do you recall the suggestion was made to you 

that certification would be a superior approach because it would enable 

the best possible information to be applied at that time? 30 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   It is a mixed question.  I recall the question but the 

question is kind of mixed. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right, well if the Council, instead of certification 35 

was considering a resource consent application would the information 

that was used by the Council differ at all depending upon which 

mechanism was used? 

 

MR HARRINGTON:   We would use the best and latest information at the 40 

time of the consent area. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you Mr Harrington.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It just occurs to me we should probably produce that MfE 45 

document as Exhibit C. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Sir. 

 

EXHIBIT #C - MFE DOCUMENT - ADAPTING TO SEA-LEVEL RISE 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much Mr Harrington, you are free to go. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.46 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we are running behind time, but we just have to push 10 

on.  And apologies for those, this is what happens about this dynamic 

process from time to time. 

 

 So we have got Mr Christensen next.   

15 
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<PETER CHRISTENSEN, sworn [3.46 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [3.47 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Good afternoon.  Do you confirm your full name is 

Peter Derek Christensen? 

 5 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you hold the qualifications and experience set out 

in your statement of evidence? 

 10 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And you have produced just one 

statement of evidence for this particular hearing, evidence-in-chief 

dated 21 January 2016? 15 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any additions or amendments to that 

statement? 20 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   No I do not. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Do you confirm then that the evidence is 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 25 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you have a highlights package, summary of your 

evidence to read to the Panel,  I will ask you to read that please, bearing 30 

in mind that the Panel has read your evidence in advance, so just a 

summary, and remain where you are and answer any questions. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   I m a chartered professional engineer and I am 

currently working with the Christchurch City Council as a technical 35 

advisor within the Land Drainage Recovery Programme, which I will 

refer to as LDRP.   

 

 I have been asked to present evidence on behalf of the Council about 

the importance of the flood ponding management areas to the LDRP, 40 

and my evidence aligns with the Statement of Expectations for the 

Christchurch Replacement District Pan where item 8 requires a plan to 

set a clear direction on the use and development of land for the purpose 

of avoiding or mitigating natural hazards. 

 45 
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 Now the LDRP was established by the Council in 2012 to understand 

the consequences of the earthquakes on the city’s land drainage 

network.  We investigate the extent of the increased flood risk resulting 

from the earthquakes and to identify mitigation options to restore flood 

risk to pre-earthquake levels.   5 

 

 The LDRP currently has investigations and/or physical works 

underway or completed with the Cranford and Upper Heathcote 

Ponding areas.  These ponding areas to linked to areas which could 

experience some of the greatest increase in flood risk due to the 10 

earthquakes: the Dudley Creek area and the Heathcote River.   

 

 Now maintenance of natural ponding areas through the FPMAs is an 

important part of a flood management system in Christchurch as they 

act as buffers during extreme events, holding water upstream and 15 

slowly reducing it over time.  This attenuates peak flows and reduces 

downstream flood levels.   

 

 The removal of protection from these ponding areas would likely 

increase the downstream flood risk in areas which already had an 20 

increased risk of flooding due to earthquake effects. 

 

 My evidence focused on the Upper Heathcote ponding area as an 

example of the important of maintaining these ponding areas.  The 

LDRP has examined the feasibility and costs of linear flood protection 25 

along the Heathcote River and the costs of works along the mid-

Heathcote is estimated at over $200 million for flood walls. 

 

  [3.45 pm] 

 30 

 In addition, implementation of such works would be difficult due to the 

constrained corridor available.  Planning interventions would also 

result in significant costs and would take a long time to implement.  

Given the likely timeframe for such works the LDRP initiated 

investigations to analyse whether additional flood detention storage in 35 

the Upper Heathcote would provide any benefit to residential dwellings 

along the Heathcote River. 

 

 The additional modelling results have been positive, showing benefits 

downstream which mitigates some of the effects of the earthquakes on 40 

flooding.   

 

 Based on this preliminary analysis it is my view that optimising storage 

in the Upper Heathcote area provides a strategic flood management 

opportunity of Council, it meets a range of Council objectives, and 45 
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presents a potential component of strategic long-term sustainable 

engineering intervention. 

 

 If the existing storage available within ponding areas such as 

Henderson’s Basin is lost then flooding downstream of these areas will 5 

likely be worsened, and the opportunity to utilise that storage to 

mitigate of the effects of the earthquakes on flooding will be lost.  It 

will also likely increase the costs of any other solutions adopted.   

 

 I note also in Mr Lewis’ evidence on behalf of Cashmere Fields that 10 

some landowners believe the Council is allowing flooding on their land 

so that Council may buy up land and use the Henderson’s Basin more 

extensively for flood mitigation.  And he states that my evidence 

alludes to this. 

 15 

 It is correct, the Council is actively engaged in the process to purchase 

more land in Henderson’s Basin for flood protection, particularly to 

mitigate earthquake effects.  However, I have never seen nor heard any 

evidence that would support the claim that Council is allowing 

additional flooding to occur in order to purchase land for flood 20 

mitigation, or for any reason whatsoever. 

 

 On the contrary, Council is currently involved in a number of schemes 

to reduce flooding throughout Christchurch, and in particular the Upper 

Heathcote.  Where Council proposes to purchase land in the Upper 25 

Heathcote for flood mitigation it is the natural ponding areas which 

have always been flood prone. 

 

 Protecting existing natural ponding areas from further development is 

consistent with the Statement of Expectations in allowing development 30 

within the ponding areas would increase risk from flooding. 

 

 In conclusion, protecting these natural ponding areas is one of the most 

important means of avoiding and mitigating flood risk in Christchurch.  

This was true before the earthquakes, but the negative impact on flood 35 

risk as a result of the earthquakes mainly serves to increase the 

importance of maintaining these ponding areas as a buffer to the flood 

events that Christchurch is vulnerable to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lewis? 40 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LEWIS [3.47 pm] 

 

MR LEWIS:   In your evidence you mention the Land Drainage Recovery 

Plan; Is that a public document? 45 
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MR CHRISTENSEN:   The Land Drainage Recovery Programme can be 

learned about on the Council website, and the summary report is a 

public document, yes. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you.  In 3.1 you evidence describes the importance of the 5 

plan in maintaining natural ponding areas, and you go onto say, “these 

areas provide a natural buffering function for attenuating flood waters, 

which reduces the impact on other areas.  The increase in flood risk in 

many areas is a result of the earthquake effect the important of this 

natural function is increased.” 10 

 

 You then go on and say “the LDRP is currently intended to increase the 

storage potential in those areas to provide mitigation downstream” – 

presumably for earthquakes, is that correct? 

 15 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   That is correct. 

 

MR LEWIS:   How does the LDRP propose to increase the storage potential? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Either through excavation of areas the Council already 20 

owns, or with the purchase of additional land and storing additional 

flood waters on there, providing there is no adverse effect on any other 

parties. 

 

MR LEWIS:   So you will increase the areas that will flood? 25 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   On Council owned land.   

 

MR LEWIS:   Would you raise the levels that flood? 

 30 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   On Council owned land, yes. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Raise the flood level, sorry. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   On Council owned land, yes.   35 

 

MR LEWIS:   Yes.  So you would restrict the outflows from those areas? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Potentially.  There is a study underway to look at 

optimising storage throughout the Upper Heathcote area, and that is 40 

one of the options being considered. 

 

MR LEWIS:   There is quite a long time of concentration for the Heathcote and 

these ponding areas and that sort of thing, so if you want to get the 

maximum effect downstream you have got to store the water for a long 45 

time.  How do you propose to do that? 
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  [3.50 pm] 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   As I said that is currently being modelled as to exactly 

what length of time we need to store that and that maybe storing water 5 

in some parts longer than we currently do to ensure that that benefit is 

transferred downstream. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Is there any intention to involve private landowners that wish to 

assist? 10 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   That would be considered, yes. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Lewis.  I think we are straight into Panel 

questions, Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, sir, good afternoon I just see here in 4.3 you are 

64 percent away through the investigation, the remaining in 2016 and 

in the first three years you intend to spend 170-odd million on the 25 

implementation. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   That is correct. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   A fair bit of that is land purchase, or is that outside 30 

land purchase? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   I would say approximately 30 percent is on the Dudley 

Flockton works, there is a portion of it which is land purchase and then 

there is other physical work such as pump stations to detention basins 35 

and channel upgrade.  That is city wide – this is not talking about 

particular flood ponding areas, it is city wide. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   My question really relates to how all that work when 

it is completed is likely to effect the high flood hazard management 40 

area, to what extent will that mitigate that high hazard flooding if any? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   The mandate of the LDRP is to restore flood risk to 

pre-earthquake levels.  Now obviously any time you enact works is 

going to be potentially indirect pediment but that is not our purpose.  45 

Any flood mitigation works are likely to have an effect on the extent of 
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some of those areas.  It will be on a case by case basis I guess.  I guess 

it is true with any planning device that changes occur within the 

catchment over time and plans catch up over time. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you, sir, that could, am I correct in saying that 5 

that could affect the potential boundary of a high hazard flood 

management area? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Potentially, yes. 

 10 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thanks, Mr Christensen. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Likewise from me I do not have any questions, your 

evidence was clear to me.  Thank you, now are there any questions 

arising, Mr Lewis from the only Panel questions that were asked? 

 20 

MR LEWIS:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, any questions arising or re-examination, 

Mr Winchester? 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, you are free to go, thanks Mr Christensen. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.53 pm] 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, now I think what we will do now is take a seven 

minute recess until four o’clock after which we will hear from 

Ms Robinson.  Thank you. 

 35 

ADJOURNED [3.53 pm] 

 

RESUMED [4.08 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Apologies everyone for being a bit late; seven minutes 40 

was a bit unrealistic for me, I am afraid. 

 

 Now are we hearing from Ms Watson, is it? 

 

MS WATSON:  Yes, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right and thank you, we have read the 

submissions and see Ms Robertson there as well and we are familiar 

with the arguments and, we had the comment from Mr Winchester this 

morning also on things, so feel free to take us through.  You will have 

an opportunity to address further on it if you wish to in closing 5 

obviously as well. 

 

MS WATSON:   Before we move to our submissions we just wanted to clarify 

a couple of issues if that is okay? 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, sure. 

 

MS WATSON:   It is just in relation to the ponding overlay and the hazard 

overlay and we have spoken to Mr Winchester and Ms Scott about that 

and it has been agreed and by the Council that the overlays can be 15 

removed from our client’s land that is zoned for residential purposes 

and this is in Iris Brookland’s evidence and also referred to in 

Peter Christensen’s evidence.   

 

 We have just noticed that it has not been highlighted in the legal 20 

submissions and so we just wanted to make sure that that was on the 

table. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Winchester, are you able to answer on that 

now or do you need time to get instructions? 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I would just prefer the instructions if you do not mind, 

sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 30 

 

  [4.10 pm] 

 

MS WATSON:  So I will just take you through our submissions and starting 

from paragraph three we are simply addressing the issue of scope in 35 

relation to the FMA rules which in terms of this land were notified at 

Stage 1 and all of the other issues in relation to the submissions filed on 

behalf of the submitters have been agreed with by the Council. 

 

 Now just in terms of how this has come about, the parts of the land that 40 

were identified within the FMA at Stage 1, the reason that a submission 

was not made at that stage in relation to that specific area was that the 

operative Plan contained extensive site specific rules in relation to this 

land and that included extensive rules in relation to fill and excavation. 

 45 
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 And rightly or wrongly we assumed that the site specific rules would be 

included in the Replacement Plan at either Stage 3 or when we realised 

there was going to be a Stage 3; that was when we thought it would 

happen.  Obviously Stage 3 was notified and we realised that this had 

not happened and those site specific rules had been missed out of the 5 

replacement Plan. 

 

 We did not understand that the Council considered this submission was 

beyond scope as when the memorandum was filed that listed all of the 

submitters whose submissions were considered to be out of scope this 10 

submission was not mentioned so we presumed that the Council 

accepted that this issue could be dealt with at Stage 3 because of 

circumstances that had arisen in relation to the site specific rules being 

missed out and that was the reason why we had not made the 

submission at Stage 1. 15 

 

 So we realised at the formal mediation that there was an issue from this 

point of view and we are still submitting that there is the ability for this 

issue to be resolved as part of this approach, simply on the basis that it 

is not something that is totally out of left field. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it needs to be, I mean effectively, I hear what you 

are saying about the background, now whether or not that has got a 

bearing on the question of the exercise of any discretionary judgement 

we have is one thing and of course primarily if your argument is around 25 

scope, regardless of the sympathy we might have or otherwise for the 

background issues, we need to be confident we have got the scope. 

 

 If we do not have the scope of course there are powers under the Order 

in Council that might be available as well potentially and as I say you 30 

will have the opportunity to fully elaborate your argument on this and 

obviously now is what you are doing. 

 In terms of the Palmerston North case; one of the issues in regard to the 

Palmerston North case which I am interested in is in a process of this 

kind are there material characteristics of this process of part chapter by 35 

part chapter approach to the development of the Plan that are in any 

way relevant to considering how one applies Palmerston North.  

Clearly it is authority we must apply and it replaces the nature’s best 

type of approach to scope quite clearly and refutes that as being invalid 

as an approach. 40 

 

 But in terms of what Palmerston North is trying to say, Justice Couch 

decision in making sure we are not overly prescriptive in our thinking 

on it to the point we are being too literal, whether or not there are 

things about the context of this review process in chapters that allows 45 

for that authority to apply in this context. 
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MS WATSON:   My understanding is that that authority did not address the 

issue of staging. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MS WATSON:   So - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in that material fact difference how can you help us, in 

other words you can distinguish that aspect of it and you need to help 10 

us on the legal principles for that point of difference. 

 

MS WATSON:   Our argument principally comes down to the fact that we do 

not think anybody will be materially prejudiced by taking that holistic 

view of the Replacement Plan as a plan change. 15 

 

  [4.15 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you are looking there at the underlying principles of 

process that Justice Couch was applying his mind to and saying if we 20 

look at that underlying - - - 

 

MS WATSON:   Principle. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - process principle and thinking about those process 25 

principles here. 

 

MS WATSON:   That nobody is going to be unfairly disadvantaged due to the 

site specific nature of this change that we are seeking, and also because 

of the history of this matter as it has been through significant litigation 30 

history where there has been a lot of people involve at the Environment 

Court level.  So it makes it quite distinct from perhaps other situations 

where people are trying to make changes that could affect somebody; 

this only relates to specific land owned by submitters in this situation. 

 35 

 Having said that, if the Panel decides that it is not within the scope and 

the Panel decides to take a purer approach to the issue of scope, then as 

you have already addressed, sir, we still think you have got the ability 

to make this change due to your powers under the Order. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Under minor change? 

 

MS WATSON:   Yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On the basis of the same argument if effect in process 45 

terms it is so specific to the site, if not credible to assume that there is 
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any unrepresented party before us with a relevant interest that missed 

out on an opportunity to make their point? 

 

MS WATSON:   Yes, and also on the basis that it is still even making this 

change, it will still achieve all the policies and objectives in relation to 5 

this natural hazard area, and part of the purpose of this rule package is 

to ultimately transfer this land to the Christchurch City Council for use 

in terms of flood ponding to alleviate the risk in terms of the Heathcote 

that has been discussed previously by other witnesses.   

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS WATSON:   Ultimately if the Panel decides that it is more than a minor 

effect, we would request that this Proposal could be notified and there 

would be an opportunity for submissions to be made on it.   15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  I might just ask Mr Winchester a question, if 

you don’t mind. 

 

 Mr Winchester, on that second issue about the availability of our 20 

powers under the Order in Council to make a minor change, are you in 

a position to comment now, or would you prefer to reserve on whether 

or not the Council would have any anxiety about that at all on the basis 

of the site specific nature of this issue? 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   I think I indicated orally this morning, sir, that the 

Council is inclined to the view that the clause 13.6 power was available 

and that the change would be of no more than minor effect.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   The more I have thought about it, and heard my learned 

friends’ arguments this afternoon, I think I have firmed up on my 

tentative view this morning that there is a live scope issue here, 

irrespective of the circumstances, in that the change is beyond scope.  I 35 

would say I think motor machinist does need to be read with some 

caution in that it dealt with a site specific, and somewhat issue specific 

confined plan change, and we are dealing with here a full review.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.   40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And therefore there is inevitably some greater latitude.  

The only issue here is of course the question of staging, which has 

created somewhat artificial barriers. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  I think my instincts would say to me first of all that I 

am with you on that, and I think on the matter of the different context – 

the issue I guess then becomes, “So where do we find the law on this 

bit that Justice Couch did not before him?” – and no doubt we go to the 

authorities, such as Clearwater, that he relied on but we might again 5 

find in these authorities that this is a bit of a novel circumstance we are 

dealing with here.   

 

  [4.20 pm] 

 10 

 But if, in fact, that is somewhat of an academic point because 

effectively, secondly we have the powers under the Order in Council 

possibly acknowledging the fact that we are in a novel situation with 

this Plan process.  It might make that point relatively academic about 

scope in that if the powers are available under the Order of Council that 15 

might be best where we make our judgement calls. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I am inclined to agree with you, sir, in that I would 

be loath to say that Motor Machinists and the rationale in that does not 

apply and in some circumstances it absolutely will, particularly where 20 

there is significant new relief and prejudice. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Absolutely. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And, you know, a “me too” type situation which could 25 

not have been foreseen. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, which goes to the underlying drivers of what that 

decision is about, although there are two elements to that decision; that 

is the second element and the first element being as quoted in 30 

Ms Watson’s submissions. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, so it is the fairness and transparency issue and 

ability for participation and the potential for people to be prejudiced by 

not having notice. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I wonder whether, in fact, that in some ways there is a 

remedy intended by the order in Council to something contemplated by 

the nature of this process where one still looks at that process fairness 

dimension and judging whether it is minor or not.  We need to make 40 

that on a properly informed basis. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  But if both the Council and Ms Watson’s clients were on 45 

the same footing that we can be told that we are safe, that it is not 
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conceivable that there could be interest in this that we have not been 

able to be hearing from and, therefore, prejudiced in that process sense. 

 

 So, if I hear you now to say effectively that is what the Council thinks, 

that was certainly the hint you gave this morning and if that view was 5 

firmed up I guess that assists us and once we have the firm views of 

both counsel on that then we are in a position probably to make a ruling 

which I am inclined to do by a Minute rather than include in the 

decision as a whole so this matter can be dealt with in a discrete way. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I am quite content with that, sir, and the only thing 

I would add is I am not sure that the existence of extensive 

Environment Court litigation should have a bearing on the Court’s 

consideration of whether a change is of minor effect. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I agree.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   But those are my more considered submissions on the 

issue.  I am happy to put them in writing if necessary. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, I do not think that is necessary if the 

position is effectively that in that sense on the second track, in other 

words, through the order in Council, the Council really does not have 

any material point of difference from Ms Watson’s submissions. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think we could rely on the transcript for those arguments 

and Ms Watson’s submissions and then be able to make a 

determination on that by Minute. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   As Your Honour pleases. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   As soon as we can. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there anything you wanted to address by way of reply, 

Ms Watson? 

 40 

MS WATSON:   No, that would be a good approach, Your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, all right.  Well, we will get to that as soon as 

we can.  Now, Mr Hughes-Johnson, back to you. 

 45 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you, sir.  I see there is no provision for an 

opening.  Really, I think what is in dispute between the Case family 

and the Council in particular is fairly well known.  I have actually 

prepared an opening - - - 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, feel free to provide it to us but certainly it is not on 

the timetable.  It is probably a little bit of an omission but - - - 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well, it does not really matter. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:    We are obviously pretty familiar with the sort of points 

you have been raising in cross-examination and having read the 

evidence.   

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   That is right.  Perhaps the most helpful thing 15 

about the opening, if I may respectfully say so, is the table which 

follows my written text and it shows an overview of the issue which 

had been raised by the Case family with the response from both the 

Council and the Crown and that just simply reflects the 

cross-examination and the position has been reached, but it is a helpful 20 

touchstone, so to speak, to see what that is about. 

 

 The second thing is – it is not a matter in dispute now but you can see 

at the back of the submissions some plans which were produced at the 

Cranford Basin Hearing.  They are put in simply to show that you can 25 

have a subdivision where part of the lot is within and part outside a 

flood management area or whatever it is so that is really the only 

reason that I put that in but it was just that is now no longer an issue 

because there has been agreement. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   So, looking at my – and I will not read the 

opening because I think the matters in dispute are set out in that table 

and secondly, my cross-examination really has already dealt with the 35 

matters on the areas of disagreement, they would be clear to the Panel 

now. 

 

  [4.25 pm] 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   So with that I propose to call Mr Thompson to 

give evidence. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   I have already circulated his summary, which is 

headed “Corrections”, and then I think there is a summary, and 

attached to that document is exhibit A, which is the up to date version 

of the rules with Mr Thompson’s suggested amendments. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 
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<PAUL McMILLAN THOMPSON, affirmed [4.25 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR HUGHES-JOHNSON [4.26 pm] 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Mr Thompson, your full name is Paul McMillan 

Thompson? 

 5 

MR THOMPSON:   It is. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Your brief of evidence was submitted and dated 

2 February 2016? 

 10 

MR THOMPSON:   Correct. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And you confirm your own details in that 

statement and also what is within the statement? 

 15 

MR THOMPSON:   I do. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And would you now – you have prepared - I think  

there is one brief correction you need to make, but beyond that you 

have prepared a summary which you would like to read to the Panel 20 

now, is that right? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

 In terms of corrections, there is one correction to flag in relation to the 25 

evidence I have prepared. It relates to the last page in relation to 

specific relief sought for rule 5.8.8.4 NC1, this should refer to the High 

Flood Hazard Management Area rather than the Ponding Management 

Area. 

 30 

 However, I have prepared amended relief which counsel for the Case 

family circulated earlier this morning, for your attention towards the 

amended relief. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right, so the amended relief replaces that 35 

wording and I see it written on your summary? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   It is, yes.   

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   I think you confirm that exhibit A, so to speak, or 40 

attachment A, whatever you like to call it, to your document represents 

the amended relief post the discussions you have had with Ruth Evans 

and Dr Saunders? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, it does, yes, with both Ruth Evans and Dr Saunders. 45 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you, just carry on would you. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Turning to my highlights package and the text for this has 

been pre-circulated already, but I will read through it unless you want 

me to do otherwise.  Speaking to my evidence I set out those matters 5 

where I believe agreement has been reached with the Council but shall 

focus on those matters that remain outstanding. 

 

 In response to rebuttal evidence of Ruth Evans for the Council and 

Dr Saunders for the Crown, and as a result of further discussions, I 10 

prepared amended relief which is presented as exhibit A. 

 

 By way of overview, my evidence seeks to make refinements to the 

rules frameworks for the Food Management Areas, Flood Ponding 

Management Areas and High Flood Hazard Management Areas. 15 

 

 I believe agreement has been reached with the Council with regards to 

firstly the replacement to repair existing buildings as a permitted 

activity and the ponding management areas and high flood hazard 

management areas and secondly, subdivision of land that was partly 20 

within flood pond management areas and high flood hazard 

management areas and provide sufficient area outside of those overlays 

to enable a complying dwelling to be established. 

 

 The main issues that remain outstanding relate to firstly, the 25 

replacement and repair of existing buildings as a permitted activity in 

flood management areas, secondly, providing for new buildings or 

additions to existing buildings in flood ponding management areas that 

do not reduce flood storage capacity or impede flood water flow paths, 

and lastly, providing for accessory structures in flood ponding 30 

management areas such as decks, swimming pools, and enclosed 

buildings, (INDISTINCT 4.38) floors, et cetera. 

 

 I will briefly turn to discuss each of these. 

 35 

 The first point, the relief sought through replacement and repair of 

existing buildings in flood management areas, is that the same 

provisions should apply as the Council has proposed for high flood 

hazard management areas and the Council have agreed to propose for 

flood ponding management areas. 40 

 

  [4.30 pm] 

 

 This provides a permitted activity pathway subject to two activity 

specific standards with any non-compliance assessed as a non-45 

complying activity. 



 Page 148 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

 

 The point of difference with the Council is the second activity specific 

standard which allows replaced or repaired buildings to be located in a 

position on the site that is no lower than the existing building.  The 

Council position is that relocated buildings should meet the minimum 5 

floor level requirements for the flood management area.  This is more 

onerous than the equivalent provisions in the flood ponding 

management areas and high flood hazard management areas and is 

considered less effective in encouraging property owners to incorporate 

measures beyond existing use rights in accordance with policy 5.2.1.6B 10 

in the proposed relief. 

 

 If I can just add as well, in response to some comments made by Ruth 

Evans, Ruth referred if property owners agree to raise their floor levels 

to the minimum floor level then there would be an incentive in terms of 15 

becoming a permitted activity under the FMA and therefore under all 

overlays.  But I would add that that also adds higher costs of 

compliance both for design and for building construction and I consider 

that to be less effective in terms of enticing people beyond what 

existing use rights provide. 20 

 

 The other matter to mention is that as all flood ponding management 

areas and high flood hazard management areas are also within flood 

management areas then the regulatory framework for each of overlay 

has to be complied with separately.  The Council’s position also makes 25 

the permitted activity status rules for replacement and repair of existing 

buildings that it has proposed for flood ponding management areas and 

high flood hazard management areas ineffective as the absence of the 

equivalent rule within the rules framework for FMAs would make the 

activity a restricted discretionary activity. 30 

 

 Turning to the issue of new buildings.  The relief sought for new 

buildings or extensions in flood ponding management areas seeks to 

introduce a more transparent, responsive and fair regulatory framework 

for land that has been identified as flood ponding management areas on 35 

the planning maps but has a ground level at or above design flood level.  

Where such areas are large enough to locate a building or building 

extension then these activities could take place without affecting flood 

storage capacity or impeding the flow of floodwater in accordance with 

policy 5.2.2.1 and in particular clause F. 40 

 

 This situation could arise due to a number of circumstances including 

limitations in the Council’s modelling that informs the planning maps, 

the exercise of permitted filling activities under either the operative city 

plan as at present or the replacement district plan or both.  The 45 

Council’s planning response does not give any recognition to these 



 Page 149 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

circumstances and proposes all new buildings as a non-complying 

activity to be assessed on a case by case basis.  While this approach can 

be acceptable when the likelihood of potential consequence of a natural 

hazard is not known, precautionary approach, this is unreasonable 

when information is available to establish that land is not susceptible to 5 

a natural hazard. 

 

 The Council’s planning response also imposes undue costs and 

uncertainty on landowners when limitations in the mapping of flood 

ponding management areas are not of their own making or is in 10 

response to a landowner undertaking their activity as of right as a 

permitted activity. 

 

 The proposed relief puts forward a more targeted planning response 

and enables landowners to apply for a minimum ground level 15 

certificate.  The relief brings the planning response for flood ponding 

management areas in line with the planning response that applies or is 

proposed by the Council to apply to FMAs in that introduces an 

equivalent mechanism to the minimum floor level certificate that 

allows the most up-to-date flood modelling information to be used to 20 

inform consent requirements and enable landowners to make informed 

decisions. 

 

 The proposed relief allows firstly landowners to apply to the Council 

for a minimum ground level certificate with the same information as 25 

that required for a minimal floor level certificate, essentially the 

location of a proposed building or extension.  A minimum ground level 

certificate request would involve Council undertaking a technical 

assessment against specified criteria with reference to the Council’s 

relevant information databases to provide information on the design 30 

flood level in that location. 

 

 The proposed building or extension would be a permitted activity if the 

minimum ground level of the identified location is at or above the level 

specified in the certificate.  Conversely if the land is lower than the 35 

level specified in the certificate a new building or extension would be a 

non-complying activity.  The determination of these matters sits with 

the rules of the plan and not the certificate. 

 

  [4.35 pm] 40 

 

 It is understood that the council has reservations that the certification 

pathway will send the wrong signal and may encourage incremental 

earthworks within flood ponding management areas, however the 

certification process would not enable any earthworks that are not 45 
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already proposed by the Council to be permitted in accordance with the 

relevant objectives and policies. 

 

 Furthermore, as the certification process introduces a mechanism that 

can work in both directions flood levels could equally go up as they 5 

could go down in response to improved environmental information, and 

the relief is more equitable and transparent and avoids unnecessary 

consenting uncertainties and compliance costs. 

 

 The relief is considered to be more effective and efficient and overall is 10 

considered a more appropriate way to achieve the objectives and 

policies. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Just pause there. Your draft certification 

provision mirrors, does it not, the provisions of the minimum floor 15 

level certificate save in one respect, is that right? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   It does, yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   That is referenced at rule 5.3.1.2A (i).  Is that 20 

right? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Does that number reference take me to the minimum floor 

level certificate wording? 

 25 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   5.3.1.2 minimum floor level certificate? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, it does. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right, now save in one respect and that is that the 30 

minimum floor level is plus 400 millimetres free board over and above 

the certification you are talking about, and in order to assist the Panel 

have you done a handwritten diagram and my friends have a copy? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, I apologise it is very low tack as a schematic 35 

illustration at lunchtime so I guess it is tabled as Exhibit #B. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Just pause just while - and have you got a copy of 

that have you? 

 40 

MR THOMPSON:   No, I do not actually. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Now, I do not think there is any magic in that 

document is there, it simply shows does it not the difference and I think 

this is in response to Commissioner Dawson’s question at the end and 45 

his Honour suggested that you may want to comment on that, now that 
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the question is whether or not the two certifications are compatible and 

can live together, would you comment on that please? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   That is correct.  I thought this diagram would be useful to 

show the potential relationship between the two certificates if the 5 

ground level certificate was introduced for the flood ponding 

management area.   

 

 What we can see is an area of land that is cross-hatched, so that is the 

land that would be relevant for the proposed ground level certificate for 10 

the flood ponding management area.  It would identify that land that 

sits above the designed flood level.  Now it may be the case that it is 

still not high enough to meet the minimum floor level requirements of 

the FMA.   

 15 

 The maximum difference would be 400 millimetres.  This is pretty 

much the sole difference between the ponding area and the FMA is the 

removal of the free board, which is 400 millimetres.  That difference of 

400 millimetres could easily be accommodated by building design.  I 

have just drawn some rudimentary piles but bearing in mind that the 20 

average step is 17 centimetres, 170 millimetres, we are talking about 

two steps or three steps rather than one into a house. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   I thank you.  Just read accessory structure, your 

last - - -  25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Call that exhibit #D. 

 

EXHIBIT #D – DIAGRAM SHOWING FMA MIN FLOOR LEVEL AND 

FPMA DESIGN FLOOD LEVEL 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just while we are there, Mr Lewis, your exhibit is now run 

as a confirmed exhibit A. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Sorry and this is exhibit sorry, what sir? 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So this is #D and I am just letting Mr Lewis know that it 

is no longer provisional, his exhibit is exhibit #A. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you. 40 

 

MR THOMPSON:   The third issue that remains outstanding with the council 

concerns accessory structures such as decks, swimming pools and 

enclosed buildings about floors.  The first relief is to make these 

activities permitted in flood ponding management areas in the same 45 

manner as they are permitted in flood management areas, since in 
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relation to the policy requirement for the flood management areas are 

they are unlike to suffer material damage during a flood event, and in 

relation to the policy requirement for the flood ponding management 

areas, neither are they likely to reduce the flood storage capacity and 

impede the flow of floodwater consistent with policy 5.2.21. 5 

 

  [4.40 pm] 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you.  Now stay there would you and just 

answer any questions, thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Randal? 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir, in terms of the flood ponding management 

area certification issue I have been reflecting during the course of the 15 

day and I think a lot of my learned friends’ questioning and the 

clarifications that Mr Thompson has given, I do not think I am actually 

obliged to put any of this matter to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you for that. 20 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester? 

 25 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [4.40 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Afternoon, Mr Thompson.  I wonder, it 

might be easiest given the various bits of paper we have got in front of 

us, just to focus on your summary of evidence that you have prepared 30 

and submitted this afternoon which was really helpful, thank you. 

 

 And I just want to go into the exhibit and try and isolate where the 

points of difference lie as I understand them.  So if we go to your 

Exhibit #A and it is not page numbered, but 5.3.1.1 and the table there 35 

and the additional rule P17, that is not agreed is it? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   No, it is not agreed. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you.  And if we go over a couple of pages to 40 

5.8.6.1 and P14, that is not agreed? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And the other ones P15, 16, 17 not agreed either. 45 
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MR THOMPSON:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, and then just across the page obviously, 

5.8.6.1 the certification. 

 5 

MR THOMPSON:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So that is really what we are talking about. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay, great, thank you. Now dealing with the first 

matter of replacement and repair of existing buildings in flood 

management areas, you have said in your summary of evidence that the 

Council position is that a relocated building should meet the minimum 15 

floor level requirements for the FMA. This is more onerous than the 

equivalent provisions in the FPMAs and HFHMAs.  Can you just point 

me to the equivalent provisions that you are talking about? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, so in the Flood Ponding Management Area if you 20 

desired to relocate your building then under rule 5.8.6.1 P13 you could 

replace your building subject to two activity standards, A and B.  B 

allows for the replaced or repaired building to be located in a position 

on the site that is no lower than the existing building.  Now the same 

wording sits in relation to the High Flood Hazard Management Areas 25 

under rule 5.8.8.1 P1.   

 

 Now, if we look at the FMA rules, which if I run from the ones that sit 

in under table 5.3.1.1B, now P4 relates to additions to existing 

buildings, but we are wanting to potentially relocate our existing 30 

buildings, so P4 does not cover it.  P5, additions to existing buildings 

that do not increase the GFA, the ground floor area, would not be 

equivalent.  P6, additions of garages do not increase the ground floor 

area of an existing building more than 25 square metres in a 10 year 

period, that is not equivalent. 35 

 

 P7 relates to garages so it is not the same, so there is nothing there so in 

that case your proposal which is to relocate an existing building, would 

have to fall into P3 which classifies it as a new building.  If you do not 

achieve the minimum floor level, which is the activity specific standard 40 

in A then you get caught by RD1 of rule 5.3.1.5. You have to apply for 

a restricted discretionary activity. 
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  [4.45 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay.  Well what I am trying to understand is where is 

the exemption from the need to have a minimum floor area in the flood 

ponding management area and the high flood hazard management area?  5 

I cannot figure out where the exemption exists.  There is no exemption, 

is there? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Well, the word exemption, there is nothing to be exempt, 

it is not a requirement.   10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.   

 

MR THOMPSON:   It is not a requirement if, as I say, the wording is only to 

replace or repair buildings located in a position that is no lower than the 15 

existing building.  But that is not saying that the floor level of that 

existing building has to be at the minimum floor level of the FMA, so it 

is a lower floor level.  That is provided for by the flood ponding 

management area and the high flood hazard management area for 

existing buildings. 20 

 

 So the difference here is that Council’s proposed for its framework, for 

the FMA, for the flood ponding management area and the high flood 

hazard management area treats the relocation of an existing building as 

an existing building, but in the FMA it treats the relocation of an 25 

existing building as a new building, which then triggers the minimum 

floor level requirement, which is a more onerous higher level. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right, okay so in terms of what you say the effect of the 

rules is then the regulatory control in flood management areas is higher 30 

than it is for flood ponding and high flood management areas? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And just thinking about the policy framework and the 35 

appropriateness of what you say the outcome is; do you not think that is 

a perverse outcome? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, well I think it is inconsistent. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   And I think that the starting point is getting a bit confused.  

For starting an existing building and I guess this issue initially arose 

because Council proposed it in relation to the high flood hazard 45 

management area, and I thought it was quite innovative, it was enticing 
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people to move away from their existing use rights, which of course 

only allows you to essentially put back on your same building footprint.   

 

 But – I might have just lost my trail of thought – but in relation to the 

FMA, if you move away from the existing footprint then you are 5 

beyond your existing use rights and you get caught as a new building. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  And do you not think, bearing in mind, oh first of 

all, do you think that in those discrete areas of flood ponding 

management overlays and high flood hazard management area, they are 10 

a subset of the FMA, aren’t they? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   They are. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and do you not think that in terms of the policy 15 

framework they represent areas of higher risk and different 

management approach? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Well, in relation to the ponding areas, well I mean as 

commented earlier, the different overlays have got different policies 20 

relating to their creation; the ponding is the same flood event, it is the 

one in 200 year, the high hazard being the one in 500.  But the evidence 

in terms of the economic evidence for externalities then, yes, 

conceivably the ponding areas are very important, and potentially in 

some places more important than FMAs. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  Well think about the FMAs, what that does, that 

applies to large areas of the city and the requirement there is to 

basically prevent people from getting their feet wet in their house, isn’t 

it? 30 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

  [4.50 pm] 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   And then you think about the flood ponding 

management areas and that is for flood storage which performs a quite 

different function. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And then the high hazard management areas is 

basically, on my understanding of Mr Harrington’s evidence, is more 

concerned with personal risk rather than property damage per se. 

 45 



 Page 156 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

 So, bearing in mind that graduated framework, do you accept that is 

accurately reflected in the policies? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Then isn’t the proposal to have a lower regulatory 

regime for new buildings and relocated buildings in those discrete 

management areas somewhat inconsistent with the policy framework? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   I might have to ask you to ask that question again. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, you are suggesting a lower hurdle from a 

consenting perspective. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   No, I am suggesting the same. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  I see. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   No, I am suggesting that all overlays should treat the same 

type of activity the same way. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.  Well, even bearing in mind that answer, don’t 

you think there is a bit of an incongruous relationship between the 

policy framework and the sort of outcome that you are promoting? 

 25 

MR THOMPSON:   No, I think I might be misunderstood because I am 

promoting that a better way to incentivise people to repair and replace 

existing buildings is to entice them to put them on higher ground as a 

first instance, and if you go a bit too far and require them also to have 

that building at a minimum flood level then they may say, “I am not 30 

doing any of that.  I am going to stay where I am.” And actually that 

building is now at a lower level that it could otherwise be and that is a 

higher risk situation that would not otherwise have resulted. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right, and your rule or your proposed rule also 35 

relates to new buildings in flood ponding management areas, does it 

not? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   In terms of the certification process? 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMPSON:  Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And just thinking about the relationship with the policy 45 

framework you would accept, would you not, that the flood ponding 
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management areas do not really encourage or anticipate new buildings 

and new development do they? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   That is correct. There is flood storage capacity and the 

maintenance of the flood flow pass.  The mechanism that I have put 5 

forward does not offend those policy issues at all. It recognises the 

limitations of the Council’s mapping. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see, all right.  Now, so it is not a matter of there being 

policy support but simply it does not offend the policy framework? 10 

 

MR THOMPSON:   It does not offend. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. Now, just in terms of the actual mechanics 

of certifying that a particular development or a new building does not 15 

adversely affect flood storage capacity or impede the flow of flood 

water, you rely on the mechanism, the certification mechanism and 

those criteria to provide that sort of guidance, is that correct? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now, you have produced your exhibit here 

and this is the hand drawn exhibit #D. 

 

 So, the essence of it is that you would certify what the design flood 25 

level is based on most recent, most up to date information. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So you find an area of high ground in an otherwise 30 

mapped FPMA? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And provided you do that then there is no requirement, 35 

for example, for freeboard or any other requirement to deal with the 

FMA minimum flood floor level? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   That is correct but, of course, because the flood ponding 

management areas are always a subset of the FMAs, the FMA 40 

provisions also apply. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   So your new building, because it is a new building, would 45 

have to also meet the minimum floor level certificate requirements. 
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  [4.55 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Would it? 

 5 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, it would.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   So the diagram exhibit #B shows the land that is cross-10 

hatched that will be the land by which the proposed ground level 

certificate would identify, but then you are proposing a building that 

would have to be designed in a way that also meets the existing and 

proposed requirements in the FMA for a minimum floor level. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right, because the cross-hatched area of land is never 

going to, well it may or may not exceed 400 millimetres in terms of 

providing free board. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   That is correct, it may or not, yes.  But it will be no more 20 

than 400 because of the only difference between the ponding and the 

FMA is the free board which, is 400 millimetres. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see, and you heard Mr Harrington’s evidence today 

about the circumstances where he believed you may be able to find 25 

land which could be certified, do you have any different information to 

rely upon or have you done an analysis of land which might be 

suitable? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   No, but I did note that Mr Harrington then went on to give 30 

quite a few examples where it could apply, and I would also comment 

that as mentioned as well as the limitations in the mapping you have 

also got to bear in mind that lawful filling can take place, so there has 

been a gap if you like between when the modelling that informed the 

proposed mapping was undertaken and to when a decision is made then 35 

if that can then take place.   

 

 In those areas where new ponding areas are proposed under as part of 

the Replacement District Plan, when new ponding areas are proposed 

they are not currently ponding areas then filling can take place up to 40 

half a metre in height.  That is quite a depth, and particularly around the 

margins which is alluded to in the evidence of Ruth Evans then that can 

make quite a difference to somebody who wants to put up a building, 

whether it be a farm building or whether it will be a dwelling. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Just so I am clear how is the filling taking place, is this 

under the requirements or the rules of the Operative District Plan? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, it depends whether the land is dressed by the first 

decision, decision six or whether it is not yet addressed by decision six. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, thank you, Mr Thompson, sorry to labour 

that, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Winchester, Ms Huria? 10 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 15 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I do have some questions thank you.  Just first of all the 20 

change to the FMA to do with the repair and replacement of existing 

buildings, I still cannot quite get my head around your understanding of 

how the rules would work in the Council’s version.   

 

 I just want to challenge your premise that you are making everything 25 

the same.  So in the Council’s rebuttal version there has been added 

into the ponding area and the high hazard area a permitted activity for 

the replacement and repair of buildings, subject to a couple of 

standards.  They do not increase the ground floor area and it is not 

located at a lower position than the position of the existing building. 30 

 

 Now as I think Mr Winchester said to you in, if we just look at the 

ponding area, I will just concentrate on the ponding area version at the 

moment, the purpose of the rules in the ponding areas to do with the 

flood storage, is that your understanding? 35 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Generally, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so am I right in imagining you have got an existing 

building, it takes up a certain amount of flood storage space at the 40 

moment and it is being replaced, and as long as it is not getting bigger 

or going lower it is not changing the flood storage in that area? 



 Page 160 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

  [5.00 pm] 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is that at least a valid policy basis for making that 5 

permitted provision? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  And you accept that that location that is a ponding 10 

area is also an FMA? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   It is, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the Council in this provision has chosen not to change the 15 

floor level rules.  So they are saying this replacement building, and do 

you agree that the replacement building in the ponding area would also 

have to comply with the floor level rules the way the Council has it 

written at the moment? 

 20 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And it is exactly the same with the high hazard ones? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   It does, yes. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so that is a policy choice the Council has made? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   And if one looks at it as the rationale for that, the rationale is 

“Well, when you are getting a new building, raise it up so you are 

actually reducing the level of assets in the city overall that are subject 

to damage from flooding”? 

 35 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So we are talking about a different policy, the policy is about 

reducing damage to property assets in the city as a result of flooding? 

 40 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And they have made a choice to say, “Well, you may be able 

to replace it in a ponding area because you are not increasing the 

reduction in ponding capacity but in order to meet the other policy raise 45 

it up”? 
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MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So when you say “We are just trying to make everything the 

same”, what is it that you are trying to make the same when you have 5 

got two different policy aspects? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Well, it is important for them to be the same because - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, what is it that you are trying to make the same?  The 10 

same as, what two things are you trying to make the same because they 

seem to be all the same to me at the moment? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Except that you would not be able to give effect to the 

permitted provisions for the ponding or the high flood hazard 15 

management areas because, without the equivalent provision also being 

independently in the FMA, then the FMA rules framework would step 

in and just say “It does not matter that you are permitted as a ponding 

area, it does not matter that you are permitted as a high flood hazard 

management area, you are a restricted discretionary activity under the 20 

FMA”.  So it makes those permitted rules they can never be applied. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, they could be if you raised the floor level surely?  Isn’t 

that the rule, you are permitted in the FMA if you have got your floor 

level, you are permitted in the ponding area if you do not increase the - 25 

- - 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, I would agree in that situation. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So don’t we just have two different rules for different 30 

purposes and you need to meet them both in order to be permitted? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Then I think the original intention of the rule for the high 

flood hazard management area and for the flood ponding management 

area can never be achieved because people, there would be disincentive 35 

and they will say “Well, I will just keep the building exactly at the 

lower land position it currently is”. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you are reading into the choice of making the replacement 

and repair of buildings in those two provisions for areas I mean, a 40 

rationale about that which is to encourage people to move buildings? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   I am and I guess my other comment would be in relation 

to the purpose of the FMA, which is to ensure that new buildings 

should be a sensible level so they do not flood, we are starting with an 45 

existing building and, yes, if any changes to it are deemed to be a new 
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building then, yes, it should be at that minimum floor level requirement 

for the FMA to be in accordance with the policy but that kind of aligns 

better with new buildings.   

 

 We are starting from an existing building position and if the costs of 5 

compliance are too high then people will just rely upon existing use 

rights and there is a policy that sits here that promotes mechanisms, 

methods that incentivise people to move away from existing use rights 

and that is the issue. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So if someone had a building that was just in the FMA, 

because this rule would and it is as the Council has it, I am just getting 

my head around this, and they want to move that building to 

somewhere slightly higher on their property. 

 15 

  [5.05 pm] 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   The same sized building, moving it to somewhere slightly 20 

higher.  At the moment in the FMA that building would also have to be 

raised. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   It would, yes. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   So by you suggesting this change to the FMA, whether it 

applies just in the FMA or in the ponding areas, it would be a change to 

the rules in the FMA in that it would allow buildings to be replaced or 

moved, even if it is a complete replacement and therefore a new 

building, without raising the floor levels. 30 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now what I am asking, is that a change to the stage 1 

decision? 35 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Well I guess my relief is made insofar as the rules 

proposed for the FMA for the zones that were not covered by the stage 

1 decision. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Well all the zones were covered by the stage 1 decision. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   I appreciate that but - - - 
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MS DAWSON:   They were.  All the zones were covered by the stage 1 – well 

all the zones that had FMAs in them.  The stage 1 FMAs are you 

talking about? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, sorry, maybe I misunderstood your initial question. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, what I am concerned about is that you are suggesting a 

new rule into the FMA rules that would apply throughout all FMAs and 

changes the status of, it would mean that some buildings that 

previously would have had to have raised floor levels or go through a 10 

consent would not have to do that. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I am asking you, is that changing some of the rules that 15 

were decided in the original decision? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, that is a fair point and the relief I have put forward I 

have only really been thinking in terms of where you have the multiple 

overlays, not just the FMA on its own.   20 

 

MS DAWSON:   But your rule does not just limit itself to (INDISTINCT 

2.12) 

 

MR THOMPSON:   It does not and that is a shortcoming of my relief that I 25 

have put forward.  Yes, the relief I have put forward is targeted, was 

intended to focus on ensuring that where you have two or more of the 

three flood hazard overlays that where it is permitted for two then it is 

not caught by the third, which is where you have just got the high flood 

management Area on its own, the FMA, yes, then I agree with your 30 

questions which is it may not be appropriate in that situation. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But then does that not take you back to what Mr Winchester 

asked you. If that is the case and you only apply this rule that allows 

not raising the floor levels in the multiple overlay areas, you are going 35 

to have rules in the multiple overlay areas that allow houses to be built 

at a lower floor level than if that same house was just in, the same 

property was only covered by the FMA or one overlay, would you not? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   I am sorry, can you run that past me again? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The position put to you was, you would be able to put into 

areas that were covered by multiple overlays a building at a lower level 

than you could do in one that was just covered by the FMA.  Is that 

right? 45 
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MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so in the multiple overlays and multiple hazards I 

suppose, you would be able to, there would be less requirement to raise 

your building up out of flood levels than in a flooding area that was just 5 

covered by the FMA? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, that is what I am saying. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, all right well I will leave it at that.  Now, sorry I also 10 

sympathise with Mr Winchester in relation to getting my head around 

the certification rule because it took me a long time to understand what 

you are asking for and I think my key was that I did not realise it was a 

ground level certification rule as opposed to a floor level certification 

rule, but it was like that, I understand that. 15 

 

 So can I just make sure, I am just going to tell you what I understand 

and I want you to whether I am right or wrong.  So new buildings or 

additions to buildings could get a ground level certificate where the 

minimum ground level actually exceeded what is mapped as the 20 

ponding area flood level? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that could be because, say, the natural ground level was 25 

not quite mapped accurately, or some permitted filling had been done 

to raise it in the meantime or enough filling could be done in a 

permitted manner to allow that floor ground level to be certified? 

 

  [5.10 pm] 30 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:   But otherwise any filling required to raise the ground level in 

order to get a ground level certificate would have to go through the 35 

consents requirements for filling in the FPMA.  I mean, some could get 

consent, and it is one of those rules there covering earthworks in the 

ponding areas? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the building itself would still need, unless it was a 

replacement building, would need to meet the minimum floor level- - - 

 

MR THOMPSON:   It would as well.   45 
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MS DAWSON:   - - - rules or get a certification, or go through a consent? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, that’s it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But if in your case; it was a replacement building and under 5 

your rules, your double rules, you get a ground level certificate by 

doing a bit of filling or finding a higher spot and there was already a 

house there and you demolished it and moved it up onto your mound, 

then it would not have to meet the floor level requirements? 

 10 

MR THOMPSON:   It would not, no, because it potentially- - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   But you say there is only a 400 millimetre difference anyway. 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, starting from the existing building situation, yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, thank you very much, I understand that now.  

That is all for me. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Thompson, just a couple of things, very simple Judge 20 

questions at this point, I am afraid.   

 

 So the issue in simple terms we are dealing with here, when we deal 

with this hazard is interception of land and water effectively, that is 

what we are dealing with at that interface; land and water? 25 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And when we look at the land component of that 

interface, your client’s land, land generally relatively flat but the 30 

potential for that land profile to change by effectively a lawful process 

raising the profile of the land.  That is one thing you are addressing, 

right? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if you look at the other side of the equation, the 

water, the foundation for your opinion is not independent of the 

Council’s evidence on water modelling and prediction, is it, you rely on 

that modelling evidence for your opinion? 40 

 

MR THOMPSON:   I do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you.  Any questions arising, Mr Winchester? 

45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [5.12 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I actually do, sir, with your leave.  Mr Thompson.  You 

were asked some questions of clarification by Ms Dawson, and you 

offered the opinion that what you are trying to achieve is preventing 5 

people from relying on existing use rights and actually encouraging 

them to raise their buildings, particularly in flood ponding management 

areas.  That was your evidence? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Yes, and equally for the high flood. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And just thinking about the compliance costs that 

concern you, do you have any evidence as to what the additional 

compliance cost would be of someone having to shift or rebuild their 

dwelling and building the extra level to comply with the FMA 15 

requirements? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   No, I do not have evidence, but a motivator could be if 

they wanted to subdivide land and the existing position of the building 

straddles a boundary that they want to create, then that might make it 20 

economic.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you not think that if you were going to the effort of 

rebuilding or moving a dwelling on this affected land, that you would 

want to make sure that you were not putting in a lot of money just to 25 

relocate a dwelling when your feet might get wet again.  Is that not a 

more logical way of approaching it? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   This is for buildings, so yes, cover agricultural buildings. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   And have you seen the evidence or read the evidence 

form Stage 1, the Natural Hazards hearing, from the insurance 

companies about the way they approach rebuilds and repairs of existing 

dwellings? 

 35 

MR THOMPSON:   No, I have not. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising in re-examination, Mr Hughes-40 

Johnson. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.14 pm] 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, thanks very much, Mr Thompson, you are free 

to go. 

 

 Now Mr Jordan, you have been very patient today, so for one reason or 

rather we could not help but be about an hour late throughout the 5 

course of most of the day, so I wonder if you could come forward to the 

microphone, are you ready to go now. 

 

  [5.15 pm] 

 10 

 Mr Lewis, just on your position too, if counsel do not mind the Panel 

does not mind sitting late.  What is your position? 

 

MR LEWIS:   I am fine, I do not mind. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  Any difficulties from any other counsel that 

have an interest in this? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir. 

 20 

MR RANDAL:  Perhaps I might take this opportunity to raise minor 

housekeeping point, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 25 

MR RANDAL:   And that is that at some point I was going to propose with 

your leave, sir, to leave the Crown’s case in the hands of Ms Bazalo 

and get a flight. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine. 30 

 

MR RANDAL:   Just with a related point was just to rely on the intended 

process at the end of Friday as to closings? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I think for counsel to be able to assist us further on 35 

contested issues and principles relating to that, even orally, before we 

finish on Friday, I think that would be helpful.  But I am in counsel’s 

hands if their preference would be to do that by way of a staged 

approach to closings.  In any event it will be a slightly ajar closing 

because we will adjourn at that point and will consider whether or not 40 

by Minute we ask parties to assist us further as has been our practice 

more recently in regard to technical drafting issues. 

 

 So in other words, on points of principle, bearing in mind the Crown’s 

points are relatively confined, those counsel that want to particularly 45 

address us to get our heads around any particular points will be given 
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licence to do that, but it will not preclude any ability to do it in writing, 

and I will ask Mr Winchester to help with a timetable on that. 

 

MR RANDAL:   I am very grateful for that indication, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So primarily probably closings in writing for 

those that prefer to do that but if anyone wants to make any final points 

orally to us before we head off we will try to allow for that as well. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir, and that being the case, with your leave I 10 

might slip out a little bit early this evening. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Sir, I wonder if before this witness is called if I 

could just confirm that there will be advice given as to closing 20 

submissions as to the timing et cetera of it.  I did not quite follow the 

discussion. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so effectively - - - 

 25 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Possibly in the context of as you said, a direction 

that the Panel want certain specific matters dealt with.  I just wondered 

about the timing of that, that was all. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes.  What we have been doing more recently, 30 

Mr Hughes-Johnson, is we adjourn the proceedings, we ask counsel for 

the Council to propose by way of a memorandum a timetable for 

closings. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, I have seen them, sir, yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If need be later on we can revisit that if issues arise that 

we wish to address in a Minute, and the only rider to that is it occurs to 

me there are one or two points and if parties felt an urge to get 

something in our ear before they headed off, we would try to 40 

accommodate that but probably primarily it is going to be a timetabled 

closing. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   From parties, and I think it is probably generally the 

parties’ preference now. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you.  Sir, I wonder if I could be excused, I 

do not think I am involved in any of the rest of the following. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you very much, Mr Hughes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, no, thank you very much.  Now, Mr Jordan, we 

just need to get your statement in front of us. 
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<CHRISTIAN JORDAN, sworn [5.18 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, while we are a bit disorganised in getting to our 

tabbed bits we have read your evidence so the opportunity now as you 

are well familiar with is, bearing in mind the late hour, to emphasise 

the main points we should get into our heads before you are open to 

cross examination questions. 5 

 

MR JORDAN:   Okay, thank you.  The first point I think in my evidence was a 

slight issue on the section 72 notice that said that the FMA would 

imply that there would be a section 72 notice on the properties but that 

does not apply to all properties, it would only be ones with a higher 10 

level of hazard, so I just acknowledge that slight error in my evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR JORDAN:   My main point was really around the Stage 1 rules that are 15 

now applying to these Stage 3 zones and there are many hundreds of 

submissions, I note, that were made regarding these issues although 

very few people have actually come to this point to submit to the Panel.   

 

 But the main point, the restriction on filling; essentially 10 cubic metres 20 

per site is just one centimetre of filling for a quarter acre site.  For a 

500 square metre site it is two centimetres filling, so virtually zero, it is 

a very, very small amount.   

 

 And the issue is that a lot of these areas where you have defined the 25 

flood management areas are very flat and I gave the example of a 

property we have got down Worcester Street where the neighbours are 

actually lower and I think in the rebuttal evidence of Iris Brookland on 

page 4 she has got the aerial view of that and for instance the 

neighbour’s site is shown as higher but it was because there was a 30 

concrete slab there of a building that collapsed in the earthquake and 

has since been demolished and is now significantly lower – it is not in 

the flood management area but it is actually lower than our property. 

 

  [5.20 pm] 35 

 

 So, on these boundaries there is a lot of fluctuation and there is no 

restriction on the neighbour filling, we have got a restriction on filling 

on ours.   

 40 

 So, one of the main points was that you have got a 400 millimetre 

freeboard around the periphery of this flood management area.  There 

is actually going to be no flooding in a 200 year event by the Council’s 

modelling.   

 45 
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 So, you are preventing filling an area where that filling is not going to 

do anything.  I mean, because it is not even going to flood in a 200 year 

event it is not going to displace any water from flooding because it 

would never reach that because we are only talking freeboard above 

that modelled level so it is not actually achieving anything so, I mean, 5 

this is part of the issue with the rule so for having prevention of filling. 

 

 If water was actually detained in these areas and if it was a requirement 

to detain water, you would actually have more significant benefit for 

the city for flooding but you have got areas you are preventing filling 10 

which is actually going to achieve no purpose because the flood would 

never actually reach that level anyway. 

 

 So, that is my main concern, that it has not actually been that well 

thought out, that how you are actually determining what – I mean, the 15 

main rule in the flood management area is the prevention of filling and 

it is not actually going to do much to those areas around the margins 

and it is going to make it very difficult in some areas to develop things 

and it is just overly restrictive and onerous, was my view. 

 20 

 And another point I make on page 6 in my submission.  I have got a 

photo there of a site that is actually nowhere near a flood management 

area.  It is a property that was taken 20 years ago but it has now been 

built on and filled up and that was flooding 300 millimetres every year.  

I mean, that was retaining quite a lot of water.  It is not in a flood 25 

management area.  I know of plenty of areas like this that are not flood 

management areas that still flood.  Because they are localised they are 

contained.  Council has got no restriction on you filling that and 

displacing all that water straight into the storm water system. 

  30 

 So, there are rules to prevent filling in just in flood management areas 

do not address all the problems and there is no real benefit except to, 

well, it seems to be the lower parts of the flood management area will 

be worse off by not being able to fill theirs to prevent flooding but 

people around the periphery will not see any real benefit either. 35 

 

 The other point I had was high flood hazard management areas and this 

is, although I do not own any properties in these areas, the current rule 

makes it non-complying to build a new building so essentially if you 

own a vacant site or happen to own a vacant site today in a high flood 40 

hazard management area, if this rule passes as it is, you will not be 

allowed to build on it. 

 

 So, if it is a residential site and you do not own the neighbouring 

properties it has zero value.  It has got absolutely no value so if your 45 

property today or before the stage 1 decision was made you were able 
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to raise it and build a house on it.  As of this decision being made, your 

property could have been worth a $100,000 is essentially worth zero 

and there has been no consideration of that and it does not seem 

particularly fair. 

 5 

 The restriction is that you were allowed to replace an existing house.  

The same problem would apply for people that have larger sections 

where it had a higher value because it was a larger, potentially sub-

dividable section and they would again, have a large loss in value 

because of this high flood measurement rule. 10 

 

 So, most of these areas are actually along the margin to the rivers and I 

give the example there of a property I have got further along the 

Heathcote River and I filled a site there.  I think it is on page 16 of my 

evidence, I have just got a photo there and I filled that site there and it 15 

did not really any impact on the neighbouring property in terms of 

flooding or anything like that because it is beyond the 50 year flood 

level but it has been raised about 800 mls, I think it is, 900 mls.   

 

 But essentially, you are preventing people from utilising their land and 20 

removing a lot of value from those properties and I am sure there are 

plenty of owners that are completely unaware of these provisions being 

made so I am just bringing a submission in because I saw that as being 

quite unfair to these potential – especially vacant landowners in these 

areas.  It is essentially a red zoning without giving any compensation so 25 

I note there at the end of my evidence just one issue with that property 

was the council changed the rule in the last plan review in 1995 where 

they took away the roading designation which under the RMA allowed 

them to take half the land for free which they would not have been able 

to do if they changed that designation. 30 

 

  [5.25 pm] 

 

 I am slightly sceptical of the council making rules so they have got an 

advantage by getting rid of that rule to give the land for free under the 35 

Esplanade Reserve Requirements.  I am sceptical for them putting 

restrictive rules on where it is non-complying to build so they can 

potentially acquire these lands at a hugely discounted price and take 

away the value from the owner. 

 40 

 They were the main points so the first ones are that really are the rules 

which were designed in stage one but I did not submit on that at that 

time, but they are not exactly that productive especially when you 

consider the areas around the margins and that there are probably better 

ways to look at flood mitigation such as detaining water on site whether 45 

that is in a low lying lawn or something. 
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 If you build a house in the area you can actually detain some water on 

site.  With the restriction on filling there is actually nothing preventing 

you from putting all the water straight into the storm water system so as 

soon as it rains you could have your site completely paved and all the 5 

water goes into the storm water system so there is actually no great 

benefit to preventing filling even though it might be a lower level but 

all that is doing is preventing when there is a big flood that the flooding 

from spreading out into other areas. 

 10 

 Personally I cannot see the logic in this but that is the point I was trying 

to make; that perhaps the rules are not the best solutions for solving 

flood issues.  And then there is also this issue with the high flood 

management area where some people are going to be severely impacted 

in loss of value. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So very quickly just before questions so I have got clarity 

on the first matter you highlighted in regard to filling your preference is 

stated at the top of page 7 for a different approach, it is unreasonable to 

allow 10 - - -  20 

 

MR JORDAN:   Well 10 metres is essentially nothing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What is your suggestion on that? 

 25 

MR JORDAN:   Mine was at least make it 10 metres per 100 square metres of 

land area so if someone has got a quarter acre site they can at least put 

in a modest amount of filling in there.  If someone has got a small site 

it would essentially equate to 10 centimetres of filling. 

 30 

 It was to make it a bit fairer, I mean it is a hard one to judge where you 

are restricted to the level of filling and personally - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I do not want to go over the merits of it because you 

have explained that, but just to understand relief. 35 

 

MR JORDAN:   That was one suggestion. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Secondly in regard to the high flood hazard management 

areas activity classification as non-complying; can you clarify what 40 

activity classification you would propose instead? 

 

MR JORDAN:   On a vacant site it should be permitted to build a building and 

also the existing footprint.  I mean it might be possible to relocate if 

someone has an earthquake damaged property, it might be better to 45 
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rebuild at the back of the site which is still in the high flood 

management and it might be slightly higher. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, now just to go through the formalities I should 

have started with and your full name is Christian Paul Jordan as you 5 

have said before.  You have the experience that you describe in your 

evidence in your introduction, although you are obviously speaking to 

your submission and you confirm your evidence to be true and correct 

including the summary that you have just given? 

 10 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, just that one variation on the section 72 notice noted. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, thanks very much.  Now 

Mr Winchester? 

 15 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [5.29 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Evening Mr Jordan, now just to 

confirm you have got no surveying qualifications or experience? 

 20 

MR JORDAN:   I did study engineering but I am not a qualified engineer. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay, and so no qualifications in hydrology either? 

 

MR JORDAN:   No. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, and did you seek expert advice from either of those 

disciplines when you prepared this statement? 

 

MR JORDAN:   No. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, so these are your views as a property owner 

and property and developer? 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, property owner. 35 

 

  [5.30 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now, just dealing first of all with the issue of FMA and 

high flood hazard management area boundaries where you had some 40 

concerns about the location of boundaries, have you read 

Ms Brookland’s evidence? 

 

MR JORDAN:   I have read her evidence and the rebuttal, yes. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, so you are aware that the Council has gone through 

a smoothing process to - - - 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - more accurately identify those areas? 

 

MR JORDAN:   Which solved some of the issues on ones that were clearly had 

problems. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, yes, all right.   

 

 And just in terms of high flood hazard management areas, you have 

made the suggestion that the Council is adopting a highly regulatory 

approach to drive down the value of the land so it can purchase it, is 15 

that - - - 

 

MR JORDAN:   Well, it will drive down the value of land. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right. 20 

 

MR JORDAN:   Whether it is to purchase it they don’t really need to purchase 

it if they have prevented someone building on it. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right. 25 

 

MR JORDAN:   But they get to use the land for flood storage potentially 

because they have got those restrictions. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And are you aware of the regional policy statement 30 

requirements for management of high flood hazard management areas 

that were in the - - - 

 

MR JORDAN:   No, I have not read those things. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, you won’t be aware then that the Minister for 

Earthquake Recovery directed amendments to the RPS to require 

management of such areas and that this is what the district plan is 

doing? 

 40 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, but I mean potentially someone could raise their floor 

level, under the previous rule someone could have, up to the time this 

decision is made someone could raise their ground level like I had done 

on that property there to take it out of that high flood hazard 

management area. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now, just on the issue of freeboard, it is 

really just a question of clarification, you say at 4.2.1 of your evidence 

in terms of minimum floor levels, there is no question that minimum 

floor levels should be imposed and you have no objection to the criteria 

given. 5 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   The criteria given expressly include freeboard? 

 10 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   400 millimetres? 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   But later in your evidence you have an issue with 

freeboard; is that the way it has been used as an input on the mapping? 

 

MR JORDAN:   Well, it is because you have taken the freeboard will give, the 20 

flood is not actually going – those areas that include that 250 mil of 

freeboard for the FMA are going to include areas that wouldn’t flood in 

your modelling.  Because the FMA then puts restrictions on filling it, 

doesn’t really achieve anything because your modelling shows that area 

is not going to be flooding. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And Mr Harrington’s evidence is that there is a range of 

factors that have been taken into account from an engineering and 

hydrological perspective as to why that freeboard has been included? 

 30 

MR JORDAN:   I understand why that is there and my issue is more over the 

entire FMA anyway, that filling is very restrictive but it just, at the 

borders there it illustrates the point that you have got some areas you 

are going to be restricting filling whereas a neighbour might not and 

they are at exactly the same level or potentially even lower because of 35 

the variations in the LIDAR survey. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, all right.   I think we have dealt with hazard 

notices, you are comfortable on that? 

 40 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, no - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   The risk is not as severe as you thought? 

 

MR JORDAN:   It is not, it does - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, hang on a minute; questions and then answers, all 

right. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So you now understand that the sort of risk you were 

talking about in terms of hazard notices under the Building Act is not 5 

as high as you had previously thought? 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, I think that it gives an inference for the flood 

management area would, people would be concerned, might be 

concerned that they could have flood, that a section 72 notice is put on 10 

their properties but I am aware that that is not what determines what 

will put a section 72 notice on a building. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And just your position on filling within 

FMAs, does that extend to filling within high flood hazard management 15 

areas or just the standard FMAs? 

 

MR JORDAN:   I hadn’t actually gone that far, no, at the moment most of the 

high flood management areas are actually within the river boundaries 

30 metre setbacks where there are already restrictions on filling so only 20 

a small proportion of those would fall outside those areas.   

 

  [5.35 pm] 

 

 Obviously if someone has got an existing house there I think it would 25 

be quite legitimate to be able to raise the ground level around the house 

to make it usable.  I mean at the moment you aren’t going to allow 

people to raise their floor levels.  I mean if they can mitigate their 

hazard by raising the floor levels it seemed a sensible thing to do rather 

than restricting them, but letting the house stay there, but restricting 30 

them to being having the ground outside the house at a lower level.  

And driveways and things, as well. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And have you thought about the 

consequences for overall flood management and impacts on third 35 

parties properties if the sort of regime that you are proposing was 

adopted? 

 

MR JORDAN:   Yes, well there are obviously issues with raising floor levels 

on very low lying areas, but the amount of water that is coming into the 40 

catchment from – if you consider areas very close to flood management 

areas and very close to the high flood management areas buildings, for 

instance 100 metres, roundabout 100 metres away from one of the high 

flood management areas, it is like there was a quarter acre of vacant 

land that is now completely built on, fully sealed, fully buildings.   45 
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 It is much higher, all that water discharges straight into that area.  That 

is going to have a much bigger impact that the other filling.  There is no 

consideration of those rules for that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay.  And just a question of clarification, you have got 5 

a diagram at 4.3.2, page 5 of your evidence, and it is a hypothetical 

situation.  Does the development on the left, the three unit development 

assume that that entire property is sealed? 

 

MR JORDAN:   No, it does not, but that just assumes, just utilising the floor 10 

area and raising the, that is actually, I am talking about volume of water 

displaced, not actually the amount going into any catchment.  So we are 

talking just that floor area being raised.  I think it was 225 cubic metres 

of water displaced versus 12 cubic metres, I mean it is 20 times the 

amount. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you Mr Jordan, thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 20 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thanks Mr Jordan. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:    

Mr Jordan, just finally, just on the point you make around natural justice in 

your evidence, I hope I do not go away with the impression that there is 

a problem there in process.  Bearing in mind the Panel considers now 

the provisions in this Stage 3 with an open mind on the basis of what 35 

we receive.   

 

 And on the substantive points people want to make, as you will know 

from earlier engagement. 

 40 

MR JORDAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We all for evidence to be called and so forth.  I just 

thought I would raise that with you given that comment in regard to 

process and our concern to ensure - - - 45 
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MR JORDAN:   I did not mean any disrespect or anything like that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I know, I understand that.  It is not really from that 

point of view that I am raising it with you, but in terms of your anxiety 

about it. 5 

 

MR JORDAN:   No, it was more the fact that perhaps if such an extensive area 

had been notified originally then those rules could have been 

considered at the same time.  I think there is about double the amount, I 

have not actually worked out how much the area, I think the flood 10 

management area has pretty much doubled in Stage 3. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR JORDAN:   And I noted that there were many hundreds of submissions on 15 

that list, and although most of those were probably people just writing 

in when neighbours sort of got together and things, but there obviously 

must have been some concern amongst some areas that people were not 

getting a say, perhaps. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, it is a point noted and certainly the Panel appreciates 

your engagement in these processes as well, so I do not have any 

questions for you, but we will obviously have to consider what you 

have raised here, and in terms of all the other matters that relate to that, 

thank you very much.   25 

 

MR JORDAN:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And thank you for waiting for so long.   

 30 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.39 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Lewis, I will just say we are on the cusp of 

being okay in terms of getting through on the estimated time limit of 25 

minutes, and I say that because while I thought – well it is quite late to 35 

sit at this point, and as is quite understandable one Panel member has a 

definite commitment, which means that they really have to be out of 

here no later than 6.10 pm, preferably earlier.   

 

 So we will see how we go.  And I realise you have been very patient, 40 

but I just thought I would sound that to you in case we go to that point 

of no return, where we will have to adjourn for tomorrow. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, 3954. 
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<WARREN LEWIS, sworn [5.40 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Your full name is Warren Richard Lewis, you hold the 

office of President of Cashmere Fields and you are representing that 

organisation who own 10 properties in the Henderson Basin and the 

Cashmere rural flood plain area.  You are a Director of Lewis & 

Barrow.  You hold the qualifications you express 1.2.  You have had 5 

previous involvement in this process.  You do not wish to express this 

as evidence in accordance with a code of conduct as is understood.  Are 

there any corrections you wish to make to your evidence? 

 

MR LEWIS:   No, oh, there is one correction.  I have pointed out that page 6 I 10 

pointed out that flood levels have risen over the last 22 years.  I wrote 

that last year, so it should be 23 years – up near the top. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, and my summary of your position and 

credentials as expressed before is true and correct? 15 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And subject to that correction do you confirm this 

evidence to be true and correct? 20 

 

MR LEWIS:   I do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  Now please answer any questions.  

Mr Winchester.   25 

 

MR LEWIS:   I was just going to give - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The summary, sorry.  I wonder if you could give that a 

quick flick.  You will see my Freudian slip in going straight to 30 

Mr Winchester. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you.  The main thing in my evidence is that the biggest 

mystery to me is how the flood levels modelled by the City Council 

could rise by one metre since 1993.  And in fact that increases the 35 

storage in the Henderson Basin and the Cashmere Flood Plain by a 

factor of three and I would very much doubt that the reasons 

Mr Harrison has given could provide such a major increase, 

particularly when there have been so many different modellers, 

including the Ministry of Works who did the first one. 40 

 

 Past floods, the biggest I have ever seen and I have watched over it for 

a long time, and talking to previous owners and even the Council’s 

records, I cannot find a flood level above 18.3 and yet we are talking 

19.3 now.  And that is just huge from my perspective when you look at 45 
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something that has got a gradient of one in 1000, that means there is 

1000 metres all the way round that basin that has been increased. 

 

 The other one is that if you have a series of land that drops 100 

millimetres and you are well clear of tidal levels then the whole terrain 5 

drops.  The water levels drop, the bed level drops, the flood level drops.  

So when you are relating that to a datum which does not drop, that is 

related to sea level.  When everything else drops I would have thought 

the flood level would have dropped, not risen.  And Mr Harrison in his 

evidence has finally conceded that point, in his rebuttal evidence I think 10 

it is. 

 

 The Christchurch City Council needs to correlate their actual historical 

flood levels and flows to modelled flood levels and flows.  The 

modelling since 1998 does not do that.  Some of the modelling attempts 15 

to do that but misses by a factor of two.   

 

 The high flood hazard management restrictions are not required for the 

Henderson Basin or the Cashmere rural flood plain or for that matter, 

any other rural areas, as there are sufficient restrictions in the ponding 20 

area rules themselves.  So when you read through the ponding area 

rules and you read through the HM rules, there is very little difference 

between the two of them, except when it comes to residential properties 

and then there is a significant meaning behind those high hazard rules. 

 25 

 It is completely superfluous for rural areas and I cannot see how there 

can be a high hazard area in Cashmere Fields land, the likes of 

Henderson Basin. 

 

  [5.45 pm] 30 

 

 The land slopes at such a low slope but after getting through the fences 

you would have to walk at least 400 metres into the water slowly 

getting deeper, and deeper and deeper until you finally reach a point 

that is a metre deep. 35 

 

 Now there are easier ways of putting yourself in hazard than doing that.  

You could go and catch a bus to Brighton Beach and walk into the sea, 

you would not have to wait for a flood and if that is a hazard I fail to 

see that it is a high hazard. 40 

 

 The last point is that reading through the rebuttal portion of the plan it 

is apparent that new buildings will require a non-complying consent for 

both the natural flooding areas, natural ponding management areas and 

the high hazard areas. 45 
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 This prevents intensive farming, it prevents sheds, hay barns, shade 

houses, green houses etcetera and I fail to see how that is an advantage 

to this hearing or to this district scheme that farming should be 

restricted so much. 

 5 

 Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Lewis, Mr Winchester? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [5.46 pm] 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I’ll be quick, sir.  You have on several occasions, 

Mr Lewis, criticised the council’s modelling that is being presented to 

the Panel that is correct is it not? 

 15 

MR LEWIS:   Correct, sir, sorry I did not get the first part of the question. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   On several occasions you have criticised the Council’s 

flood hazard modelling that has been presented to the Panel have you 

not? 20 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and have you undertaken your own modelling, 

alternative modelling that you have presented to the Panel on any 25 

occasion? 

 

MR LEWIS:   Not to this Panel, but I have at other hearings. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, now I want to turn to your paragraph 10.1 30 

and you talk about excavation and filling there and your suggestion is 

that 200 millimetres of excavation and filling should be permitted now 

did you attend expert conferencing, Mr Harrington? 

 

MR LEWIS:   I did, yes. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and you were also joined in terms of the clients 

you represent by Mr Edwards were you not? 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is right. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It was agreed at that expert conferencing was it not that 

restricted discretionary activity for earthworks to create storm water 

detention would be appropriate that was what was agreed was it not? 

 45 

MR LEWIS:   That is correct. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   You now have got a different view? 

 

MR LEWIS:   Well it is pretty much given effect to what I have asked for 

there. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Is it, okay, thank you.  Now back to your paragraph 8.6 

you made a statement at the end of the paragraph that appears to some 

owners that the city council’s motive is to drive them off the land so 

that council can buy up land and use the Henderson’s Basin more 10 

extensively for floor mitigation, is that your view as well? 

 

MR LEWIS:   No, I have seen things that are not good but, I do not think the 

overall motive is that. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay, and you say “what motive the Christchurch City 

Council has we do not know” but you have heard Mr Christensen’s 

evidence this afternoon? 

 

MR LEWIS:   Yes, I did. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   He has talked very clearly about what the council’s 

motive is? 

 

MR LEWIS:   Yes. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Has he not? 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is right. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Which is to restore flood levels to pre-earthquake 

levels? 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is correct. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and have you got any reason to doubt that 

intention? 

 

MR LEWIS:   Yes. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Are those reasons recorded in a council policy or a 

council document anywhere? 
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  [5.50pm] 

 

MR LEWIS:   No, just in the council’s actions, they started the flood mitigation 

in the south west part of the Henderson Basin.  They destroyed the 

uphill upstream retention and they only got halfway through providing 5 

the replacement retention and they ran out of money, and that has been 

the situation for the last four years. 

 

MR WINCHESTER: All right, so I take it you are not alleging bad faith on the 

part of the Council? 10 

 

MR LEWIS:   No, I understand that they have got money set aside in their 

10 year plan.  It is just that there is that delay which is putting 

Christchurch at risk in the meantime.  Well, Heathcote people at risk. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  High flood hazard management areas, your 

suggestion is that there should be no overlay whatsoever over 

Henderson Basin for this type of hazard? 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is correct because those areas are all contained within the 20 

ponding areas. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes, and you understand, do you not, that in terms of the 

mapping that is directed by the RPS as to what the requirements for 

mapping high flood hazard management area? 25 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes and you are not saying that what the Council has 

done does not reflect the requirements of the RPS? 30 

 

MR LEWIS:   No but what I am trying to point out is that the City Plan could 

be streamlined and made simpler for people to understand. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you, Mr Lewis.  Thank you, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I do have a few questions.  So, Mr Lewis, the area 

that you are talking about is – I am at a bit of a disadvantage because I 

do not know Christchurch as well as most of the people here – but the 45 

area that you are talking about is rural land? 



 Page 187 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is correct. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   It is a high flood hazard management area as 

proposed at the moment? 5 

 

MR LEWIS:   Portions of it are, yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Portions of it are.  The rest is flood management area 

or flood ponding area? 10 

 

MR LEWIS:  It is a mix of all those areas.   There are some areas that are not – 

some of our owners have land that is not affected by any of these.  

Some have some that are just affected with the flood management 

areas, some by the ponding areas, some by the whole three. 15 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you, so I mean, I think your paragraph 3.4 you 

said that the RL is vastly different from previous flood levels and in 

your summary you mentioned an RL of 19.3, is that the boundary of 

which zone? 20 

 

MR LEWIS:   The 19.3.3 is the boundary of the high flood hazard zone. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Are these areas significantly affected by sea level 

changes? 25 

 

MR LEWIS:   Not at all. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Not at all. 

 30 

MR LEWIS:   Not unless you get about – if you get four to five metres’ rise 

then we would be affected. The backwater would extend to our 

property. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, so the RL must increase the area of the flood 35 

plain and the high flood hazard management area? 

 

MR LEWIS:   By the RL I am meaning that that is related to sea level so the 

sea level does not change, but what has happened is the land has gone 

down, sea level stayed where it is, or sea level is down there, sorry, the 40 

land is up here.   

 

 The land has gone down like that.  Down below Barrington Park is 

affected by flood tide, the other area is not and when you get that whole 

terrain drop then it becomes closer to the Dayton. 45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, I think I understand that.  I have probably asked 

that question poorly.   

 

 If you use an RL of 19.3 versus 18.6 which was your previous highest 

level then obviously it increases the area that that flood level 5 

encompasses. 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is right.  It increases the area and the depth. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   And the depth, and in 9.1 of your submission you 10 

talked about this one in 400 slope in the land.  So are you saying that at 

the fringe of the high flood hazard management area there are many 

examples of where the flood water runs from zero to a greater depth 

based on that one in 400 slope? 

 15 

  [5.55 pm] 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is right.  Around most of our owners land there are areas 

there that just will not flood even with those extreme floods.  So they 

are right on the boundary, they are on the edge of the - - -  20 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   They are sloping into that flood area? 

 

MR LEWIS:   And then they slope back down in.  Most of it is one in 1000, it 

is not a lot that are one in 400. 25 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So in the previous flooding did that result in high 

velocities in the water or is it just a fact that it - - -  

 

MR LEWIS:   No. 30 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   - - - was it certain areas it has? 

 

MR LEWIS:   Pretty much, well there is just no velocity at all, unless you go 

over to the streams themselves, you know, our members land is 35 

bisected by timber drains, concrete drains the City Council maintain, 

and these flow all the time at fairly low flows, but in a flood situation 

they would flow quite rapidly.   

 

 But you go two or three metres from them and it is just like a lake. 40 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you, no more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Just a brief question.  Because this is rural land, and we are 

putting the whole mapping thing to one side for a minute, are you 

saying that there are activities that should be able to be undertaken in a 

rural zone that may well be floodable or be a ponding area, that are not 

a serious risk to life or injury, that should not be controlled in this area 5 

as though it was in an urban area? 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is correct.  Our members have got hay barns and sheds and 

shade cloths that are in the ponding areas and they are basically using 

the grounds as the floor, and if the ground ever floods well, so be it.  10 

And even in a high rain fall the water falls off the sides, goes in 

underneath and this time of the year it is pretty beneficial. 

 

 In the middle of winter that sort of land drains reasonably well in any 

case so it is not a problem.  In fact all our members land you can drive 15 

a vehicle on in mid-winter, across the whole lot.  You do not need to 

four wheel drive even. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And do the ponding waters, when they do pond, and whether 

it is Henderson’s or Cashmere ponding areas, do they build up 20 

gradually?  I mean in terms of whether or not it is a risk to someone’s 

life? 

 

MR LEWIS:   It takes about 30 hours to fill up. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it is not a matter of suddenly trying to escape like you 

might if you are in house and it happened over night near a river for 

example? 

 

MR LEWIS:   Yes, well the time of concentration is 30 hours and that is what 30 

the Council use for modelling. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So for many of your rural activities that the risks, even where 

there is flooding, but you are saying are different than they would be 

for someone on a smaller residential section or a commercial section in 35 

the town itself, in the city itself? 

 

MR LEWIS:   The risks we have are more related to if a cow’s down calving 

and there’s a flood coming, getting her onto high ground, you know, 

we have got far more risk from stock than we would ever have from 40 

flooding. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the stock issues are not covered by the rules, are they? 

 

MR LEWIS:   No. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   No, all right, thank you very much for that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lewis, finally on that matter, actually Ms Dawson 

anticipated this area of interest to me as well, in terms of the summary, 

the comments you made on this rural activity.  Prefacing my question 5 

to you shortly with a couple of observations, and one is that we have 

been discussing the actual requirements of the Regional Policy 

Statements directions, you would have heard that earlier today.  And 

the extent at which they give us some flexibility or do not.  So there is 

some element of that.   10 

 

 The thing I have to say that was prompting my thinking on it was the 

list of permitted activities.  At the moment it appears to me to 

contemplate farming will be going on and yet the permitted activities 

are relatively confined in terms of the nature of the activity that is 15 

contemplated. 

 

  [6.00 pm] 

 

 So my question is this, in terms of your engagement with your other 20 

members, if I was to task you with giving us a list of farming type 

activities that do not appear in the current permitted activity list and 

that do not give rise to a risk to human life, would you be able to do 

that for us relatively quickly? 

 25 

MR LEWIS:   We could.  The list of exemptions that you have got there at the 

moment was given in variation 48 Hearing and we would just ask the 

Council to include that with our conferencing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Mr Winchester - - - 30 

 

MR LEWIS:   They left out the building bits though. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, they left out the building? 

 35 

MR LEWIS:   The buildings, the likes of shade cloths, greenhouses and things 

like that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, those types of structures and buildings, 

Mr Winchester, what I have in mind is I think it is important for us to 40 

explore whether in fact this space is over the top or properly balanced 

in its coverage.  I would like to at least know for Mr Lewis and his 

members where they see these things as gaps, and I think it might be 

useful to have that in as a supplementary statement.  Do you take issue 

with that, how do you see it? 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   No, not all, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   In terms of that question of risk and level of regulation 5 

it is plainly a live issue. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right. When do you think you could do that, Mr Lewis? 

 

MR LEWIS:   I could do that within a week.  The only problem with that is 10 

with farming things change and there are new varieties and new 

species. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MR LEWIS:   And the world economy might fall down with dairying but - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we are just (INDISTINCT 2.00) of time, sorry, 

I have to be aware of time here. 

 20 

MR LEWIS:   - - - and there will be new innovative things. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, sorry, I will come to the directives in a minute.  Yes.  

Mr Winchester you might want to note that, to think about that.  Well if 

you say you will need a week – sorry Mr Winchester, it is late – there 25 

will be something we will discuss further with you on that to sort of get 

that clear in the drafting, but I think it would be useful for you to 

supplement your evidence with a list of those practical permitted 

activities that seem to be missed out for rural activities, with the rider 

that I mentioned about human life, safety, being something very 30 

important obviously in terms of the policy directions. 

 

 So if you could do that you say you need a week, it is a bit longer than I 

would have liked because you may have to be recalled.  Are you able to 

do it by Friday? 35 

 

MR LEWIS:   I was hoping to have the weekend to get around some of these 

people. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well do you want to confer with your members overnight 40 

and see what is possible. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if at all possible, and I will make the direction now, 45 

you can come and ask me to revisit it if need be if you do not have the 
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time, but I will make a direction that you file that supplementary 

evidence just as a list of proposed permitted activities of a rural nature 

of the kind described, in a format that can be as brief as it needs to be 

for the purposes of a list of permitted activities that we will consider as 

part of the mix, and if you could do that please by midday on Friday.  I 5 

will make that direction now. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, any questions arising, Mr Winchester? 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well that does not indicate that the Panel has 

made up its mind at all. It is just that we want to make sure we have the 15 

best information about the different choices people are putting to us. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much.  You are free to go. 20 

 

 Thank you for your patience everyone.  We now have to depart with 

haste. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [6.03 pm] 25 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 6.04 PM UNTIL 

THURSDAY 25 FEBRUARY 2016 


